
CALCUTTA.

SUMMARY OF A F F A I R S ,

1
 FOREIGN DEPARTMENT,

1818 to 1835. Y-

NipaP was originally tlie name applied to the 
great valley situated in the hills, which form the conquest, 
northern boundary of Tirhoot and Sarun. Prior to 
the Glioorkha conquest in 1768, the people were

t known as Newars. They were a so-called aboriginal 
race; Mongolian in their physical characteristics;

Buddhist or Brahmanical in their religion. They 
were peaceful, industrious and unwarlike. They 

I cultivated the valley in a very superior stylo to what 
I was to be seen in the Gangetic provinces. They were 

traders, workers in gold and silver, and artisans in 
other ways; equal, if not superior, to the Hindus in 
everything except weaving. The Newar Rajas 
were all Hindus, and claimed to be descendants of 
the Solar race.

The early relations of the English with the Eariv com- 
people of Nipal were merely commercial. British Sms! t U

1 Dr. Campbell’s Narrai’ve of Political Relations, Proceedings Nos.
40-50 A,, 28rd January 1835.
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subjects of Bengal and Beliar bad transactions with
the Newars; and the Company’s Agent atBettia car­
ried on occasional intercourse with the Newar Rajas, 

coi fues[>rkVia About the middle of the.eighteenth century the 
Ghoorkhas began to invade Nipal under the leader­
ship of Prithi Narain. Tbe Newar Raja of Kat- 
maudhu begged for British help. The British 
government was strongly inclined to aid the 
Newars. The Ghoorkha invasion had stopped, all 
trade, and all flow of specie from N ipa l; and at this 
very time the trade of the Company was declining in 
Bengal, and the country was drained of specie.* In  
1767 an expedition was sent to Nipal under Cap­
tain Kinloch; it reached the hills in  the midst of 
the rainy season, and was compelled to return by 
the malaria of the Terai and want of provisions.

Stoppage of In 17(»8 the Ghoorkhas completed the eonquost of
Nipal. 'wth Katmandhu. They massacred every person of dis­

tinction connected with the Newar dynasties. They 
were a fierce and turbulent race, ignorant of arts 
and trade, and devoted to war and plunder. Prithi 
Narain was cunning, faithless, inhuman, and sacre- 
ligious. The British commerce w ith Nipal was 
brought entirely to a close*

English Subsequently the English endeavoured to open
S C 8 to UP a trade with Thibet. In  1774 Mr. Bogle went on 

a  mission to Thibet. In  1783 Mr. Turner went on

* The drain of specie in Bengal at this period was the r suit of political 
revolutions. When tiie British government obtained the Dewani of Beugal, 
Belmr and Orissa, they employed the surplus revenues in their trading 
investments in India and China: thus there was no longer an influx of 
silver from Europe, whilst there was a  large outflow of silver to China.
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another mission. Neither was attended by any 
substantial results.

In  1792 the Ghoorkha Raja of Nipal showed of
an inclination towards an alliance w ith the English.
A  treaty was concluded with Mr. Duncan, the 
British Resident at Benares; it was purely eom- 

lcreial, stipulating for a  duty of two and a half 
er cent, on the imports of both countries.
The secret object of the Nipalese for concluding Nwlthreat- 

this treaty was not discovered until some time after- Chinese'! ' '  
wards. I t  then appeared that they were threatened 
hy tho Chinese, and were anxious to obtain the 
support of tho British government. They had 
pushed their armies beyond the Himalayas into the 
plains of Eastern Thibet, and plundered the temples 
of Digarchi. The Lama of Bigarchi was spiritual 
father of the Emperor of China; he applied to the 
Emperor for succour, and the Emperor sent a 
largeanhy against Nipal.

IThe Ghoorkha government requested help from Mi«ion or 
the Government of India. Lord Cornwallis was 
Governor-General. He declined to send an armed 
force, hut offered to mediate between Nipal and 
China. H e sent Major Kirkpatrick on a mission 

to K atm andhu; and this officer was the first English­
man who is known to have visited the capital of 
Nipal. Meanwhile the Nipalese had made their sub­
mission to the Chinese, and agreed to pay tribute 
to Pekin. M ajor Kirkpatrick found that the Glioor- 
khas rejected all his overtures, and was obliged to 
leave Katmandhu.
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^  .ifcwlutiTOB The state of political affairs a t Katmandhu 
dhu. soon became critical. The Raja, Run Bahadur

Sah, was a m inor; his uncle was Regent. In  1795 
the uncle was murdered, and Itun  Bahadur Sah 
seized the throne. Run Bahadur Sah reigned with 
intolerable tyranny for five years. I n  1800 he 
was compelled to abdicate the throne in favow 
of an illegitimate son, and fly to Benares, lcavin; 
the Rani mother as Regent with the aid of a chic 
Minister.

Ghoorkha R u n  Bahadur Sah was well received by the 
res'. British government, and Captain Knox was ap­

pointed to attend him as Political Agent. H is resi­
dence in British territory worked upon the Ghoorkha 
authorities at K atm andhu; they showed a readiness 
to meet the view’s of the British government. The 
treaty of 1801 was concluded, under which a per­
m anent Resident was received at Katmandhu. 
By the twelfth article i t  was agreed tha t the 
representatives Qf either State shordd hold no com­
munication whatever with the subjects or inhabi­
tan ts of the country to which they were accredited 
w ithout the knowledge and concurrence of the 
authorities.

British He- Bv this time the Ghoorkhas had consolidated
siclcnt at Kat- . - . , . . ' . _,
maiidhu. their rule over a tract of country extending five 

or six hundred miles along the frontiers of (hide 
and British India. Nipal offered a ready asylum 
to robbers and banditti of every kind. Boundary 
quarrels were incessant. Captain Knox, tho new 
Resident, was received at Katmandhu merely as a
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I  temporary expedient to ward off . any political 

dangers which might threaten Katmandhu from the
exiled Baja at Benares. The Ghoorkha authorities 
were deaf to all complaints and remonstrances.

In  1 8 0 2  there was another revolution at Katman- Withdrawal 

dim. An elder Rani had accompanied Run dent!° &si* 
Bahadur Salt to Benares. She suddenly returned 
to Katmandhu, overthrew the Rani mother, and 
assumed the Regency. The Durbar now became 
rude and insolent to the British Resident. The new 
Rani Regent stirred up a leader of banditti to 
cut off the Resident and his followers. Timely 
warning was given, but Captain Knox saw that 
his post was untenable, and returned to British 
territory.

The British alliance with Nipal was formally dis- Ghoorkha 
solved. The Ghoorkha Raja was allowed to return tÎ aip̂ turna 
from Benares to Katmandhu. He was accompanied 
by a young and ambitious man, who had shared his 
exile, and was destined to take an important part 
in Nipaleso affairs. This man was named Bliim 
Sen Tliappa,

On arriving at Katmandhu, Run Bahadur Sah Bhim Sen 

murdered the Minister and reassumed the govern. S S i t  
ment of Nipal. Bhim Sen Thappa became Minister. ^ ut'
The Raja was killed in some quarrel with his brother.
Once again the illegitimate minor was placed on the 
throne of Katmandhu under the Regency of the 
elder Rani. But Bliim Sen Thappa was the real 
and only ru ler; he was the favourite of the Rani, 
and the chief Minister and master spirit, whom all
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were compelled to fear and obey; and for a period 
of thirty-five years he continued to be the undisput­
ed head of affairs, whilst the reigning Raja was 
either a minor or only a nominal sovereign.

Nipaleae From 1803 to 1814 the relations of the British gov-ftggrosstons , °
on'B ritish eminent with Nipal were negative and nnsatisfac- 
Omtoiy. tory• They consisted in vain remonstrances against

the aggressions of the Ghoorklias along the -whole 
line of frontier from Rungpore to Rohilkhund; 
and in fruitless efforts to induce the frontier officers 
of the Nipalese government to co-operate with Bri­
tish officers in the suppression of robberies and daeoi- 
ties. Meanwhile the Government of India was most 
anxious to avoid squabbles with Nipal, and over­
looked the aggressions on the plains, until it was 
forced to conclude that they formed part of a 
system of determined and stealthy encroachment. 
In  1804 the Nipalese seized on two large districts 
which had been ceded to the British government by 
Oude. Sir George Barlow demanded their surren­
der, but no redress was obtained. In  1808 the 
Nipalese seized on another large district. The Gov­
ernment of India was roused into sending a British 
detachment to recover it a t the point of the bayo­
net; but the Nipalese wTere not prepared for war, 
and retired without attempting to resist. A British 
Commissioner was subsequently appointed in con­
junction with a Nipalese Commissioner to investi­
gate frontier disputes. I t  was found that between 
1787 and 1813 more than two hundred villages 
belonging to the British government had been



seized by the Ghoorkha under a variety of injus- 
tifiable pretexts. I t  was clearly proved that two 
British districts had been seized by the Nipalese, to 
which they hadnota shadow of a claim. The Nipal. 
ese recalled their Commissioner, and then asserted 
that the investigation proved the right of Nipal 
to the districts in question. Lord Hastings, who 
was then Governor-General, gave the Nipalese 
government a fixed date for the evacuation of the 

| two districts. At the expiration of that period, 
the two districts were recovered by a British detach­
ment, without meeting with any resistance.

The government of Nipal, in other words the War began 
t Minister Bhim Sen Thappa, was resolved on war. A by NipaL 

party of Ghoorkha troops attacked a British police 
post in the recovered territory, and massacred eight­
een police officers. The story of the war which fol­
lowed belongs to general history.

In 181G1 the war against Nipal was brought to a Treaty 
close by the treaty of Segowlee. Under this treaty 
the N ipal gov eminent abandoned all claims on the 
hill Rajas to tho west of the river Ivalee; they 
ceded the belt of low lands known as the Terai; 
they restored the territory ol Siklum to the northward 
of Bengal to the Sikhim B aja ; they agreed to receive 
a British Resident at Katmandhu; and they engaged 
never to entertain any European or American in the 
service of Nipal without the consent of the British 
government. Mr. Gardner was appointed to be tho 
first British Resident at Katmandhu. Sir David

c n i p a i . 7 S L

1 Despatch from tho Government of India, 5th November 1816. '
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Ochterlony, who was in command of the British army 
in the field, sent on a Native Munshi to ascertain if 
Mr. Gardner might not advance from Kumaon to 
Katmandhn by the route of the hills. The Ministers 
however objected to this route. I t  was suspected 
that they were disinclined to allow a British party 
to explore a  new route into Nipal territory. But 
they said nothing about this. They only urged 
tha t the small-pox was raging in  tha t quarter j 
that the Raja had never had i t ; and that Mr. 
Gardner m ight possibly bring it  to Katmandhn. 

Reluctance The Nipal government, as already stated, was 
cedê theVe- bound by the treaty of Segowlee to cede the Terai 
rai' to the British government. But the Ministers

were much averse to the cession. They expressed 
to Sir David Ocbterlony’s Munshi a deep anxiety 
for the restoration of the Terai. They declared 
that they had only concluded the peace in the 
expectation of getting back the Terai. They also 
expressed the hope that the coming Resident would 
not make a protracted stay’at Katmandhn.

Question Meantime Lieutenant Boileau went toK atm an- 
PMndesCTtemi. dhu to take over temporary charge of the Residency 

until the arrival of Mr. Gardner. He carried a  
letter and presents for the Raja, and was instructed 
to execute the terms of the treaty. A  question 
arose about the surrender of two European deserters 
from the British army, who had been employed in 
the foundry at Katmandhn. The Nipal Ministers 
said that the men had been ordered to leave the coun­
try. Lieutenant Boileau knew that they had



only been sent a short distance from Kati&andhu, 
and there kept in concealment. The British gov­
ernment decided, that the question should be 
dropped.

The cession of the Terai was a question of greater Objections 

importance. The Ministers affected to doubt TenU™8 th° 
whether the cession comprehended the whole belt 
of the low country. The term Terai undoubtedly 
covered all the marshy plain a t the foot of the hills.
But the northern portion of the belt was forest lan d ; 
and the Ministers urged that as the term “ Babur,” 
or forest, was not used in the treaty, the cession 
only referred to the Terai up to the edge of the 
forest, and not to the whole of the Terai up to the 
foot of the hills.

The dispute about the frontier has long been . Compro- 
obsolete. I t  is only important as showing the 
extreme tenacity of the Nipal government on all 
frontier questions from our earliest relations with 
that State. The concession was made, and even addi­
tional territory was granted; but nothing would 
satisfy the Court of Katmandhu. Commissioners on 
both sides surveyed the border; but it was some 
years before a compromise was effected, and the 
discussion quieted down.

Mr. Gardner arrived at Katmandhu in due course, Mr. Gard-
IKT the firstand was introduced to the Raja in public Durbar. -Resident un- 

Two high officials, one of whom was the Guru or of 
spiritual adviser of the Raja, were appointed to be 
the channel of all communications between the 
Dnrbar and Mr. Gardner.



Nipaiese in- Meanwhile Nipal was threatened hy China, and 
S U0 Ch£h the Nipaiese government was scheming to embroil 

. authorities the English with the Chinese. I t  has already been 
British gov- seen that relations1 between Nipal and China began 
eminent. ^  YW‘2,, when a war between the two powers was 

brought to a close. From that time Nipal had been 
accustomed to send a mission to Pekin every three 

, years to carry the tribute agreed upon. But during
the war with the British government, Nipal Agents 
were sent to Ihassa and Pekin, and told the Chinese
authorities that the Government of India demanded,
as the price of peace, the transfer of the tribute here­
tofore paid to China, together with a free passage 
through Nipal territory into the Chinese Empire., 
Accordingly the Court at Pekin sent officials to 
Ihassa to investigate the circumstances.

Action of The British government had already sent letters 
g tem m tf to L hasa  through the Raja of Sikhim, with the view 

of putting the Chinese officials in possession of the 
real origin and progress of the war.

Further At this juncture the two Nipaiese officials, who 
intrigues. carried on all communications between the Resident 

and the Durbar, informed Mr. Gardner that 
the Chinese force had advanced to Tongue on the 
Nipaiese frontier, and that the Bhooteas were assem­
bling in force. They professed to impart this intel­
ligence, not as coming from the Durbar, but as a 
piece of private information given out of their respect 
for the British government. Mr. Gardner believed 
that they were acting under the order of the Durbar,
' t p eĝ atcvI) November 1815.

10 STTMMARYJ5F AFFAIRS.



and had been sent for the purpose o | alarming the 
British government into granting larger conces­
sions as regards the Terai.

Subsequently the Minister, Bhim Sen Thappa, British 
sought an interview with Mr. Gardner. He was |;0{'ue™m̂nitri 
evidently alarmed at the progress of the Chinese jjerfera N 
army, and sought to avert the danger by engaging and china.1 /  
the interference of the British government.

Mr. Gardner, under instructions from the Govern­
ment of India, told the Minister that the British 
government had no quarrel with China, and would 
not interfere in any quarrel between Nipal and 
China. He gave however friendly advice to the 
effect that Nipal would do well to revert to her pre­
vious relations with China, and pay the tribute 
as before.

About this time the British government was Death of 
engaged in extending vaccination over India. Some Eaj^hoorkha 
Nipalese officials were vaccinated. The Ghoorkha 
Baja contemplated doing so, but kept on deferring 
the operation. At last in 1818 he caught small-pox 
and died.

The heir to the throne was an infant. Conse- Council of 
quently a Council of Begency was formed at the Resency' 
head of affairs; and for some years nothing disturb­
ed the tranquillity of N ipal; and the relations with 
the Besident were satisfactory in every way.

In  1821 a question arose about the surrender of Negotiations 

criminals.1 The Magistrate of Purneah applied S n d e f^ f  
through the Political Agent at Katmandhu for the criminaIs‘

1 General letter, 11th September 1824
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surrender of five Mewatties who were suspected 
of robbery, and were otherwise notorious bad charac­
ters. At first the Durbar was inclined to grant 
the request. Subsequently it was discovered that 
the five Mewatties wore subjects ofN ipal, and had 
resided twenty years in Nipal territory, and more­
over held land in a Nipal village. Accordingly the 
request was refused unless the British government 
agreed to a corresponding surrender of criminals.
The Resident deemed it inexpedient to entertain 
the proposition. The Nipal government offered to 
investigate the charges against the five Mewatties, 
and on conviction to punish the Offenders. Mr. 
Gardner urged that the Nipal government had not 
the same means for the investigation of crime in 
the Terai, as was possessed by the English Courts 
of Justice; but the Durbar returned no definite 
rep ly ; and as there existed no treaty obligations 
for the surrender of offenders who were subjects of 
Nipal, the demand was pressed no further.

Proposed In  1823 the Select Comrfiittee1 of Supra Cargoes 
Tivnnication̂  a t Canton expressed a desire to send urgent letters 
between Chi- overland by way of Yunan and Sylhet. They asked 
na and n a. ^  Government of India whether the Raja of 

Sikhim would send special messengers through his 
country by way of Lhassa, or any other route. On 
enquiry through the Political Agent at Katmandhu, 
it was found that permission must be obtained 
from the Chinese Dm tabs at Lhassa. The Nipal

1 General letter, 13th June 1823,

1, * . Hi . )  , I f :



Government wag opposed to any sucl? com­
munication, and reported that no letters, not even, 
those of the Raja to the Court of Pekin, were 
allowed to pass Lhassa without being opened and
inspected by the local Chinese authorities. The 
Select Committee was informed accordingly, and 
the question was dropped.

In  April 1829, Mr. Gardner made over charge Mr. Hods-
of the Residency1 to his Assistant Mr. Hodgson, hOU' Hesident' 
and subsequently resigned the service. The Govern­
ment of India expressed their warm approval of 
his conduct of affairs in Katmandhu.

In October the same year a son and heir was Birth of a 

horn to the Raja of Nipal. A zeafut and sum of ohoorkha^ 
four thousand rupees was presented to the Resident, 
and shawls were given to the Munshi and Chohdars 
of the Residency. Mr. Hodgson returned all the 
money, excepting five hundred rupees; he dis­
tributed three hundred rupees amongst the poor 
people who brought the zeafut, and two hundred 
rupees amongst the Residency servants. Courtesy 

1 prevented his sending back the zeafut to the 
Maharaja.

The Government of India approved of Mr. Question of 
Hodgson’s proceedings, hut considered that if a Pre‘
suitable representation were made of the objections 
entertained by the Government of India, the 
Durbar would relinquish the practice.

Subsequently the Durbar requested a perpetual Question of 
remission of the duties on goods purchased yearly °f

1 General letter, 9th October 1830-



at Patna for the Holi festival. The Resident 
thought that the concession would he objectionable. 
The Government of India directed that a separate 
application should be made on each occasion, with 
an estimate of the probable value of the goods to 
be purchased.

Native cere- In 18301 Mr. Hodgson received an invitation from
mQny- the Durbar on the occasion of the Khur Kheldee, 

when the infant son of the Raja would complete 
his sixth month, and eat boiled rice and milk for 
the first time.

Mission The same year Mr. Hodgson reported having 
from Sindia. g | v e n  passports to some messengers from Sindia’s 

government who had brought presents from their 
master some.time, previously on the occasion of his 
marriage. The presents had been accepted by the 
Maharaja of Nipal, and return presents were sent 
to Sindia. The Resident had also sent letters to 
the Collectors of Customs at Ghazipore, Benares, 
Allahabad, and Cawnpore, exempting the presents 
going to Sindia from the payment of duties.

Mission The Government of India approved of the proceed- 
6t iugs of Mr. Hodgson. Subsequently the Resident at 

Gwalior reported that the Baiza Bai had expressed 
the utmost surprise at hearing of these messengers; 
she positively denied that any person had been sent 
to Nipal, and expressed her belief that the messen­
gers were impostors. Mr. Hodgson afterwards 
stated his reasons for believing that the messengers 
and presents were genuine. ______

J General letter, 14th October 1830.

' v J S  •' U  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS.



In  1833 it was proposed to establish a sanitarium 
at Darjeeling in Sikhim territory. The proposition Darjeeling, 
was first discussed in 1830; but Sir Charles Metcalfe 
and Mr. Bayley opposed it, as likely to excite the jea- 
lousy of the Nipal government. Subsequently Lord 
William Bentinck visited Mussoorie,3 and was much 
impressed with the comfort and advantage of a 
residence in the hills, a t an altitude which was dry as 
well as cold. Cheraponjee was so excessively damp 
that it could not be converted into a sanitarium. A 
reference was made to the Nipal government on 
the subject through the British Resident.

The boundary dispute between Nipal and Sikhim Relations 
was brought to a close. The young Baja of Nipal and Sikhim. 

had obtained his majority.
In  April 1834, Mr. Hodgson reported having 

addressed letters of recommendation3 to thedifferent jmiesê ffioer 
authorities in British India in behalf of a Lieutenant 0 
in the Nipalese army, who had been sent on a  tour 
of observation in the plains. Mr. Hodgson had re­
quested that every opportunity might be given to the 
Nipalese officer to witness parades, inspect forts and 
arsenals, and observing generally whatever might 
help to give him an adequate of the military science 
and resources of the British government.

The Government of India considered3 that Mr.
Hodgson had exceeded h i s  proper powers, and ought government. *

* General-letter, 13th November 1834.
3 General letter, 6th April 1835.
8 Dr. Campbell’s narrative/.Proceedings, Nos. 49-50 A., 23rd January 

1835.



to have referred the question to them for orders. The I  
Nipalese officer would probably have been allowed |

B to visit the arsenals and other military establish- |  
ments ; but the British government, was not * 
anxious to impro ve the military resources of Nipal- 
I t  was desirable that the servants of the British 
government should avoid every appearance of jea- j  
lousy; but they should abstain from encouraging § 
the military spirit and system of military organ!.® 
zation that of late years had made such rapid® 
progress in Nipal. 1

Dr. Camp* About this time I)r. Campbell submitted anarra- I 
tTve.9 BMTa" tive of the political relations bet ween the British 1 

government up to date. Part of the inform- |  
ation has been embodied in the earlier paragraphs of |  
the present summary. Tire following facts are, |  
perhaps, worthy of record. 1

Supreme Ever since the establishment of a permanent | 
Bhimrity sen Resident, a t Katmandhu in 1810, the Minister Bhim !
Thappa. Sen Thappa had been the real and sole ruler of N ipal. j

This man and his family filled all the chief offices I 
of State; they had kept the young Baja in close
bondage until his death in 1818 ; they kept his I
infant son and successor in the same thraldom; they 
excluded the Baradars or Ministers from all real 
power.

British gov- In the earlier years of the Residency, the Sahs, or ' 
c“ to in- 1'oyal family of Katmandhu, were anxious to 
terfere. enlist the British government against the Thappa 

faction; bu t Lord Hastings would not listen to 
these overtures.

• c 1 6  SUMMA-EY-Oi AFFAIES.
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Si!pal was in all respects independent of the Bri- 
fish government. She was bound by the treaty of pal.
1816 not to entertain Europeans or Americans in 
her service ; but that was all. The British govern­
ment ‘had never subsidized her army, nor borrowed 
her money, nor had any claim on. her revenue. I t  was 
not bound to assist her against any enemy ; nor was 
it pledged by any guarantee to the reigning dynasty.
The Chiefs of Nipal were in no xvay dependent upon 
the British government. The Nipal authorities were 
not bound in any way to listen to the advice of the 
British Resident on any subject whatever.

In  1882 the Rani mother died, and Bhima Sen Military 
Thappa continued to enjoy undisturbed power. stre,'8tfe*
This Minister gave his whole time and energies to 
the affairs of State. Although Nipal was deprived of 
a third of her territory in 1816, Bhima Sen Thappa 
had raised her to as strong a military position as 
ever on the British frontier.

Between 1816 and 1835 the resources of Nipal ineroased. 
had nearly doubled. Before the war the Terai had roTenue- 
been nearly depopulated. In 1835 it contributed 
ten lakhs of rupees a year to the public revenue, 
and was capable of yielding three times that amount.
The Minister had resumed all the rent-free tenures 
of the Brahmins. The custom duties had been 
raised from eighty thousand rupees in 1816 to two 
hundred and fifty thousand in 1834.

The constant policy of the Glioorkha rule had warlike 
been to perpetuate the warlike habits of the martial g £ k̂ *L9 
tribes, and to maintain a standing army up to the



highest point. In  1818 the regular force of the 
State was estimated at ten thousand men. In  1831 
it  was estimated at fifteen thousand. This wras the 
peace establishment in constant pay and under regu­
lar discipline, but Nipal was able to bring three 
times that number of troops into the field. The 
system of army establishment was one of annual 
rotation ; the army was changed every year from 
full pay to no pay. Thus the Nipal government 
oould place treble the number of the peace estab­
lishment on a war footing without much loss of 

■ efficiency.

1 8  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS.
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HYDERABAD.

There is very little notice of Hyderabad in the Palmer's 
General letters during the period which imme- nk’ 
diaiely succeeded to the wars of 1817 and 1818.
There was a heavy correspondence respecting 
Palmer’s Bank, which created much excitement, but 
has long been regarded as obselete.

In  1822, serious disturbances broke out in Hy- Expnls'on 

derabad1 in connection with some religious disputes M adhL^ 
between a sect called “ Ghyr Madliis ” and other 
Muhammadans. Many lives were lost in the affray 
which was finally suppressed by the Russik batta­
lion under Colonel Doveton on the requisition of 
the Minister Chandu Lai. The Nizam’s govern­
m ent resolved on the expulsion of the “ Ghyr 
Madhis.” The Nizam ordered that every man of 
tha t sect should be dismissed from his service and 
banished from his dominions.

The administration of the territory of Hyderabad Brit;, . 
had fallen into the greatest disorder, and the dis- terferenre in 

ciplined force under British officers was frequently admijaka"110 
called upon to repress local rebellions. The country tion* 
was infested by robbers, and the roads were unsafe 
for travellers without a large armed escort. In  1820 
British officers were appointed in the different dis­
tricts to settle the revenue administration. The

1 General letter, 12th September 1823.
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results of British interposition.1 for the amelioration
of affairs were regarded as very favourable. The 
Government of India considered that the prospects 
of future prosperity were highly satisfactory.

Death of In  1829, Sikundar Shall,2 Nizam of Hyderabad, 
is2‘j Nlzam’ died, and was succeeded by his eldest son, Nazlr-u- 

dowla.
European In 1829, in accordance with the urgent request of 

withdrawn!1 the new Nizam, the European officers superin­
tending the revenue settlements in Hyderabad 
territory were withdrawn.3

Unpopular In  October 1829, the Resident reported that the 
reforms. Nizam was employed in reforming the establish- 

inents, of .Tagliirdars. Great abuses had crept in. 
The reforms however were very unpopular. Many of 
the chief nobles were alienated from the Nizam, 
and looked to the Minister Chandu Lai as the only 
person capable of protecting them from spoliation. 
The reforms were carried out with little regard for 
the feelings of the Jaghirdars. The Resident regard­
ed them as proofs of the Nizam’s energy and activity 
of mind ; he thought that a little more experience 
would lead the Nizam to direct Iris attention to 
higher and nobler objects.

Distnrlmn- The same year a bloody fray broke out at Hyder- 
atoJ! Hyder* abad between the Sikhs and Arabs in the Nizam’s 

service. Great disturbances also prevailed in conse­
quence of the violent conduct of Mubarik-u-dowla,

1 General letter, 28th July 1828.
2 Separate letter, 12th July 1829.
3 Separate letter, 16th June 1830.



the younger brother of the Nizam. This prince had
in former years been imprisoned in the fortress of 
Golkomla, but had been since released. He now 
demanded a larger allowance from the Nizam.
He was very bitter against the Minister to whom ho 
attributed his imprisonment. He raised a force of 
three or four thousand Arabs and Roliillas, who were 
animated with the hope of plunder. The greatest 
alarm prevailed. Troops were raised by the Nizam 
and his Minister. The British Resident succeeded 

„ in mediating between the two parties. The prince 
accepted his previous allowance of six thousand 
rupees per mensem, and promised to abstain from 
further insurrection. i

In  1830 a plot was discovered. Mubarik-u-dowla riot of dm 
had been engaged for months in trying to seduce 
the soldiers in the Nizam’s service. He submitted Nizam, 
to he arrested, and was again imprisoned in the 
fortress of Golkonda.

Meanwhile the Resident raised a question1 as Question 

regards the employment of His Highness’s troops, zam’a^n^!*
A new system of non-interference had been adopted 
as regards the internal affairs of the Nizam’s govern­
ment. The Resident therefore applied for the orders 
of the Government of India as to whether he should 
continue to exercise any discretion as to the employ­
ment of His Highness’s troops, seeing that they were 
commanded by British officers; whether in fact he 
should continue to comply with requisitions of this 

I nature in the event of their being called upon by
1 General letter, 16tli Juno 1834
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the Nizam to enforce measures which were unjust 
or unnecessary.

Limits of The Government of India decided that so long as 
meut.0mploy" the Nizam’s army was commanded hy British officers, 

the British authorities were bound to exercise their 
discretion as regards the employment of such officers. 
The Resident was accordingly directed to satisfy 
himself as heretofore on these points, previous to 
complying with His Highness’s requisition.

Refractory In  1834, Major Stewart, the Resident at Hyder- 
Hyderabad.at abad, reported the proceedings1 of an enquiry which 

had been held on three Europeans who had engaged 
in a fray in that city. Ho requested instructions 
as regards similar cases, as they were likely, he 
thought, to be of frequent occurrence under the 
operations of the new India Bill.

(Mew of The Government of India decided that the way 
government*, in which Major Stewart had disposed of the case of 

the three Europeans would form a suitable prece­
dent, namely, to expel such Europeans from the 
Nizam’s dominions. He was accordingly authorised 
to suggest this mode of treatment to the Minister. 
As regards general instructions, it was proposed to 
dispose of each case according to circumstances 
until some uniform system of procedure should be 
finally established.

Arabs and There had been a fray between the Arabs and 
Rninihs. Rohillas at Hyderabad. A sanguinary contest

was expected. The Minister Raja Chandu Lai

1 General letter, 7th September 1835.
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was sick, and there was great difficulty in rais­
ing funds for the payment of the regular troops- 
The Government of India "authorised the  Resident 
to take up funds for such payment as a temporary 
measure, hut to feport all he did in  this direction 
w ithout delay.

I . ' 1 1 ®
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E/A JPOOTAN A.

AJMERE.

introdnc- The city and territory of Ajmere was brought 
■turn °t British; lim}er British administration by the treaty of 1818.

Under this treaty there were certain exchanges of 
territory between Sindia and the British govern­
ment for the adjustment of territory. The city and 
territory of Ajmere thus came into the possession 
of the British government.

Wretched At this period the city of Ajmere had long been a 
prey to the rapacity of successive governors. The 
wealthy had been stripped of their property and 
driven to emigrate elsewhere. When first occupied 
by the British it was nearly deserted. The intro­
duction of British authority inspired general con­
fidence; and the prospect of security to person and 
property induced multitudes to return.

Mr. Wilder, Mr. Wilder -was the first English Superintendent 
Superintend- ^ j m c r e _ jjis administrative measures received1 

the most favourable notice. Prom the very first his 
serious attention had been called to a predatory 
and uncivilised race known as the Mhairs. 

vihaimar- Mhairwarra, the country of the Mhairs, is a wild
ra eouutiy. an(j mountainous region of considerable extent,

1 General letter, 15th January 1820.
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intervening between the southern parts of Ajmere 
and the Rajput States of Jodhpore and Oodeypore.
Rights of sovereignty in Mhairwarra were exercised 
over Mhair villages by Jodhpore and Oodeypore, as 
well as by the British government.

As early as 1819 Mr. Wilder had been compelled1 Outrages of 
to employ troops against the Mhairs, for the purpose Mhairs' 
of chastising some of the principal villages of those 
freebooters. In  1821 a British police officer and 
establishment was massacred by the Mhairs at Jhak, 
a village of Mhairwarra belonging to Ajmere. The 
villagers of Jhak acted in concert with Mhairs from 
adjoining villages subject to Jodhpore and Oodey­
pore.

I t  was evident such disorders could not be sup- Formation 
pressed by mere measures of punishment and other 
such temporary expedients. They wore the natu­
ral outcome of an inaccessible country and uncivilised 
inhabitants. Accordingly it was proposed to raise 
a local corps, composed of Mhairs, and command­
ed by a discreet and intelligent European officer 
residing on the spot, and invested with a certain 
authority over the Mhair villages. I t  was hoped 
that by these means it might be possible both to 
suppress disorders and to reclaim the Mhairs to 
peaceful and industrious occupations. I t  was con­
sidered that as these advantages would be shared 
by Jodhpore and Oodeypore, those States should 
contribute towards the maintenance of the local 
corps. Six hundred men were accordingly raised

1 General letter, 13th June 1823.
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and placed under the command of Captain Hall of 
the Quarter Master General’s department.

British ad- In  1823 it  was determ ined/w ith the consent of
ministration
in Mhairwar- Jodlipore and Oodeypore, that the British govern- 

ment should take over the entire administration of 
Mhairwarra, accounting for the collections in their 
respective villages; and deducting Us. 15,000 yearly 
from each State for the maintenance of the Mhair 
Battalion.

General Por some years the state of Mhairwarra and the 
improvement, p ^ a l io n  were such as to call for little no-

. ticc, beyond favourable expressions3 from time to tim e 
on the success of Captain Hall. In  1828 Captain H all 
obtained the sanction of the Government of India 
for an advance of three thousand rupees to the 
cultivators of Mhairwarra, to enable them to impro ve 
their implements of husbandry, and to afford other 
means for carrying on their labours, so as to restrain 
them from the commission of crime, whilst tending to 
increase the revenue. 1

1 General letter, 10th September 1824.
1 General letter, 10th October 1829.
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MEYWAR o e , OODEYPORE.

The existing political relations between the British Desolation 
government and the Rajput State of Meywar or i8i8Meyw’ 
Oodeypore began in 1818. At that time Oodeypore 
had been laid waste by the armies of Sindia, Holkar, 
and Amir Khan, as well as by many hordes of Pinda- 
ree plunderers. The Rana was so reduced that he de­
pended on the bounty of Zalirn Singh of Kotah, who 
made him a monthly allowance of a thousand rupees*

In  1823 the Meena tribes to the south-west of Depreda- 

Oodeypore were troublesome. Their depredations the
were daily increasing, especially in the neighbour­
hood of the British cantonment at Ncemuch. The 
Rana was totally unable to suppress these preda­
tory bands. A British force was ordered to quell 
them . A strong remonstrance was made to the 
Rana on his permitting such excesses within his 
territory. As ruler of Meywar he was under an obli­
gation to keep up an effective force for the main­
tenance of his authority, and the preservation of his 
country from rapine and devastation.

The affairs of Meywar were soon pressed on the Anarchy in 
attention of the Government of, India. Such had Meywar< 
been its reduced and disorganised condition tha t it 
had almost ceased to exist as a State. The Rana was 
totally inexperienced in the duties of administration.
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l ie  had not only been guided by the advice of Captain 
Tod, the former Political Agent, bu t had invited 
interference. Since then the state of affairs had been 
very bad. The Rana vras supported by loans from 
bankers under British guarantee. The Thakoors were 
t urbulent and lawless. Aplotwas formed for remov­
ing the Minister, whom the Resident was bound 
more or less to support; and the liana  had removed 
the Minister. The British government had no treaty 
right to interfere in the domestic concerns of Oodey- 
pore, bu t policy and justice demanded such inter­
ference from the paramoxmt power ; and the receipt 
of a fraction of the revenue by way of tribute, 
gave the British government an interest in the 
management of the country.

British in- The Resident expostulated with the Rana for the
terfeien<.. abrupt, unexplained and causeless dismissal of the

Minister, when courtesy at least demanded that the 
consent of the British government should have been 
obtained. The guarantee was continued to the., 
bankers, as there was no other way of raising funds, 
excepting at a ruinous loss; but it  was limited in 
amount. Provision was made for the liquidation 
of the current tribute. Measures were taken for 
suppressing the predatory habits of the Thakoors ; 
their military services were commuted by contribu­
tions of money or lands, and the proceeds were set 
aside for the maintenance of an effective corps.
I t was resolved to employ a British force against 
the rebel Thakoors, who were public robbers and 
the enemies of mankind.
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Amongst these turbulent and rebellious Chiefs, ofSnj^ J |j^  
the Rao of Humeerghur had rendered himself Thakoors. 

notorious by his repeated acts of robbery, outrage, 
and open defiance to his sovereign’s authority.1 A 
detachment of British troops advanced against his 
fort, and captured it at the end of 1823. The Rao 
fled to the jungles, and his jaghir was sequestrated 
by the government of Oodeypore.

In  1825 the management of Captain Cobbe, e ®^eficial 
who had succeeded Captain Tod as Political Agent 
at Oodeypore, proved to have been entirely success­
ful.2 The interference, however objectionable on 
general principles, had resulted in much practical 
benefit to the liana and people of Meywar, as well 
as to the interests of the alliance between the two 
States. The liana acknowledged the value of 
Captain Cobbe’s services in extricating him from 
his pecuniary difficulties, and importing vigour 
and respectability to the administration.

Meanwhile however the question3 of the with- | l anSe of-*■ DollCV.
drawal of all interference hitherto exercised by 
the Political Agent in the internal administration 
of Oodeypore was pressed upon the Government of 
India. At the same time it was necessary to take 
into consideration the unsettled state of the hilly 
tracts occupied by Bheels, Meenas, and Grassias.

In  November 1826 Captain Sutherland succeeded With(W 
Captain Cobbe as Political Agent at Oodeypore al of British
____________ _____________  . ___________ ,1 ' interference.

1 General letter, 18th September 1825.
2 General letter, 27th July 1826.
3 General letter, 28th July 1828.
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The Rana and his Ministers -were anxious that cer­
tain measures should be abolished by the new Agent, 
which he naturally regarded as grievances. I t  ap-

* peared that from the earliest period of British con­
nection with Oodeypore, the Political Agent had 
placed his badged servant's or peOns in the different 
districts within Oodeypore, in order to report on the 
acts of local officers and exercise a certain control.
He had also placed similar servants on the roads 
in order to support the opium monopoly of the 
Company. I t  further appeared that money had 
been raised from a Native banker under the British 
guarantee at the rate of eighteen per cent., in order 
to pay the Rana from eight hundred to a thousand 
rupees per day.

, Mef^es Sir Charles Metcalfe, the Resident at Delhi,
of Sir Charles . . . . .
Metcalfe. authorised Captain Sutherland to withdraw at once 

all his badged servants from those districts which 
were not under British management. Also to allow 
{he servants of the Rana to be placed on the roadg 
together with those of the. Political Agent. In  like 
manner to withdraw the arrangement with the 
banker as soon as better measures could be devised. 
The Rana tendered other requests including one for 
the remission of arrears of tribute, 

indepcn- In  reporting these proceedings to the Government.
rmZ  0f the of India, Sir Charles Metcalfe expressed his opinion 

. that the supervision which had been exercised by 
Captains Tod and Gobbe were no longer justified.

\ \  The necessity, if it ever existed, had altogether 
ceased. The time had arrived when the Rana might
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be allowed to rale as an independent prince without 
danger to British interests. The Resident did not 
advise the remission of arrears of tribute.

The Government of India had been bu t im- Views of 
perfectly acquainted with the details of the super- M t o n X  
vision exercised in Oodeypore. Generally speak­
ing, however, it was satisfied tha t such, in ter­
vention had been necessary at the time and had pro­
duced great practical benefit. The proceedings 
of Sir Charles Metcalfe were fully approved.
The management of certain reserved pergunnahs 
had already been given back to the Rana, together 
with the revenue arising from custom duties.
Under such circumstances there were no grounds for 
the remission of arrears of tribute, especially as 
little heed had ever been given to the payment.
The tribute was little more than a fourth of the reve­
nue ; and as the British government had withdrawn 
from all control over the revenue, the payment 
must be left to the good faith of the Rana. The 
system of raising money under British guarantee 
at the r a t^ o f  eighteen per cent, was abandoned, 
and a loan of a lakh and a half of rupees was 
authorised at six per cent, interest.

Meanwhile there was an insurrection in the hilly Insurrcction 
tracts, instigated or encouraged by Dowlut Singh of in the bUl 
Jowas. A  force was sent against the insurgents, bu t 

i was compelled to retreat under circumstances of diffi­
culty and danger. The Rana’s troops were altogether 
inefficient, whilst the British detachment was in** 
adequate. Since then matters had become worse,

 ̂ ' MEYWAB OB OODEYPOBE. 3 1  < S L
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' and the country was more disturbed than
ever.

British man- The Government of India had now to considex
Srbedpro! whether to withdraw altogether from this meffec- 
vinces. ^ ye interference, and leave the Bana to make his 

own arrangements, or to interpose actively and effi­
ciently. The Eana solicited the aid of British officers, 
and agreed to pay all the expenses. The Govern­
ment of India resolved on taking the measure, 
which indeed was absolutely necessary for the 
pacification of the country; and to place the disturb­
ed districts under the exclusive management of Bri. 
tish authorities.

Bocal levy. Instructions were sent to the Besident at Delhi 
to the following effect. -A local levy was to be 
raised under a European officer, and paid from the 
revenue of the hill tracts. This officer was to col­
lect the revenue, communicate with the Chiefs and 
people, and generally superintend the affairs of that 
quarter. This system of management was to be 
extended to the villages of Doongcrpore, which 
were intimately intermixed with those of Oodey- 
pore. A cantonment was to ho formed on the Dey- 
bur Lake for the location of a British regiment, 
which could overawe the turbulent and disaffect­
ed. Settlements were to be concluded with all the 
Chiefs of thehill tracts,—Grassias, Bheels and Meenas.

Apparent In  1827 Sir Edward Colebrooke, who bad suc,-
improve-ment. ceecie(l Sir Charles Metcalfe as Besident at Delhi, 

reported an improved state of things in Oodeypore.
A new Minister had been appointed, who gave

«•, - "I'’.''1'



decided help to the local British authority. The 
Government of India ordered its previous instruc­
tions to be carried out. A body of regular troops 
was to be employed to efface the memory of pre­
vious disasters.

In  1828 the Maharana died,1 and his only son Death of the 
succeeded to the vacant throne * Seven queens and Maharana' 
a favourite concubine sacrified themselves on the 
funeral pile. The new Maharana was anxious to 
receive the usual khillut of investiture from the 
British government, when all the States in alliance 
with Meywar would present khilluts.

Major Cobbe, the Political Agent, described Unfavourable 
Oodeypore territory as being in a wretched state. wporto’
The habits and character of the new Maharana 
were very unfavourable to any hopes of improvement 
in the state of his country.

Military operations had been carried out in the Suppression 
H ill Tracts under the command of Captain Speirs, 
the European officer who was appointed to the 
management of affairs in that quarter. Dowlut 
Singh of Jowas, the principal rebel, surrendered 
himself to the mercy of the British government.
The pacification of all the Bheel districts soon 
followed. The villages of Dowlut Singh were 
made over, to the Chief of Jowas, and a small 
piovision was sanctioned for his subsistence. The 
Grassia Chiefs subm itted; they engaged to abstain

1 General letter, 8th May 1829.
* The deceased Maharana was named Bheem Singh. His son and 

successor was named Koonwar Bheem Singh. “ n ar,d
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from all disturbances for the future, to protect 
travellers, and to pay compensation to tlie merchants 
th a t liad been plundered. The regular troops were 
removed to Serohi. A small force was maintained 
at Kliairwareh until the local levy should be fit 
for service.

Question of The Government of India objected1 to sending 
vestitunf in" a kbillut of investiture to  the new Maharana of 

Oodeypore. Presents were to be sent by the Bri­
tish government in the same way that presents 
were sent by other States, as an acknowledgment 
of the succession of the new Maharana.

Adminis- In  1828 Major Cobbe retained Political charge 
of Oodeypore, whilst Major; Speira -A U »
Grassia, Bheel, or 11aj put Chiefs of the  Mill Tracts, 
who were more or less dependent upon the Oodej - 
pore State. The Government of India decided th a t 
whenever the Maharana desired the districts in 
question to he transferred to his administration, 
they were to be made over. The Maharana would 
then become responsible for the conduct of the H ill 
Chiefs towards neighbouring States, and the duties 
of Major Speirs would be limited to his post as 
Superintendent of Serohi.

Orders of The local levy was to continue a t the disposal 
i t S i X  of Major Speivs, the expense to be drivedU > J-the 

Maharana. Whenever the  Bana could do without 
the British Superintendent of Hill Tracts, the levy 
might be withdrawn. The Government of India

1 General letter, 3rd October 1829.
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remarked, in reference to these orders, that it could 
not be at continual expense for thd internal gov­
ernment of territory which did not belong to it.

In  furtherance of these instructions Major Speirs Non-inter- 
was to avoid interference whenever possible; to felerice' 
consider the Hill Chiefs as responsible for the com­
munities under them ; to deal separately only with 
those communities who acknowledged no Chief.
Patience and forbearance were strongly inculcated.
The Superintendent of H ill Tracts was to employ 
conciliation as his main instrument, and keep con­
stantly in view the gradual amelioration of the 
habits of the people. H itherto the defect in the policy 
of the British government had been the attempted 
suppression of disorders by force; and when 
the force was withdrawn the disorders returned.
Meanwhile the Maharana resumed Chappun and 
all the territory in that quarter, which had previous­
ly been under the charge of the Political Agent of 
Oodeyporo.

The Government of India ordered the Khairwareh internal ar- 
levy to be paid up and transferred to Major Speirs. ransements- 
As Joura, Mairpore, Oghna and Pannerwa were no 
longer considered as feudatory or dependent on the 
Maharana, His Highness was relieved from the 
expense of detachments employed in those districts.
Major Speirs began to remove the thanahs of the 
Maharana’s troops from those districts. The 
Grassia Chiefs offered to pay for the continuance 
of the force; but this was beyond their means.
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The Maharana was called upon to make arrange­
ments for the payment of a balance1 of the tribute 

Minor de- due to the British goyernmentof more than two lakhs.
In  1833 the disputes between the Oodeypore* 

State and the States of Sindia, Holkar, and Boondi 
were negotiated at Ajmere by two of the Rana’s 
Ministers and the Agent to the Governor-General. 
The same year the Rana prepared to go on a 
pilgrimage to Gaya, and asked that one of the 
Assistants of the Agent at Ajmere might be deputed 
to superintend the affairs of Oodeypore during 
his absence. The Government of India considered 
that the deputation of an Assistant was objection­
able. The Rana accordingly appointed one of his 
own officials to conduct the affairs of Oodeypore 
until his return from pilgrimage.

* General letter, 9 th October 1830. 
a General letter, 13th March 1834.
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DUNGEEPOEE.

In  18241 the tranquillity of Dungerpore was dis- British in- 
turbed by the turbulent and outrageous proceedings terfereace. 
of certain petty Eajput Chiefs. A detachment of 
the Eampoora local battalion was called for, but 
the incipient troubles was quieted by measures of 
conciliation. The Minister was placed under res­
traint on account of malversation and embezzle­
ment ; on the recommendation of the Eesident he 
was deposed and compelled to refund. In  1825s 
the eX-Minister and a party of turbulent Thakoors 
took forcible possession of the palace, and seized the 
person of the weak and imbecile Eaja, in opposition 
to the new Minister who was supported by the 
British government. Troops were employed for the 
restoration of order.

1 General letter, 31st May 1826.
9 General letter, 27th July 1826.
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JEYPOEE.

Anarchy in Jeypore came under British protection in 1818. 
1818' At that time the principality was in a state of 

anarchy. The Baja was abandoned to the grossest 
debauchery. The Thakoors had usurped the au­
thority and lands of the State. At last the Eaja 
was induced to resume the State lands. The 
Thakoors were guaranteed in their legitimate rights 
and possessions, and executed a paper which defined 
their future relations with the Eaja.

Minority The Eaja died in 1818, leaving no sons. For a 
and Regency. time a distant kinsman of the family was 

placed in power. In  1819 a posthumous son was 
bom ; and in accordance with the wishes of the 
Thakoors, the infant was .placed upon the throne 
under the Eegency of his mother.

Internal In  1820* Sir David Ochterlony, the Besident in 
distractions. Rajpootana, reported on-Jeypore affairs. The 

Durbar was divided and distracted in its counsels ; 
a general mismanagement prevailed throughout 
the country. Sir David Ochterlony could only 
recommend the permanent appointment of a Euro­
pean officer to Jeypore. The Government of 
India saw that the step was becoming a necessity, 
but objected so strongly to any interference, that 
it was resolved to defer it as long as possible, in 
the hope that the Eesident might yet be able in

1 General letter, 2nd May 1823.
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concert "with the Minister to bring about an im­
provement. s !

In  1821 the disorders reached a climax. There British in- 
was a sanguinary conflict within the palace in terfereuoe' 
which thirty men were killed. Sir David Ochterlony 
was utterly unable to understand its origin, 
and could only repeat his recommendation for the 
deputation of a European officer. Under these 
circumstances Captain Stewart was sent to Jeypore.

The confusion seemed to he hopeless. The Regent Character 
mother was completely in the hands of a Maltajun, Re's<mt
named Jhota Earn, and two favourite slave girls, 
one of whom named Roopa Buddarum exercised 
unbounded influence over her. The revenue had 
decreased in spite of the general peace, and the 
expenditure had increased in spite of the reductions 
consequent on the minority. All that Captain 
Stewart could do was to induce the Minister to 
undertake a new settlement of the land revenue 
in concert with the leading Thalcoors.

The Minister, Rawul Beiree Saul, suggested that Proposed 
in former times of emergency, a general assemblage Thakoors. °f 
ofThakoors had been called to the capital. The 
Government of India ordered that unless there was 
an improvement in the administration, the Thakoors 
should be again summoned to the city of Jeypore 
to depose the Rani and form a new Regency.

In  1822 the Minister Rawul Beiree Saul showed Weakness 

signs of weakness.1 He was afraid to visit Captain 2'rthe Mini8‘ 
Stewart unless accompanied by Jhota Ram. He

1 General letter, 12th September 1823.
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was assured by Captain Stewart that the British 
government would support him, so long as he acted 
with integrity, and for the benefit of both States.
He was reminded of his own suggestion of convoking 
a council of the Thakoors to remove the infant Baja 
from the guardianship of the Regent Rani. He 
replied that the plan was not likely to succeed; that 
the Thakoors in general were mercenary men, who 
would support tha t party which held out the best 
prospect of advantage to themselves. H e considered 
it  would be an advantage to remove the two favourite 
slave girls already mentioned, and the Rani’s Guru, 
or spiritual guide. The G uru was said to receive 
large grants for religious purposes, which he appro­
priated to his own use. No measure, the Minister 
said, would be successful short of the advance of a 
British force to the capital; and he was ready to 
submit to this interference, although it  would bring 
great odium upon him. Captain Stewart represent­
ed the inexpediency of the measure, bu t the Minis­
ter asserted tha t the only alternative was to carry 
on the affairs of the State in conjunction with 
Jh o ta  Ram.

Objections Captain Stewart could only recommend that
enco. iatafer“ m atters should run their course. If  a British army 

placed the Minister more decidedly a t the  head of 
affairs, it would have to m aintain him in  that posi­
tion. Both the Minister and Jhota Ram  thought 
tha t the new three years’ land settlement would 
prove a success.



In  1823 a military force was sent to Jeypore, with en®vilo{5n$J* 
the view of exacting an engagement from the Rani, Eegent Kani. 
calculated to exclude her from exercising any 
baneful influence for the future. No particular 
results followed. On reference to the Proceedings 
quoted in the General letter1, it appears that 
nothing could be done with the Rani; her conduct 
was vile and bad in every possible way, whilst no 
reliance whatever could be placed upon her woi’d.

In  1823 the small chiefship of Poniara, which _ A.ffa!rs of 
was dependent on J  eypore, was in a very unsettled 
state. Sir David Ochterlony ordered Captain 
Stewart, the Political Agent, to proceed to the spot.
The Jeypore Durbar was resolved to keep the settle­
ment of Poniara in its own hands, and summoned 
all the heads of factions at Poniara to the city of 
Jeypore. As such interference was not warranted by 
right or usage, and could only work mischief,
Captain Stewart was ordered to proceed to Poniara.

Meanwhile the abuses of the Jeypore govern- state of 
ment were increasing. The Regent Rani was ex- factlons‘ 
eluding the Minister from the efficient exercise of 
power. The influence of Jhota Ram and the 
zenana faction was still growing, and the double 
and divided administration was producing serious 
evils and disasters in the country at large. Sir 
David Ochterlony urged the removal of the 
Regent Rani, and the restoration of the Minister 
to power.

* General letter, 10th September 1824.
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• -British gor- The Government of India ordered the Rani toeminent m- .

terference. he told that it would support Rawul Beiree Saul
as the head of the executive independent of her 
authority ; and warned her to abstain from all 
interference, and to confine her duties to the charge 
of the infant Raja and the internal control of the 
palace. Jhota Ram was to be removed to a dis­
tance from Jeypore. The Minister was to be 
henceforth responsible to the British government.

The same year Sir David Ocliterlony employed 
ter to power, a British force for reducing the fort and jaghir

of Sambra, and re-annexing it to the khalsa, or . 
State lands of Jeypore. I t  had been held by the 
Thakoor Megh Singh by a title which was obvi­
ously invalid beyond all dispute. The Thakoor 
had long been conspicuous in the Durbar in 
thwarting every measure proposed by the British 
authorities ; and. it was his influence that support­
ed Jhota Ram and his faction. The measure was 
rightful in itself, and was expected to intimidate 
the faction that supported the Rani. The de­
monstration of force, and instructions of the 
Government of India, produced an immediate 
effect on the Jeypore Durbar. The Rani, after a 
short and ineffectual struggle, agreed to accept 
the Rawul Beiree Saul as Mookhtar, o r manager. 
The Rawul was invested with full powers in a 
public assembly of Thakoors. The motives of the 
British government were explained by Captain 
Stewart to tbe assembly. He declared that who­
ever obstructed the Rawul in the exercise of his



lawful authority would be regarded and punished 
as an enemy by both governments. ’

The Rani was to bo treated with the same ' Restrict.. . . .  none ori respect as heretofore until the Raja attained his Regent Kaui.
majority. She was to exercise no more power or 
influence than was consistent with the vigorous 
and efficient administration of the Mookhtar.
This course was deemed preferable to her open 
and avowed exclusion from all authority.

Jhota Ram retired with a small party of follow­
ers to a place of Hindu worship near Gwalior.
He was warned that he would he apprehended if 
he attempted, to return to Jeypore.

The Resident Sir David Oehterlony called on Liabilities
_ , ,, „ ,, ,. of the BritishJcypore to pay the expenses ot the operations government. , 
against Sambra. But the Government of India 
ruled1 that it was bound by the receipt of tribute 
to recover without charge any usurped places be­
longing to Jeypore, unless there was some peculiarity 
in the case. As regards Sambra the peculiarity 
worked the other way, as the place had been recover­
ed contrary to the inclination of the Durbar.

At the end of 1823 the revenue was improving straffg!e 
under the emancipated Minister. The jealousy, ill- Mk!
will, and opposition of the Rani still continued, hut is ter. 
did not paralyse the authority of the Minister as it 
had done previously. Indeed to some extent it was 
beneficial, as it stimulated the Minister in the 
faithful discharge of his duties.

1 General letter, 18th September 1825,
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Complaints In  1824 the affairs of Jeypore underwent a change, 
liinister;th° The Resident received a violent letter1 from the Rani 

accusing the Mookhtar of mismanagement and 
defalcation. Sir David Ochterlony dwelt strongly 
on the defects in the character of the Minister and 
the faults of his administration. He was accused of 
indolence, ignorance, prejudice, want of energy, and 
entire dependence on a favourite.

DistnrW Disturbances began to breakout. Four of the 
ee'in Jeypore. b a t t a l i o n s  of the Jeypore Durbar mutinied for

want of pay. They marched against the capital to 
demand their dues from the Minister. The Minister, 
acting under the advice of the Political Agent, for­
warded the amount to the camp. The mutineers 
declared that they would march to the palace, and lay 
their complaints before the Rani, and receive their 
pay from her alone as their sovereign. The Minister 
prepared to bring out his own forces to resist the 
mutineers. The city of Jeypore was excited by the 
advance of the disorderly soldiery. Colonel Raper, 
who had succeeded Captain Stewart as Political 
Agent, ordered the Officer Commanding at Nusseer- 
abad to hold a detachment in readiness to act.

Intrignes I t  now appeared that the Rani was in secret 
oftheUani. communication with the commanders of the four

mutinous battalions. In  October the four batta­
lions reached Jeypore, took possession of the city, and 
were speedily joined by corps from other quarters. 
The Rani ordered salutes to be fired, and distributed
money amongst the soldiery. The Political Agent 

1 General letter, 1st October 1825.
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pressed for the departure of the troops. The rumours
of the approach of British forces excited alarm. About 
the end of the month the armed multitude began 
to break up. The Minister, Rawed Beiree Saul, 
retired to his jaghir. Sir David Ochterlony paid 
a visit to Jeypore. A new administrationwas formed 
by the Rani, but the return of Jhota Ram to Jeyporo 
was forbidden. Tranquillity was restored, but there 
was little hope of any improvement, as the Rani 
continued to be in the hands of the female slave,
Roopa Buddarum, and was believed to be in secret 
intercourse with Jhota Ram. All this while the 
Rani was carrying on a secret communication with 
Dhoorjun Saul, the rebel Chief of Bhurtpore, through 
the medium of a Guru, who was the spiritual guide 
of both parties.

A fresh crisis seemed to be impending a t Jey- , Evil com~ 
pore. There was the grossest corruption and 
peculation. Obnoxious persons were murdered with­
out scruple. The pay of the troops, and the pay­
ment of the tribute, were both in arrears. The ad­
vice of the Political Agent was disregarded, and 
he more than once prepared to retire from Jeypore.
In 18251 the Thakoors of Jeyporo had become 
thoroughly dissatisfied with the existing adminis­
tration. I t  was resolved to produce the young 
Raja in public, and to restore the Rawul Beiree 
Saul as Mookhtar, or Minister.

The Rani tried by every means in her power to Orders of 
postpone the arrangement. There were three years meenttfYndi*

1 General letter, 27th July 1826.
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remaining before the Raja could attain bis majority, 
and she was anxious to retain power during the 
intervening period. An assembly of Thakoors was 
convened. If  they agreed to a new arrangement, 
the Government of India ordered that there should 
be no interference. If  they could not agree, and 
asked the British government to name a Regent, 
Rawul Beiree Saul was to bo nominated. Jhota 
Ram had returned to Jeypore. He was appointed to 
the command of the palace guards. This post afford­
ed him a pretext for going to the zenana to make 
reports ; in reality it enabled him to carry on his 
intrigues with the Rani, personal as well as- politi­
cal, as well as with the ruling favourite, Roopa 
Buddarum. The Rani actually proposed Jhota 
Ram as Mookhtar; but Captain Low, the new Politi­
cal Agent, gave her a positive refusal.

First Conn- The first Council of the Thakoors was held at 
Of the MiZ Jeypore in October 182G.1 At this Council it was 
ter- decided that the rule of the Regent Rani had

ceased, and the office of Regent was confirmed on 
Rawul Beiree Saul.

Second Conn- A second Council was held at Jeypore the 
eilin favour f0p 0Wino. [November, and set aside the decision

of the first Council. There was a more formal and 
careful scrutiny of votes in the presence of Sir 
Charles Metcalfe and the Political Agent. I t  was 
decided by a majority of votes that the Regency 
of the Rani was the legitimate government of the 
country. . The votes however were nearly balanced.

1 General letter, 28th J uly 1828.



A large and exasperated party expressed its dis­
satisfaction, and was indignant w ith the E an i’s 
favourites. A petition was presented against the 
favourites, urging th a t the E ani was hound to 
follow the advice of the Thakoors. The petitioners 
called on the British government either to settle 
the affairs of Jeypore as the param ount power, or 
permit them  to do it themselves. They said they 
could do so without bloodshed. Two of the three 
J  eypore battalions a t the capital had declared for 
their party. Their plan was to imprison Jho ta  
Earn, and the female slave Eoopa Buddarum.

Sir Charles Metcalfe considered th a t as the gov- Govern- 
eminent of the Eegent E ani had been pronounced declines to in­
legitimate, the British government had no further terfere' 
power to interfere. The Government of India de­
cided that it had no alternative bu t to  permit the 
insurrection, or support the Earn and her favourites; 
and accordingly declined to interfere.

The disorders and confusion which followed are violent 
almost beyond description.1 The conduct of the  ofthel{anL 
E ani soon became more outrageous th an  ever. She 
instigated the plunder of villages belonging to 
Thakoors who had incurred her displeasure, even 
though their protection had been guaranteed by the 
British government. There were some threats of 
advancing a British force against J  eypore, b u t 
nothing seems to have been done.

Meanwhile Captain Low had been ordered2 by the ap® 2 2 £ i 
Government of India to press the E an i’s government

1 General letter, 10th April 1829.
8 General letter, 8th May 1829,
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for the payment of arrears of tribute ; and if neces­
sary to attach a certain portion of the khalsa lands. 
Captain Low seems to have remonstrated some­
what strongly with the Regent Rani. The Govern­
ment of India subsequently observed that the re­
marks used by him as regards the Rani s favourite 
and advisers were not justified in diplomatic corre­
spondence between independent States. Ihe Rani 
urged that there would be no improvement in the 
administration unless Jhota Ram was appointed 
Mookhtar, or Prime Minister. She used every 
effort to induce Captain Low to favour the elevation 
of Jhota Ram. She declared that if the experiment 
was only tried for twelve months, or oven foi six 
months, the arrears of tribute should be promptly 
paid. Captain Low replied that the appointment 
would create general disgust throughout the whole 
territory of Jeypore.

Views of Captain Low reported all these proceedings to 
officers01' ^  the Resident at Delhi, and referred to the former 

orders of the Government of India on the subject.
He remarked that the toleration of such an appoint­
ment would amount to an approval. Sir Edward 
Colebrooke had by this time succeeded Sir Charles 
Metcalfe as’.Resident at Delhi. He couldnot recon­
cile the opposition of the Government of India to 
the appointment of Jhota Ram with its proposed 
policy of non-interference in the affairs of Jeypore.
I f  the existing administration of J  eypore was to be 
continued, it should be left entirely unfettered. Pri­
vate anecdotes of secret scandal were in his opinion
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beneath the notice of a great government. The ap­
pointment of Jhota Earn was further recommended 
by the promise of the Bani to pay up the arrears 
of tribute to the British government.

The Government of India observed that the pro-x ment of In*
posed measure involved some sacrifice of consis- dia refuses to

interferetency; at first it was even likely to aggravate 
existing discontents and animosities. But the 
abilities of Jhota Earn had not been denied, and, 
under existing circumstances, he already exercised 
a  powerful influence over the mind of the Eani.
I t  was therefore decided to accept the Bani’s pro­
position as an experiment. But no avowed support 
was to he given to Jhota Earn to induce the 
Thakoors and people to maintain him in office.
Jhota Earn was accordingly appointed Mookh- 
ta r ; and the tribute for the year ending with April 
1827 was duly paid to the British authorities.

Meanwhile the conduct1 of the Jeypore govern- Encourage­
ment in connection with the Jodhpore rebellion had poi^rS.*1" 
been most unsatisfactory. There was no objection 
to the grant of asylum to exiled Thakoors; hut 
the exiles had been allowed to collect forces in 
Jeypore territory, and to form a junction with 
Dowkul Singh. The only excuse that was put 
forward by the E ani’s administration was that of 
being prevented by real inability to check the pro­
ceedings of the exiles. Such an excuse could not 
absolve Jeypore from its responsibility. If  the

1 General letter, 3rd October 1829, For an account of tbe Jodbpora 
rebellion, see the present summary under the next head of “Jodhpore/*
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Maharaja of Jodhpore had been independent of 
British supremacy, he would have had a right to 
retaliate. I t  was this consideration that induced 
the British government to help the Maharaja 
against his rebellious Thakoors. In  thus record­
ing its views the Government of India added, that 
it had no wish to interfere in the internal affairs of 
protected States, but it was bound to prevent all 
hostile acts between them. *

Action of Under these circumstances the Regent Rani was 
ment of India, told that the Government of India was displeased at 

her conduct, and that it was possible she would 
have to make compensation to Joclhpore for the 
losses sustained by the Maharaja from the rebel 
Thakoors.

,Tk>ta Ram Meanwhile the Rani Regent had appointed Jhota
Ram to be Mookhtar or Manager, and took pains to
represent the acquiescence of the Government of
India as amounting to sanction and approval. The
Thakoors in opposition expressed on their part
great surprise and bitterness at the change of
policy on the part of the British government.

Character The administration of J h o t a  Ram began with a 
o* the new , «
ad minis tr a- show of improvement. Some steps wore tauen 

for regulating the police and protecting the high­
way, by subjecting all Thakoors to the forfeiture of 
their jaghirs, who failed to pay up compensation 
for losses on account of plunder committed within 
the limits of their estates. I t  was also proposed 
to reduce the garrisons in all the Raja’s forts, and 
to dispossess several of the Thakoors who held the

' fj ‘ . *
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lucrative post of Killadar or Commandant. I t  was 
believed by Captain Low that these ostensible mea­
sures of reform were really planned for the ruin of 
the Thakoors, whose protection was guaranteed by the 
British government, in order to involve them in 
penalties and forfeitures.

The Government of India took the question of Question of 
these guaranteed Chiefs into consideration. Those g^l™‘lteed 
who had voted against the Rani Regent in 1826 
had been assured of the protection of the British 
government against oppression on that account.
I t  was decided that this guarantee did not commit 
the British government to any interference in 
measures which equally affected the whole body of 
Thakoors. Local information, alone could enable 
the Government of India to decideon individual 
cases.

A11 this while Jeypore and Jodhporc were bringing Responsi -
1 * « i 11 i Tf-fl bihtics ofcharges against each other, and Ulwar was com- Native states, 

plaining of the action of Jeypore. A distinction 
was laid down hy the Government of India between 
premeditated acts directly ordered hy one or other 
of the governments, and outrages perpetrated 
hy subjects without the sanction of their own 
government. Accordingly each case was ordered to 
be separately reported.

In  1830 the Political Agency at Jeyporewas with- , Withdraw- 
drawn.1 At this time there was a serious insurree- tical Agency, 
tion in Jeypore. The Rani Regent was urgently

1 General letter, 4th March 1831.
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■  imploring the British government for the assistance
I I  of a detachment of British troops.
■  charges jn  18321 the (Governor-General received letters j
I  * ex-Mintter.0 from the Regent Rani and the Manager Jhota
|9  Ram, charging Rawul Beiree Saul and his son j
1  with having instigated the murder of the brother of
H  Jhota Ram. One Jeypore force was being sent
«  against the fort of Samode belonging to the Rawul;
H  and another against the fort of Chowmoora belong-
H  |  ing to his son. The murder was to have been

committed by a Chundamunt Rajput j but the man 
m  had made a full confession, which was forwarded
l |  to the Governor-General. The confession was ac-
H  companied by a declaration, signed by tliirty-nine
H  Jeypore Thakoors, expressing their astonishment t
■  j; at such an atrocious attempt.
| |  ' The Governor-General in his replies expressed
H  the Govern- his surprise at the proposed attack on. a chieftain
| l j  mentot India. w]10 was aTOwedly under British protection. The |
|  Rani Regent was assured that the charge against-
|  the Rawul should be investigated by a British
■  |  officer. In  the event of conviction, the Rawul
H  should forfeit his right to the British guarantee;
H  and the Rani Regent would be left to deal with
H  him and his son as she might deem fit.
■  Investic-a Major Speirs, the British Superintendent at
H  tloh of the A] mere, was ordered to proceed at once to Jey pore, to
E l  charges' recall thef orces sent against Samode and Chowmoora,
|  and to begin the investigation of the charge against
H  the R a w u l  and his son. If the Jeypore government

> Separate letter, 30th August 1833.



offered any resistance to his proceedings, he was 
to assure the authorities that a British army would 
be sent against the country without loss of time.
Major Speirs proceeded to Jeypore. Jhota Ram 
was very reluctant to recall the Jeypore forces 
pending the investigation, hut at last consented.
Both the Rani Regent and Jhota Bam wrote letters 
to the Governor-General, which were considered to 
he highly objectionable. Major Speirs concluded 
his investigation in the force of great obstruc­
tions. In  forwarding the evidence to the Gov­
ernment of India, he expressed his belief that 
no proof had been adduced that the Bawul or 
his son were in any way engaged in intrigues 
against Jhota Bam or his brother.

The Government of India concurred in this view, Secret plot 
and instructed Major Speirs to inform the Jeypore S t k t e ? 6 
government accordingly. The Government of 
India was further of opinion that the alleged a t­
tempt at assassination was a deeply laid plot devised 
by the enemies of the Bawul to effect his ruin.
Regret was expressed that the Jeypore authorities 
should have shown so much eagerness in accepting 
the accusation brought against Bawul Beiree Saul.
The alleged assassin was said to have been led by 
the love of lucre to agree to the commission of the 
crim e; but the crime itself was alleged to have been 
committed under circumstances which would have 
rendered it utterly impossible for the criminal to 
have reaped the reward of his iniquity. The Jey­
pore authorities seemed to have been under the

K ' . I l l
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impression that the guarantee of the Eawul only lasted 
during the minority. The Maharaja of Jeypore had 
attained his majority; and the orders for the ad­
vance of the troops against Samode and Chowmoora 
had been issued in the name of the Maharaja.

Views of The views of-the Governor-General were explain- 
ment r fT -  ed to the young Maharaja to the following effect. 
dia- His Lordship could not conjecture the grounds on

which it had been supposed that the guarantee ceased 
with the minority. He desired to see such a recon­
ciliation between the Maharaja and the Eawul as 

- would induce the latter to surrender the guarantee; 
but the pledge would be maintained until the 
Eawul resigned it of his own free will, or so long 
as he abstained from any act which would involve 
its forfeiture.

Complaints The Governor-General Lord William Eentinck 
of JhotaRam. ^  w  Qn tom. . antj jho ta  Earn had the honour

of a conference with His Lordship at Agra. The 
sentiments of the Governor-General as regards 
the Eawul were fully explained to him. In  reply 
Jhota Earn complained that Lieutenant-Colonel 
Lockett, the British Eesident at Delhi, was un­
favourably disposed towards his administration. 

k 4. , Colonel Lockett was told by the Governor-Gen-
Lord William erai that the Jeypore government could not pros- 
Uentinck. ^  unlcss he treated it with indulgence; that the

tribute imposed on Jeypore was very heavy; that 
the system of granting guarantees of protection 
to individuals, however necessary they might have 
been, had a tendency to embarrass the State. He
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was desired to refuse all interviews with the Vakeel 
of the Rawul excepting in cases of emergency; and 
to take every opportunity of showing his de­
termination to support the authority of the Jeypore 
State against Rawul Beiree Saul, or any one else, 
who m ight strive to become independent of its 
control.

Colonel Lockett was also told that there was no Policy to 
portion of the Upper Provinces in which the Gov- In prI ^ o\- 
ernor-General took so warm an interest as the ana‘
States of Rajpootana. The firmest reliance was 
placed on his judgment and discretion, but still 
it was necessary to apprise him that no improve­
ment could be expected for the present; i t  was 
enough if the Chiefs abstained from aggressions on 
their neighbours, and paid their tribute with punc­
tuality. Any interference of British officers in 
their internal affairs would be in the highest degree 
pernicious. I t  therefore behoved the British re­
presentative to abstain from concerning himself 
about the personal cnaracter or qualifications of 
the individuals to whom the administration of 
affairs might be entrusted. Colonel Lockett 
replied that Jhota Ram’s complaints were utterly 
groundless, and that the tribute was by no 
means heavy or unreasonable considering the 
protection afforded, and the extent of the mili­
tary expenditure.

In  1833 Colonel Lockett reported the death of DistmW 
the Tkakoor of Bussoo! This Thakoor exercised wati’.1 :S!lHkha*

x General letter, 10th July 1834.
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absolute powers over the Shelchawati freebooters,
and it was hoped that his decease would lead to 
their suppression. The Government of India had 
given its attention for some tim e past to the neces­
sity of adopting measures to curb the lawless 
propensities of the Shelchawati tribes. In  Decem­
ber 1832, a woman and child had been carried off 
from Rewari. Colonel Lockett recovered the 
captives, but was reminded of the necessity for 
punishing the offenders. In  March 1833 and 
the following June, there were more aggressions 
and outrages. Colonel Lockett was directed to 
tell the Jeypore Court that it was held responsible 
for every outrage committed by its subjects 
or dependents; that unless ample redress was 
afforded, the British government would right itself 
either by seizing and retaining the territory of the 
offending part, or by employing an army to exact 
satisfaction by force from the Jeypore State.

Birth Of a In  October 1833 it  was announced that one of the 
*on and heir, ^ h a r a j a ’s Ranis had given birth  to a son and heir 

to the Raj. Colonel Lockett reported some zenana 
intrigues impugning the authenticity of the birth.
The Government of India told him that unless he 
could adduce positive evidence, the customary con­
gratulations would not be withheld. !

Continued About this time several objectional letters 
S h eof the were received from the Maharaja and Rani Regent.
Rani- Colonel Lockett was instructed to tell the Jeypore j

Durbar that no notice would be taken of the letters, 
and no others could be received, until a proper form



of address was adopted. Subsequently son^e British 
sepoys and others were murdered in Jeypore territory.
Colonel Lockett called on the Jeypore State for 
the apprehension and punishment of the persons 
implicated. The Rani Regent of Jeypore1 died on 
the 20th of February 1834, after keeping the country 
in a disorderly and troubled condition for sixteen 
years. The usual letter of condolence was sent 
by the Governor-General to the Maharaja. The 
reported murder of the British sepoys was said to 
be without foundation.

The death of the Rani Regent in February2 1834, 'Views or 
induced Lord William Bentinck’s government in the Bentmck.haia 
following April to address a letter to Major Speirs,
Political Agent at A j mere, to the following effect:
His Lordship observed that the Maharaja being 
now of full age would naturally assume the govern­
ment of his country; and that the present moment 
seemedla suitable opportunity for effecting a recon­
ciliation between the Jeypore authorities and Rawul 
Beiree Saul. The Agent at Ajmere was accordingly 
requested to turn his attention to the best means of 
accomplishing this most desirable object; and, if

I practicable, of relieving the British government 
from the embarrassment of future interference with 
the internal politics of the Jeypore principality.

His Lordship added that he was not without strong 
hopes that Beiree Saul vrould himself willingly

§ 1 General letter, 13th November 1834.
* General letter, 6th April 1835.

'
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X  ̂ V  X accede to any reasonable arrangement with a view
to the accommodation of existing differences. In  
reply it appeared that it had been frequently 
intimated by the local political officers to a mem­
ber of the family, that the guarantee given to 
Beiree Saul extended to his son.

British in- The Government of India was now1 resolved to 
Shekhawati!" take active measures for the suppression of the 

Shekhawati freebooters; to sequestrate the tract, 
to assume all the light, exercised by Jeypore over 
Shekhawati, and take over the tribute hitherto paid 
by the Chiefs to the Jeypore State. This arrange­
ment was to be carried out and continued until the 
Jeypore government proved that it had tho power 
and inclination to keep the predatory tribes in order.

Opposition Major Alves, the Agent to the Governor-General 
presin T  for Eajpootana, reported facts which clearly proved 
Thuggee. y ie j eypore authorities were resolved to resist

tho efforts of the British government to extirpate 
the Thug confederacy. Unless this resistance 
was overcome, the measures taken against the 
Thugs would prove of no avail. The time had 
come for the Government of India to interfere with 
the whole weight of its authority. The opposi­
tion of Jodhpore was even greater than that of 
Jeypore.

Sequestra. The Government of India resolved to sequestrato 
tion of Sam- jpe iny0 and districts of Sambhur until such time 

as the Jodhpore government had fulfilled all the 
conditions to which it was bound by its r e c e n t

1 Separate letter, 22nd January 1835.
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engagement, anti the Jeypore government should 
have given satisfactory proof of its readiness to 
co-operate with the British government for the 
suppression of Thuggee.

Major Alves took possession of Sliekhawati with of g“ê v°" 
a  British force, without encountering the slightest ti. 
resistance. The Chiefs acceded to every measure he 
proposed. He met however with much evasion and 
intrigue from the Jeypore Durbar.

In  1831 the question1 of the British guarantee to th?ueŝ " ;^  
Rawul Beiree Saul was again brought under the con- guarantee of

, ,  ,  the Jfix-M mis-
sideration of the Government of India, together ter and his- 

with that of his son, the young Chief of Chow- son' 
moora.. Sir Charles Metcalfe, the Vice-President at 
Calcutta, intimated to the Government of India at 
Ootacamund, his opinion that the spirit, if not 
the letter of the engagement of the British govern­
ment, required that the estate of the son should be 
equally protected with that of the father. Gliow- 
moora and Samode were in the immediate neigh­
bourhood of each other; it was understood that 
they originally formed parts of the same estate.
The two members of the family were so completely 
identified by the ties of relationship and interest, 
that unless the Chief of Chowmoora were also pro­
tected, the guarantee of the Rawul would, under 
existing circumstances, become nugatory. There 
was little doubt that the desire entertained by Jhota 
Ram to destroy Rawul Beiree Saul would lead to

1 General letter, 6tb July 1835.
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hostile measures against Chowmoora if the British 
guarantee were withdrawn.

views i>£ Meanwhile Lord William Bentinck’s government 
Inent* of' * in- at Ootacamund referred to the Vice-President and 
cha Couneil a t Calcutta for their sentiments as regards

the perplexing question of whether the estate of 
Chowmoora was included in the guarantee to Rawul 
Beiree Saul. The President and Council at Calcutta 
expressed their concurrence with the view already 
taken by Major Alves, the Agent to the Governor- 
General for Rajpootana:—

1st.—That the possession of Chowmoora had been 
recently confirmed on the son of Rawul Beiree 
Saul by a formal proceeding, in Which the British 
Agent took an active part.

2nd.—That if the Jeypore authorities were allowed 
to resume the estate by a violent act of spoliation at 
this juncture, it would throw discredit on the British 
government.

3rd.—That these conclusions afforded an addi­
tional reason for preventing the Jeypore authorities 
from committing such an unwarrantable injustice.

Lord William Bentinck’s government at Ootaca­
mund concurred in these sentiments. Major Alves 
was informed accordingly, and directed to commu­
nicate the decision of the Government of India to 
the Court of Jeypore.

Suspicious Subsequent to the above proceeding1 some ex- 
“  °f tLe traordinary events took place in Jeypore, which were

1 Separate letter, 4tli May 1835.



communicated to the Court of Directors in special
letters. The Raja of Jeypore died suddenly under 
circumstances which led to a general belief th a t he 
had been poisoned by Jhota Ram. The Government 
of India feared that an investigation of the charge 
would probably load to no satisfactory results.
Jhota Ram  had requested to be relieved of his post 
as Minister.

Major Alvei was ordered to proceed to Jeypore, . lWestiga- 
and inform Jhota Ram. that his request was grant- Aiives'' ’ ^°r 
ed ; tha t the British government was glad that he 
had made it of his own accord; that it had already 
determined to undertake the guardianship of the 
infant son of the deceased Raja, and to require 
the Minister to withdraw from Jeypore. Jhota 
Ram’s retirement from public life was not to 
preclude further enquiry, or punishment in the 
case of satisfactory evidence of his guilt. A 
proclamation was also issued explaining that the 
British, government had no other object in view 
than the maintenance of one of the ancient 
States of Rajpootana, and promoting the dignity 
and interests of its ally, the infant successor to 
the Raj.

Subsequently Major Alves reported that all classes General 
of natives were impressed with the conviction BM kt Jan. 
of Jhota Ram’s g u ilt; that all were anxious that ag®ment- 
the British government should save them from 
the deplorable effects of Jhota Ram’s administra­
tion, by departing from its policy of non-interfer-
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ence, and establishing an efficient government at 
Jeypore during the minority by the exercise of its 
authority as a paramount power. Major Alves 
recommended the appointment of a Political Agent 
at Jeypore.

tijni8'oDf'the Tlie Government of India was disinclined*to take
Oovernment such a strong measure of intervention. I t  was 

anxious to do no more than undertake the guardian­
ship of the Raja, leaving the administration to be 
national and Jeyporean, without any interference 
of British authority unless it should become un­
avoidable.

Murder of Major Alves accordingly proceeded to Jeypore,
1W r, B1 itltc. *

accompanied by Mr. Blake,1 who was one of the 
Assistants to the Agent. On the morning of the 
4th of June 1835 they had a conference with the 
Ranis a t the palace. On leaving the palace there 
was a sudden outbreak. Major Alves was attacked 
and seriously wounded, but managed to escape with 
his life. Mr. Blake was barbarously murdered, 

th^murdor- The government demanded the immediate arrest 
era. and punishment of the murderers by the Jeypore

government. Pive had been already executed by 
the spontaneous action of the Jeypore authorities. 
Major Alves was gradually recovering from his 
wounds.

1 General letter, 6th July 1835.
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K ISIIEN GHUR.

In  1827 Sir Charles Metcalfe, the Resident at n0̂ yrfer°f 
Delhi, reported to the Government of India1 that a ence. 
dispute had arisen ‘between the Raja of Kishenghur 
and the Thakoor of Futtehghur, one of the members 
of the Raja’s own family. Lord Amherst agreed 
with Sir Charles Metcalfe tha t as the Thakoor was a 
dependent of Kishenghur, the British government 
would not interfere, except to recommend submis­
sion to the Thakoor and forgiveness to the 
Raja.

W hen the R aja of Kishenghur was informed of ce8Di|î “: 
these orders he began to resume some of the Eutteh- ghur. 

ghur villages; whilst the Thakoor began to retaliate 
by making depredations on Kishenghur territory.
The consequence was that subjects of the British 
government were said to have been plundered by 
both parties.

Subsequently the Raja of Kishenghur sent a  Complaints 
remonstrance to the Government of India against J ^ Bt Jodh* 
the Maharaja of Jodhpore, alleging that the latter 
had sheltered and countenanced his refractory sub­
jects. He claimed the help of the British govem- 

, ment under the treaty of 1818 to put down the 
I rebellion of Euttelighur and capture the fortress.

1 General letter, 8th May 1829.



, v.io,T* . of By tliis time Lord "William Bentinck had arrived
Lord William . i a
Bentinck. in India as Governor-General. The Government 

of India was willing to investigate the charge 
against Jodlipore, and to prevent Jodlipore from 
interfering in the domestic concerns of his neigh­
bour K ishenghur; but was of opinion that the com­
plaint against Jodlipore was unfounded or exag­
gerated. No help could be given to the Raja 
of Kishenghur in the reduction of Futtehghur, 
as the treaty of 1818 left him  free to manage 
the internal affairs of his estate, and only bound 
the British government to protect him against 
external enemies. As regards the losses incurred 
by British subjects, the Raja of Kishenghur was 
told that the British government could not permit 
such depredations. If  repeated, the Government of 
India would interfere and settle the differences 
between the Raja and his subjects on just principles 
to prevent the further extension of anarchy.

More die- The high road soon became dangerous to travel- 
turbances. jers> Futtehghur was bent on ruining the trade of 

Kishenghur, and compelling the British govern­
ment to interfere. I t  was currently believed that 
if the Government of India would not interfere to 
protect the people of Kishenghur, it would certainly 
interfere to protect its own subjects. Meanwhile 
the Maharaja was wasting his time at Delhi, vainly 
calling for the help of British troops, and accusing 
Jeyporeand Jodlipore of assisting his rebel subjects.

Flight, o! Kishenghur was thus abandoned to the insurgents, 
the Baja. ypc jja ja  was ordered to return to his territory at
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once, or the British government would consider the
propriety of abrogating the treaty, and concluding 
separate arrangements with the insurgent Thakoors.
The Itaja  was also told that the disorders had arisen 
from his attem pting to resume the villages of his 
Thakoors contrary to the advice of the British 
government.

The Ita ja  of Kishenghur left D elh i; he proceeded imbecility 

through his own territory without stopping,1 and ofthf)Ka:ia" 
then went on to Ajmere. H is imbecility was sur­
prising. At Ajmere his troops were clamouring 
for arrears of pay, and his life was in danger. The 
Political Agent gave his word for their payment, 
and they were immediately satisfied. The B aja 
then laid siege toPuttehghur. There he was deserted 
by his Itajputs, and disobeyed by his new levies, 
and fled disgracefully to Ajmere.

The Jagliirdars of Kishenghur then rose in a  insuwec.
P body and captured all the B aja’s forts, excepting h°n' 

the one at Kishenghur, which was defended by his 
mother. The B aja then offered to farm, his terri­
tories to the British government for twelve years.
He was willing to take one-fifth of the net revenues 
for his personal expenses, and to retire altogether 
to Delhi. The Government of India raised no 
objection to the R aja’s going to Delhi, bu t refused 
to take over the management of Kishenghur.

The B aja continued to be as imbecile as ev er; Retirement 
but the differences with the  Jagliirdars were ^
brought to an amicable conclusion. The B aja left

£2? • KISHENGHUR. 6 5  <SL

1 General letter, 3rd October 1829.
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Kishenghur under tlie management of his mother, 
and took refuge in a sanctuary near the city of 
Jodhpore. I t  was the general opinion that he was 
insane. . *

*

. •' | £



JODHPORE.
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Prior to 1818 the territory of Jodhpore was Ravages of 
completely exhausted by the inroads of Amir Khan. Atmrllhan- 
Man Singh had been M aharaja ever since 1803, but 
had been terrified by Amir Khan into abdication and 
pretended insanity, and his only son assumed the 
Regency. The son died shortly after Jodhpore was 
brought under British protection; and then M an 
Singh threw off the mask of insanity, and resumed 
the administration.

In  1820 Alan Singh frequently solicited the Disaffected 
assistance of British troops to reduce his refractory Thakoors' 
nobles and settle the administration. The Govern - 

, naent of India had repeatedly declared its strong 
objections to interfere in the internal affairs of any 
of the Rajpoot States; bu t still it was disposed to 
help the Maharaja, provided he would fully and 
frankly explain his existing embarrassments and 
future objects. This was all the more necessary in 
the case of Jodhpore, because the Maharaja had 
recently treated his Ministers and Thakoors with 
excessive violence, and p u t several to death; and it 
was feared tha t he only wanted British help in 
order to continue these revengeful and barbarous 
proceedings.

1 General letter, 2nd May 1823.
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Severities In  1822 some further information was furnished1 
singiT Ma“ respecting the severities practised by Man Singh.

The Thakoors in question had conspired against his 
life, and he had discovered the plot and driven them 
into exile. No means were spared to persuade the 
Maharaja to pursue a milder course. The Maha­
raja replied that he was most averse to severe 
measures, and sincerely wished to forgi\ e and foi- 
get the past misconduct of his Thakoors ; but that 
the seditious spirit had broken out afresh ; fresh 
conspiracies were formed against his life, and he 
had no alternative, especially as the Thakoors were 
under the impression that the British government 
was favourable to their cause.

Arrest of In  18232 there was an improvement in the admin- 
J a S X h  istration of Jodhpore. The Thakoors, however, 
protection. gtill out5 whilst the Maharaja protested against 

the interference of the British government. The 
Agents of the expatriated Thakoors had been long 
remaining in the camp of the Resident, Sir David 
Ochterlony, and were at last dismissed with assur­
ances of safety. On arriving at Jodhpore, they 
w ere seized by the Maharaja, and placed in close 
imprisonment. The fact was reported to the Resi­
dent by a newswriter a t Jodhpore. Sir David 
Ochterlony instantly dismissed the Jodhpore Vakeel 
from his camp. He would have proceeded at once 
to Jodhpore, but the cattle and carriage of the 
Residency were at Neemuch. ___

1 General letter, 12th September 1823, 
a General letter, lOtli September 1824,
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The Government of India, ordered the Maharaja Orders of 
to ho told that the Vakeels had proceeded !o Jodh- of °india' 
pore under a virtual if not actual guarantee for their 
safety; it was hoped that the affair was a mistake of 
the newswriter. I t  was suggested that Mr. Wilder, the 
Superintendent at A jmere, should proceed to Jodhpore.

Mr. Wilder’s mission proved successful.1 Man Settlement 

Singh agreed to pardon and reinstate the Thakoors, cuity.10 
except the two Chiefs of Boondsoo and Chundawut; 
and the offences of these men had proved so atro­
cious that their restoration could not be pressed upon 
the Maharaja. I t  was agreed that the Govern­
ment of India should not interfere if the reinstated 
Thakoors broke out again.

Man Singh transferred the Jodhpore villages in Affairs of 
Mhairwarra to British management for a period Mhau'warra- 
of eight years. He further agreed to pay Its. 15,000 
yearly towards the maintenance of the local corps 
of Bheels at Beawur. The net revenue of the villa­
ges was to he paid to Jodhpore, after the deduction 
of the yearly contribution.

At this time there were complaints against the Domestic 
Maharaja for alleged oppression towards his consort, troubles' 
who was a princess of Jeypore. A strong feeling 
on this point existed in the Jeypore Durbar. The 
Maharaja furnished assurances and explanations 
on this head, which appeared to he satisfactory.

Some of the refractory Thakoors2 delayed return" Submission 
ing to their homes in the hope of getting better con- chief,f.raCt°r:r

1 General letter, 31st May 1826.
3 General letter, 27th July 1826.
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iitions from the Maharaja. At last Mr. Wilder 
iold them that the Maharaja had performed all his 
engagements to the British government, and that 
;he affair must he considered at an end. The Govern­
ment of India approved of this withdrawal of the 
Political authorities from all further pressure on 
Maharaja Bam Singh. This appears to have 
brought matters to a crisis; and the settlement was 
brought to a close.

Complaints In  1827 there were complaints1 against the Maha- 
glur.Kl8hon' raja of having given shelter and countenance to 

certain rebel Thakoors of Kishenghur.
Oppressions In  1828 the Maharaja violated the conditions of 

H f i f ^ t h e  settlement which Mr. Wilders had concluded in 
tha Thakoors. He committed such acts of oppression that

the Thakoors implored the British government for 
redress. They were told that the British govern­
ment had always disclaimed any guarantee of the 
settlement. I t  would have amounted to a violation 
of the Maharaja’s rights of sovereignty, which it 
had always respected excepting in special cases of 
emergency. Some of the Thakoors rose in arms 
against the Maharaja and were plundering his 
country. Ajmere merchants had consequently lost 
much valuable property in Jodlipore territory. The 
Thakoors contemplated inviting Dhokul Singh, a 
former pretender to the Jodhpore throne, to return 
and revive his claim to the Baj. The Government 
of India remarked that there were no grounds for 
interference. The Maharaja had not requested

1 General letter, 8th May 1829.



assistance. Civil war was raging in Jodhpore; if the 
Maharaja could not put it  down, he would °see the 
necessity of yielding to the reasonable demands of 
the Thakoors.

The Maharaja soon grew tired of a war which pretensions 
only wasted his money and accomplished nothing. Singh.
He was ready to come to terms with all of them save 
one. A t this moment Dhokul Singh fled from his 
retreat on the Delhi frontier into 'Rajpootana. He 
was assisted by the Raja of Khetree, a dependent of 
Jeypore j also by a Jaghirdar of the British govern­
ment. He joined the insurgent Thakoors who had 
taken shelter in the Sliekawati country.

The Resident at Delhi, S irE . Colebrooke, author- Action of 
ised the Political Agent at Aj mere to call on the Resident. 
Officer Commanding the Rajpootana Field Force for 
military help, should it  become necessary for the 
security of Jodhpore city and the safety of the 
Maharaja.

The Government of India disapproved of this pro- Views of 
ceeding. The Resident was directed to recall his mentG<rfeinj 
orders. He was told that the authority of the Gov- dia- 
ernment of India was necessary to the issue of 
such orders, except in very rare occasions of emer­
gency. The Government of India had first to consider 
whether it  was desirable to maintain such a prince 
as Man Singh on the throne of Jodhpore.

Dhokul Singh took1 the field with a large force Progress of 
and devastated the country far and w ide; but want tLn •’call'for 
of guns prevented him from capturing any of the ®” nce inter"

1 General letter, 3rd October 1829.
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iharaja’s fortresses. Tlie Maliaraja loudly begged

• the interference of the British government. At 
t the Government of India agreed to help him on 

me condition that he submitted his disputes with 
the Thakoors to their arbitration. Assistance, it was 
said, might be given to princes in cases of usurpation 
or against wanton and powerful rebellion, but not 
against universal disaffection caused by their own 
injustice, incapacity and misrule. The Maharaja 
of Jodhpore insisted on the other hand that 
he possessed an unconditional right to the sup­
port of the British government against his in- 
surgent Chiefs. This was totally inadmissible, and 
required to he silenced at once. I t  was incum­
bent on princes to have the power of controlling 
their subjects, and if those subjects were driven 
into rebellion the rulers must take the consequences. 
There was no obligation on the part of the'• British 
government to support the ruler under such cir­
cumstances.

plight of I t  was soon known that the Government of India 
s£ghul contemplated active interference in the affairs of 

Oodeypore. Dhokul Singh was told that he could 
never he a party in any engagements that might be 
concluded between Maharaja Alan Singh under the 
mediation of the British government. He separated 
himself from the confederate Thakoors and returned 
to his old retreat.

Returning The Maharaja professed his gratitude to the Bri- 
tranquiiiity. government for the promised mediation. The

Thakoors complained that it had deprived them



of their leader* and placed them at the mercy of 
the Maharaja. Both parties however were wearied 
tmt and exhausted with the struggle, and prepared 
to come to an accommodation.

Subsequently the claims of the Jodhpore State Claim* 
against Serohi were taken into consideration. The Serohi. 
Maharaja of Jodhpore insisted on his right to levy 
tribute from Serohi. The Resident a t Delhi 
found great difficulty in disposing of this claim.
Jodhpore had frequently invaded Serohi in order 
to enforce this claim. But such invasions were 
merely predatory incursions. No regular tribute was 
ever voluntarily paid by Serohi. The Government 
of India decided that Jodhpore had no rightful 

: claim to levy tribute on Serohi.
In  1829 it was discovered tha t Appa Sahib/ the AppaSahft 

ex-Raja of Nagpore, who had been in hiding ever &t Jodhpol9‘ 
since 1818, had taken up his residence in the City 

l of Jodhpore. One of his servants revealed the fact 
I to the British authorities out of revenge for some 
f alleged ill-treatment that he had received from his 

master.
The Maharaja of Jodhpore was bound by treaty, Objection* 

and by the nature and spirit of the alliance, to tosurrendw' 
deliver up the enemies of the British government. 
Nevertheless he represented that his honour and 
reputation would suffer in the eyes of his subjects, 
and in the estimation of all the Chiefs and people 
of Rajpootana, if he surrendered a dethroned prince 
who had sought an asylum within his territories.

1 Separate letter, 9th October 1829.



In  the find the Government of India resolved 
not to press the demand. The Maharaja gave a 
solemn pledge that lie would be answerable for 
Appa Sahib, and undertake that no future attempts 
would be made by the treacherous Maharatta to 
attem pt further disturbances.

Complaints j n  1838 the Jodhpore Contingent* was  ̂or- 
M SsinSr dered to Ajmere, but was found to be deficient 

in numbers and efficiency. Complaints weie 
also brought against Jodhpore of aggressions on 
the territories of Jessulmere and Oodeypore. The 
Government of India still maintained a spirit 
of forbearance towards Man Singh, and was un­
willing to pronounce that he had violated the 
treaty. This was the first occasion that the  
services of the Jodhpore Contingent were called 
for. The force was certainly deficient in 
numbers and efficiency, but it was hoped that a 
remonstrance would suffice to meet the case. The 
Contingent was sent back to Jodhpore. Colonel 
Lockett was told that the British government 
did not intend calling for the services of the 
Jodhpore forces in time of peace, but only in time
of war.

Aggressions s regards the aggressions of J  odhpore on Jessu - 
Z t o X -  mere territory, the Maharaja offered such futile 
pore' excuses by way of palliation, that the Government

of India resolved to take serious notice of the out­
rage. Man Singh was told that he was held res­
ponsible for the amount of damage, and that unless 

1 General letter, 13th March 1833.
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he satisfied the Ram il of Jessultnere within a 
reasonable period, the British government would 
take measures to enforce redress. The amount of 
compensation was fixed a t about eight thousand 
rupees. As regards the aggressions on Oodey- 
pore territory, the evidence was not sufficient 
to support the charge ; further information was 
called for.

In  1834 Major Alves adjusted all questions1 pend- T 
ing with the Maharaja of Jodhpore, but obtained Bentinck. 
no security for the payment of the expense of the 
military operations, and for the due performance of 
the conditions to which he had agreed. In  the 
letter to the Court of Directors, signed by Lord 
William Bentinck, the following observations are 
made: “ The entire want of faith, and the habitual
disregard of the wishes of the Supreme Government, 
which has hitherto characterised the proceedings of 
Maharaja Man Singh, renders it impossible to place 
any trust on the simple assurances of his intention 
to fulfil the conditions of his engagement into which 
his plenipotentiaries have entered on his behalf; and 
unless the British government hold a pledge in its 
hands, it could not be said to have any security 
tha t is just claims would be satisfied. ”

I t  was under these circumstances th a t the Gov- Sequestra, 
eminent of India resolved2 to sequestrate the  j^"rof Sam“ 
lake and district of Sambhur until such tim e 
as the Jodhpore government had fulfilled all the 
conditions to which it was bound.

1 vSeparate letter, 23rd January 1835.
4 Separate letter, 22nd January 1835.



JESST7LMERE.

British in- in  1824, Mr. "Wilder, the Political Agent attprfereoce.
Ajmere, reported1 th a t it had been necessary to in-, 
ter fere in Jessulmere. The Maharawul charged his 
Minister with having committed an atrocious mur­
der. H e summoned the parties accused in order 
to hold an investigation. The Thakoor of Baroo 

. refused to deliver up the persons charged, although 
residing in  the city, and almost immediately within 
the precincts of the sovereign’s palace. Other 
Thakoors took the part of the  Minister. A t last 
Mr. W ilder sent a native on whom he could rely, to 
assure the  refractory Thakoors that the British 
government regarded their conduct as highly re­
prehensible. This proceeding induced the Thakoors 
to return to their allegiance.

Approval The Government of India deprecated all inter- 
ermnent G°o‘f Terence as a general rule, hut approved the action of 
India. Mr. W ilder in the present instance,

1 General letter, 31st May 182Q.
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BOONDI.

In Boondi the state of affairs strongly resembled bot̂ ""„,cttha 
that at Jeypore. The Raja died in July 1821. He Minister and 
■was succeeded by a minor aged eleven. A respon­
sible'Minister was placed in authority with the 
countenance1 of the British government. The Rani, 
the mother of the young Maharao, strove to usurp 
the sole authority. She abandoned herself to the 
counsels of a corrupt and interested faction, of 
which the chief members were a barber, a eunuch, 
and a slave girl. She did her best to thwart the 
Minister. The interests of the minor prince were 
totally neglected. There was the most wasteful 
expenditure, general disorder and mismanagement, 
and all the evils of a double government. In  1823,
Captain Caulfield, the Political Agent, proceeded to 
Boondi. The Rani promised amendment, bu t soon 
returned to her old courses. Captain Caulfield was 
directed by the Government of India to insist upon 
the removal of the favourites from the counsels of 
the Rani.

In  1821 the superintendence of the Political . *
Agent proved successful. He recommended* that Minister, 
the title of Raja should be conferred on the Minis­
ter. I t  had been customary for the Rao Rajas of

j 1 General letter, 10th September 1824.
* General letter, 31et May 1826,



'  '  Boondi to solicit similar titles for their own Ministers
from the Moghul Emperors; one Minister in  par­
ticular received the title  from Shah Alam, through 
the General Nujif Khan. The grant of such a title 
by the British government as the paramount power 
would, it was thought, tend to wean the minds of 
the Rajpoots generally from, the ideal dependency 
on the throne of Delhi. Accordingly the Govern­
ment of India authorised the Political Agent to 
confer the title on Kishen Ram in the name of the
Hon’ble Company. . .

In  1825 the reports1 of the state of affairs m
Boondi continued to be highly satisfactory.

Disputes Subsequently2 the young Maharao was married to 
p«e.Jodh" the daughter of the Maharaja of Jodhpore as his 

chief wife. The Rani mother took improper means 
to estrange him from his wife in  order to maintain 
her own exclusive ascendancy. The followers of 
the Jodhpore princess were very indignant, and 
would have avenged her wrongs but for fear of in­
curring the displeasure of the British government. 
Major Caulfield was authorised, to tell the Rani 
mother that the Government of India expected her 
to retire from all interference in  the affairs of the 
Raj, and her son’s zenana, as he was now of 
a sufficient age for superintending and regulating 
both. As the young Maharao had fully attained 
his majority, he was invited to assume the direction
of affairs. ________
“  ^General letter, 27th July 1826.

a General letter, 3rd July 1828.
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In  18301 fresh disturbances were excited in 
Boondi. The Minister was murdered by a man, 
who was strongly suspected of being an emissary 
of Man Singh of Jodhpore, the father of the Jodh- 
pore Rani of Boondi. On hearing of this event 
at Kotali, Mr. Trevelyan, the Acting Resident 
at Kotah, hastened to Boondi in order to prevent 
any collision between the forces of Boondi and a 
deputation of four hundred armed men, which had 
recently arrived at Boondi. The collision was 
fortunately averted, and the murderers of the 
Minister were punished by the Boondi Raja.

The settlement of Boondi affairs was reported Settlement 
home in a  special letter.3 The R aja of Boondi had of 
placed the eldest son of the murdered Minister in 
his father’s office. The Raja himself manifested 
much aptitude for public business, and purposed 
exercising a general control.

Mr. Hawkins, the Resident at Delhi, was of invest;ga-
. . , ,  , n  . ,  . tion depreca-opinion that no good would arise from an enquiry ted. 

as to how far the Maharaja of Jodhpore was con­
cerned in the late murder. The near relationship 
between the Maharaja of Jodhpore and the 
Maliarao of Boondi rendered it advisable to pacify 
both parties and bury the matter in oblivion. The 
Government of India entirely concurred in the 
views expressed by the Resident at Delhi.

Subsequently a warm controversy arose between obsolete 
Mr. Trevelyan, the Acting Resident at Kotah, and watro™*7'

1 General letter, 14th October 1830.
3 Separate letter, 24th December 1830.



Mr. Cavendish, the Superintendent at Ajmere. 
Mr. Trevelyan insisted on the guilt of Man Singh, 
and urged an investigation. Mr. Cavendish was 
diametrically opposed to this view. The controversy 
is obsolete.

Complaints Meanwhile Man Singh of Jodhpore represented 
of Jodhpore.*3 that the Minister had been slain by a Rajput for 

using abusive language towards his daughter, the 
wife of the Maharao of Boondi. He complained 
that the Maharao of Boondi had unjustly executed 
three or four confidential servants of the Jodlipore 
state on the false plea of their being concerned in the 
murder. The Maharaja appealed to the G overnor- 
General to deliver his daughter from the annoyance 
and misery to which she was exposed at Boondi. 

views of In  reply Lord William Bentinck expressed his 
Bentinok!*am extreme regret a t the melancholy occurrence which 

had taken place at Boondi. He remarked that 
whoever instigated the assassin was the cause of all 
that happened in consequence. There appeared 
however to be no way of remedying the past. The 
Maharao of Boondi had punished those whom he 
deemed guilty, in virtue of his undoubted right to 
exercise sovereign powers within his own dominions.
I t  therefore behoved all parties to forget all that had 
occurred. As regards the Rani, the Governor- 
General had great pleasure in  complying with the 
Maharaja’s wishes, and was confident that his daugh­
ter would be treated with all consideration and 
respect by the Maharao of Boondi. Subsequently it
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was ordered that Jodhpore midwives should be ad­
mitted into the zenana of the Boondi Rani at her 
coming accouchement. Mr. Cavendish, the Super­
intendent at A j mere, proposed to refer the quarrel 
between «Todhpore and Boondi to the arbitration of 
the Ran a of Oodeypore. The Government of India 
agreed with the Resident of Delhi that such a mea­
sure would be inexpedient.
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BHURTPORE.

jat origin. Bhurtpore is a Ja t principality; it lias been in 
treaty relations with the British government ever 
since the year 1803.

Frontier fray. In  18231 there was a serious fray on the frontier
between Bhurtpore and Eerozepore. A girl was 

. proceeding from her home in a village of Eerozepore 
to visit some friends in Bhurtpore territory. On 
the way she was seized and violated by a cowherd 
of a Bhurtpore village, named Noagaon. She re­
turned to her home and told what had occurred. 
Her father assembled the inhabitants of his village, 
laid his turban at their feet, and implored revenge. 
They all appealed to the Nawab^of Eerozepore, 
who applied to the local officers of the Bhurtpore 
government to put the offender to death or deliver 
him up, otherwise the feud'would never be extin­
guished. The Bhurtpore officers confined the offend­
er, but would do nothing more. The people of 
the Eerozepore village collected all their kinsfolk 
from neighbouring villages, and attacked Noagacm 
and set it on fire. They were beaten off, but not until 
seventy or eighty people were slain. Both the 
1 >ja of Bhurtpore and the Nawab of Ferozepore 
sent troops to the frontier. Villages were burnt

1 General letter, 15th September 1825.

.



and lives lost on both sides. The people of Feroze-
pore were generally worsted, hut declared they would 
not desist from the feud until the original offender 
was executed. Sir David Ochterlony, the Resident 
at Malwa and Rajputana, reported the measures 
taken for repressing these divisions. He laid most 
blame on the Bhurtpore government, and consider­
ed that Bhurtpore ought to have executed the 
offender without hesitation.

The Government of India ordered the advance Action of
the Govern-

of a force to stop further disorders. Strong re- ment of in- 
monstrances were sent to the Nawab of Ferozepore c'a' 
and the Raja of Bhurtpore on the breach of treaty 
under which they were bound to refer all disputes 
to the British authorities. The original offender 
was condemned to imprisonment for life.

The Raja of Bhurtpore died ehildless in 1823.1 ^ Death of 
He was succeeded by his elder brother as his next accession of 
legal heir. I t  was rumoured that Doorjan Saul, BuldeoSingh 
the son of a younger brother, was preparing to 
contest the succession on the ground of his 
having been adopted by the deceased Raja. The 
Government of India was not satisfied that Door­
jan Saul had been adopted. In  January 1824 
it acknowledged the succession of Buldeo Singh.
In  1824,2 at the request of Sir David Ochterlony, 
a khillut of investiture was conferred on the only 
son and heir of the Raja, named Bulwant Singh, 
who was only seven years of age. I t  was hoped

1 General letter, 1st October 1826.
2 General letter, 1st October 1825.



that this measure would prevent any commotion as 
regards the succession; and reasons already existed 
for anticipating a vacancy.

Rebellion In  March 1825, Buldeo Singh died, and wag* 
“ X  succeeded by Bulwant Singh. A disturbance brokA 
if]firiDavid ont which cost several lives. Doorjan Saul hacr 

y gained over several of the battalions of the State 
and taken possession of the fort of Bhurtpore. 
Sir David Oeliterlony ordered the assemblage of 
the largest available force without a moment’s 
delay, with the most formidable battering and 
bombarding train, in order to support the rightful 
heir. He also issued several proclamations denoun­
cing Doorjan Saul as a murderer and usurper, and 
calling upon the Ja t population to rise in defence 
of their lawful sovereign.

Disapproval The Government of India disapproved of these 
ernment '"of proceedings, and countermanded the advance of 
India. the troops. The hot season, it was urged, had 

already begun; the war was still going on in 
Burma, and no decisive advantage had been gained. 
At the same time no explanation had been received 
from Doorjan Saul.

Submission Whilst these instructions were under preparation, 
ofjw jan gir I)avid Oeliterlony reported that Doorjan Saul 

disclaimed all intention of usurping the throne. 
Doorjan Saul declared that he had been driven to 
opposition by the indignities he had received from 
the maternal uncle of the minor prince, who had 
assumed the post of guardian and minister. Doorjan 
Saul added that a very large party of the J at tribe
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had invited him to form a new administration, 
because they disapproved of the proceedings of , 
this unele. Sir David Ochterlony had already coun­
termanded the advance of the British troops, and 
recalled his proclamations. He promised to in­
vestigate the causes of the commotion.

Meanwhile Sir David Ochterlony held a COn- Fresh com* 
ference with some Bhurtpore Vakeels who had pHcation9- 
been sent by Doorjan Saul to M uttra. The Vakeels 
made a show of proposing that the boy Bulwant 
Singh should be acknowledged Raja, whilst Doorjan 
Saul exercised the full powers of administration 
under the designation of Mookhtar or Manager.
Sii David Ochterlony did not encourage this sug­
gestion. He observed that the only course likely 
to mollify the British government was foriDoorjan 
Saul to come into the British camp, with the 
infant R aja in his hand, and to give assurances of 
his fidelity and obedience to his lawful prince.

In May Sir David Ochterlony returned to his resi- Bhurtpore 
dence near Delhi, On the eve of Ids departure he 
was visited by the Guru, or spiritual adviser of 
Bhurtpore, and other neighbouring localities. The 
Guru was a priest of the highest rank and influ­
ence. H e urged the claims of Doorjan Saul, 
first to the Chiefship, and secondly to the Mookhta- 
ree, or executive authority. Subsequently Sir David 
Ochterlony forwarded two letters to the Govern­
ment of India, one from Doorjan Saul, and the other 
from the Guru. The ostensible object of the letters 
was to introduce a new Vakeel to the Resident; the
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real object was to assert the claim of Doorjan Saul 
to the principality. The letter from Doorjan Saul 
assumed the style and titles of the Maharajas of 
Bhurtpore and was sealed by him as Maharaja. 
The letter from the Guru distinctly referred to 
Doorjan Saul as the Maharaja of Bhurtpore. 

Further Subsequently there was a serious breach between 
troubles. Saul and his brother Mahdoo Singh,

■which plunged the country in anarchy. Mahdoo 
Singh attempted to seize the fort of Bhurtpore, but 
failed; he then retired to the fort at Deeg, and repulsed 
every force which Doorjan Saul sent againsthim. 

Death of The Government of India disapproved of the 
Oi'kteriony.0 proceedings of Sir David Ochterlony. Accordingly 

that officer resigned his post of Resident at Malwa 
and Itajputana. He died at Meerut on the 15th 
of July 1825.

Revolt of The events which followed are matters of gene- 
Doorjan Saul. ^  history> Rajputs, Jats, Mahrattas, Afghans,

and not a few British subjects, flocked to the 
standard of Doorjan Saulw Many of the neigh­
bouring Mahratta and Rajput Chiefs encouiagtd 
Doorjan Saul to persist in his resistance to the 
British government, which was supposed to bo 
fully occupied in the  war against Burma.

A .fun cf Dord Amherst was disinclined to take active mea- 
the1 Govern- sures< His Council however maintained tha t the 
dia?” British government, as the paramount power, was

boimd to put an end to the anarchy in Bhurtpore, 
and support the rightful heir. Sir Charles Metcalfe 
arrived at Calcutta a t this crisis on his way to sue-



ceed Sir David Ochterlony, and he took the same 
view as the Council. The strong representations of 
Sir Charles Metcalfe turned the balance. Lord 
Amherst gave way. The settlement of affairs in 

| Bhurtpore was left to Sir Charles Metcalfe, the new 
Resident for Malwa and Rajputana, and Lord 
Comhermere, the Commander-in-Chief.

Sir Charles Metcalfe failed to induce Doorjan War against 
Saul to submit to the decision of the Government Bllurtp0TO‘ 
of India. Lord Combermere advanced against 
Bhurtpore with an army of twenty thousand men 
and a hundred mortars and heavy ordnance. The 

' walls of Bhurtpore were made of clay, and were of 
extreme height and thickness. The artillery failed 
to make any impression. At last the walls were 
mined. The explosion took place on the 18th 
January 1826. The breach was made; the British 
army rushed in; and Bhurtpore was captured.
Doorjan Saul was taken prisoner and confined for 
life, first at Allahabad, and afterwards at Benares.

The course of events may now be resumed from instaik- 
the records. The young Raja was installed on the Jantlingh!' 
5th of February 18261. The Government of India 
resolved to interfere as little as possible in the 
administration of Bhurtpore, and to regard the 
Minister as the responsible head of the govern­
ment of Bhurtpore.

The new administration utterly failed,8 owing to Conflict 
the mischievous and infatuated prejudices of the S & bSS

1 General letter, 18th March 1826. ?nc*
3 General letter, 2 7 th  July 1826. 1St°r'
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Regent Rani. This lady entertained an unreason- 
tble aversion to the Minister. A favourite, named 
Janee Bajinaut Bao, exercised an unbounded influ­
ence over her mind and counsels. He set aside the 
legitimate administration, and usurped the entire 
powers of government in Bhurtpore. He was 
totally unfitted for such a position by his foreign 
origin, his low and intriguing character, his inex­
perience and incapacity, and his unpopularity with 
the Ja t  zemindars.

Question of Such a state of affairs was intolerable. The 
^meutnian' .British government could not abandon Bhurtpore 

to its fate, consistent with its duties as the para­
mount power, and the special claims of the minor 
B aja ; such a course would have filled the whole 
country with anarchy. Taking the principality 
under British management promised the greatest 
hopes of success. The means of setting up a native 
administration were singularly circumscribed, and 
no opposition was to be expected from the Ja t 
Chiefs after the blow winch the country had lately 
experienced. The Government of India however 
was disinclined to take such an extreme measure; 
it had been decided to try the experiment of a 
native administration, and there had not been such 
a failure as to justify such an extent of British 
interference. Moreover the British management 
of Nagpore had excited strong objections in 
England.

Council of Jowahur Saul and Eoujdar Choraman, aided by 
S°nCy Govind Bam, were accordingly placed at the head
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of affairs, independent of the Regent Rani. These 
three ministers were to form a Countiil of Regency.
Their orders were to he issued in the name of 
Maharaja Bulwant Singh, and their proceedings 
controlled and supervised by the Political Agent at 
Bhurtpore and Resident at Delhi. The duties of 
the Rani were confined to the custody of the young 
Raja, and the control of the internal concerns of 
the palace. Steps were to he taken for the suitable 
education of the Raja. If  the Rani acquiesced in 
their arrangements, her unworthy favourite Janee 
Bajinaut Rao m ight remain a t Bhurtpore. The 
Rani however not only agreed to the management, 
hut ordered her favourite to leave Bhurtpore.

In  1829 the education of the young M aharaja Education 

was taken into consideration. T h eJa tso f  Bhurt- raja, 
pore strongly objected to his being instructed 
in the Muhammadan religion and Persian lan­
guage. Mr. Trevelyan, Acting Political Agent, 
urged the propriety of giving the young Maharaja 
an English education. Accordingly a number of 
elementary books in English were presented to the 
young Maharaja.

1 General letter, 10th April 1830.

I '
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KOTAH.

Transfer of Kotah was taken under British protection in
fromthlrml 1819. For many years there had been a revolution 
mSister ^  in the government of Kotah, which is common 

enough in Indian history. For nearly half a 
century the Maharao had been a j rere tityM ' 
pageant. The Minister was the real sovereign, 
and managed all affairs as Regent. So completely 
was this order of things established in Kotah, that 
the British government had concluded a supple­
mentary treaty with Kotah, under which it had 
guaranteed the government to Zalim Singh and 
his heirs for ever.

struggle The titular Maharao died at the end of 1819. 
bS r riYal His eldest son, Rai Kishore Singh, had long been 
P the bitter enemy of Madhoo Rao, the eldest son of

Zalim Singh. The death of the titular Maharao 
made matters worse. Rai Kishore Singh was bent 
upon obtaining a share of the sovereignty, whilst 
Zalim Singh was bent upon keeping him as a 
pageant, as his father had been before him. To 
make matters worse, Goordhan Doss, the youngest 
of Zalim Singh, had gone over to Rai Kishore Singh, 
and thus made common cause with the avowed 
enemy of his own family.

1 General letter, 2nd May 1823.



In  1821 Captain Tod was Political Agent in , Views of
-vxr j „ , _  , _ , ,  7; _ / , the Govom-
Western Eajputana, He reported that the death mmt of in- 
of Zalim Singh, was expected, and that it would dia‘ 
ho probably followed by a civil war. The Gov­
ernment of India reviewed the state of affairs.
I t  was bound by treaty to support Zalim Singh 
and his heirs. Indeed the titular Maharao had 
no more voice in the administration than the 
puppet princes of Satara under the sovereignty of 
the Peishwa. Captain Tod was warned against 
any attem pt at compromise. He might do what 
he could to promote the comfort and happiness 
of Rai Kishore Singh, bu t he was to go no further.
He was to see that Goordhan Doss was removed 
from the service of Rai Kishore Singh, even if 
i t  was found necessary to arrest him as a prisoner.

Meanwhile Goordhan Doss had taken refuge in Forced re- 
the palace of the titular Maharao. He was deaf conciUatioa- 
to all persuasion. Zalim Singh was forced to block­
ade the palace for several days, before he got 
possession of his unworthy son. Goordhan Rao was 
banished from Kotah. The measuro proved bene­
ficial. Rai Kishore Singh became formally recon­
ciled to Zalim Singh and Madhoo Ra o ;  and the 
event was celebrated by all classes in Kotah with 
rejoicing and festivities.

Subsequently Rai Kishore Singh listened to bad Fresh out. 

advisers.1 Goordhan Doss began to intrigue break' 
from his retreat in Malwa. Attempts were made 
to seduce the soldiery of Zalim Singh. A t last, in

1 General letter, 13tb June 1826.



December 1820, the leader of one of the Regent’s 
battalions broke out into revolt. The rising was 
suppressed, but at that moment Rai Kishore Singh 
suddenly left his palace in boats in order to rescue 
the rebel leader. The Rai succeeded in his object 
after running great personal risks, and then retired 
from Kotah territory, and took refuge in Boondi. 
There he sent for Goordlian Doss, and appealed to the 
Rajputs of Haraotee. Goordhan Doss was prevented 
from entering Boondi, and after some dangerous ad- 
ventures managed to escape to Delhi, where he was 
placed under restraint by the British Resident. 
Subsequent ly Rai Kishore Singh proceeded to Delhi, 
breathing implacable hostility against the eldest son 
of Zalim Singh, and the state of things guaranteed 
the treaty.

The Maha- Rai Kishore Singh was now regarded as a public 
enemy.pubhc enemy. I t  was no longer possible to arbitrate 

between two Chiefs, one of whom was guaranteed in 
the sovereignty of Kotah, and the other in the 
management of the government. Rai Kishore 
Singh had broken this arrangem ent; he had joined 
the rebel commander of one of Zalim Singh’s 
battalions; and the question was whether he should 
•be restored to his old position a t Kotah, and if 
so, on what terms. A  draft of the terms to be 
exacted from each of the two Chiefs, Rai Kishore 
Singh and Madhoo Singh, was prepared and sanction­
ed by the Government of India, and sent to Captain 
Tod, the Political Agent for Western Rajputana. 

atDdbf and Meanwhile Rai Kishore Singh reached the vici-
Caicutta. nity of Delhi, and engaged deeply in intrigue to
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excite the interest of the local authorities in his 
helxalf. H e sent an agent, named ‘Mahomed Ali, 
to C alcutta; and this man specially reported tha t the 
Government of India was favourable to the designs 
of Rai Kishore Singh. He thus deluded both his 
employers and the public generally. In  this proceed- 
ing he was aided and abetted by the Head Munshi 
of the Persian Office at Calcutta, who was subsequent­
ly dismissed from his situation.

When Mahomed Ali left Calcutta, Rai Kishore Maharao 
Singh left Delhi and raised a large rabble of armed enters Kotak 
followers. Offers of help reached him from all direc­
tions, and many Thakoors sent their levies to join 
him. Under such circumstances the terms offered 
him by Captain Tod were naturally rejected, and at last 
the titu lar Maharao entered Kotah territory.
Every effort was made to induce him to come to 
term s; bu t all persuasion was wasted upon him.

At the end of September 1821, the Officer Com- Defeat of 
manding the British troops was called upon to advance the Mahara0' 
to the attack. The troops of Zalim Singh and 
the British artillery were jointly engaged. The 
Maharao was utterly defeated and fled across the 
Cliumbul river, leaving his camp and baggage in 
the hands of the victors. Erom that moment public 
tranquillity was entirely restored.

At the end of 1821, the Maharao made his sub- Submission 

mission1. He agreed to the terms proposed by the t?on. rest0r*' 
Government of India, and was restored to his 
dignity and throne.

1 General letter, 12th September 1823.
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views of The Government of India expressed its satisfac-
go°ve™f tion at this result. At the same time it was stated 
on Kotah. form 0f government which was originally

found established in Kotah, and which the British
government was pledged to maintain, was radically 
vicious. A well-timed proposition for establishing 
the family of ZaUm Singh in a separate and indepen­
dent principality, on condition of resigning the 
administrationof Kotah, might have proved satisfac­
tory to both parties, whilst it would have beenhighly 
convenient to the British government, and con­
ducive to the permanent tranquillity of the country.

Proposed I t  was urged that the proposed separate princi- 
cipaTty.prin* pality might be found in the pergunnahs ceded to 

Kotah by Eolkar under the treaty of Mundissore. 
The cession had been made to reward Zalim Singh, 
and was annexed to Kotah at his request. The 
plan was recommended by Sir David Ochterlony, 
the Resident at Delhi.

Discontent Subsequently it was discovered that the titular 
oHhoMaim- jy ^ h a r a o  wa8 anything but pleased with the 

arrangement, and still continued to cherish expec­
tations of recovering the government of ICotab. I t
was fully believed that on the death of Zalim Singh 
the old animosity would break out afresh. Zalim 
Singh would never agree to the proposition made 

4 by the Government of India. His son Madlioo
Eao would never be able to carry on the executive 
administration, as he was altogether wanting in 
ability; and there was an insuperable bar to his 
ever acting in concert with the titular Maharao.

'



The only hope of effecting some arrangement lay in 
the fears of Madhoo Rao; after the death of his 
father Zalim Singh, he would he forced to come to 
terms with the titular Maharao.

In  1824 Goordhan Doss began1 to display a rest- 
lessness a t Delhi. He and his friends were corre- Dose, 
sponding with individuals at Kotah, who were 
hostile to the existing order of things. His father 
Zalim Singh at Kotah requested that Goordhan 
Doss might be imprisoned in the British fort 
of Chunar.

Zalim Singh died in June 1824, and was sue- Death of 
ceeded by his son Madhoo Rao. There were symp- Za!imSlUf?h' 
toms of mutiny amongst the troops, for it  was 
known that Madhoo Rao was wanting in character 
and capacity. The Political Agent disbanded some 
of the disaffected soldiery, and tranquillity was 
restored.

At the end of the year the peace of Haraoti and , ^refih dis- 
the adjoining country was much disturbed. The 
troubles in Jeypore and the war in Burma was 
creating unrest. Bulwant Singh, a kinsman of the 
Maharao of Boondi, had taken a  leading part in 
the Kotah disturbances of 1821. He now began to 
collect troops, and open a correspondence with the 
titular M aharao; and at last fled from his jaghir.
The Political Agent called upon him to disband his 
troops, and make his submission; bu t he fired on 
the party bearing the message. In  consequence of 
this outrage a force was marched against h im ;

V k o t a h . 95  < S L

1 General letter, 31st May 1826.
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and after a protracted resistance, Bulwant Singli 
was killed with two of his sons and a few followers.
The Political Agent had acted in concert, with the 
Kotah and Boondi administrations, and the Govern­
ment of India considered that he had been fully 
justified in resorting to active measures.

Quiet res- In  1826 there was a better understanding1 between 
toled- the Maharao and the Raj Rana, which was 

ascribed to the judicious policy of Major Caulfield. 
Question of The Maharao had no son. He was anxious to 

thoPMalarw adopt a nephew to the exclusion, of his elder brother.
A punchayet of Pundits was assembled at Kotah, 
and came to a unanimous conclusion on the follow­
ing points:—

1st.—That a person without legitimate issue 
might adopt a nephew, the son of a deceased brother, 
to the exclusion of a brother older than the
deceased.

2nd.—That the age of the person adopted had no 
effect upon the adoption.

2rd._That if a son was bom subsequently to
the Maharao, that son would succeed to the throne.
The adopted son would he excluded, and a suitable 
provision would be made for him.

Accordingly the nephew was adopted.
Death of The Maharao died in 1828% and was succeeded 

Maharao. ^y -ys nephew and adopted son Maharao Ram 
Singh. Nuzzurs were presented to the Government 
of India by the new titular prince and the Raj Rana.

1 General letter, 3rd July 1828.
* General letter, 3rd October 1829.



i l l ; K0TAH- ■ 97
In  1830 a conspiracy was formed1 against the  Conspiracy' n st> tlifl

life of the Raj Rana of Kotah by certain persons Raj Rana. 
in the service of the Maharao. Mr. Trevelyan, the 
Political Agent, reported that a jemadar in the 

- Raj Rana’s service had made overtures to the 
brother-in-law of Maharao, to assassinate the R aj 
Rana when paying his devotions in a temple at 
Kotah. These overtures were not accepted; they 
were not even communicated to the M aharao; 
but they were not made known to the Raj Rana by 
any of the Maharao’s people. Consequently 
when the plot was at last discovered, there was 
considerable embarrassment on the part of the 
Maharao, and suspicion on the part of the Raj 
Rana.

No positive proof could be obtained as regards Question 
the persons concerned in the conspiracy. Mr. <Jropi'e<L 
Trevelyan considered that it would be inexpedient 
to continue to agitate the question; it would oidy 
keep alive the suspicions and distrust of the Raj 
Rana. The Government of India entirely approved, 
and the m atter was allowed to drop.

In  1833 boundary disputes2 were frequently Collisions 
occurring between Kotah and Jeypore, which led w,th Jeypore' 
to collisions.

The Raj Rana Madhoo Singh died on the 26th ra®^*h of 
of February 1834.3, and was succeeded by his son WJ " ̂  
Muddam Singh. The Governor-General sent a

1 General letter, 14th October 1830.
2 General letter, 13th March 1834.
3 General letters, 13th November 1834, and 6th April 1835.
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letter of condolence to the new R aj Rana. A 
request fo r  a delay of six m onths in the paym ent 
of tribute was refused.

t. •
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ULWAR.

In  1815 the Raja of Ulwar died1. There were two Joint rule 
infant claimants for the throne—a nephew and an and a bus- 
illegitimate son. The Thakoors placed both upon 
the throne as joint rulers. The Government of India 
was anxious not to interfere in the affairs of any 
Rajput State, and consequently accepted the com­
promise.

So long as the two princes were minors, public cesI)isturban* 
disorders were more or less restrained by the Min­
isters. But in 1824 the two princes attained their 
majority, and broke out in open feuds and commo­
tions. An attempt was made to assassinate the 
Nawab of Fcrozpore, who had been a friend of the 
former Raja, and had espoused the cause of the 
illegitimate son.

The Government of India had no means for deci- 
ding between the two conflicting princes. There Thakoors. 

was a stain on the birth of the one; otherwise he 
seemed the best of the two. A t last the illegitimate 
son was set aside by the Thakoors, and a suitable 
provision was made for his maintenance.

The new Raja, Beneo Singh, was suspected of ^ Complies, 
being concerned in the attempt to murder the Nawab 
of Ferozpore. The Government of India ordered

T7LWAB. 9 9  ( Q Y j
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the Resident to investigate the charge in his Court 
a t Delhi; The* Raj a set the accused men at liberty, 
and resisted every attem pt to bring the men to trial. 
Levies were being raised, and the people began to 
fly from TJlwar in considerable numbers. A t last 
in 18251 the R aja of Ulwar delivered over the sus­
pected murderers to Sir Charles Metcalfe, 

forthe * depo Sir David Ocliterlony, the previous Resident, had
sed Raja. made a yearly provision of one lakh of rupees for the 

deposed Raja.3 Sir Charles Metcalfe, who succeeded 
him as Resident, had raised this provision to four 

. lakhs per annum, being one-fourth of the estimated 
revenue of Ulwar. The Government of India was of 
opinion that the consent of the deposed Raja to 
either arrangement ought to have been previously 
secured. I t  was explained by Sir Charles Metcalfe 
that the ex-Raja had concurred in the arrange­
ment only because he was told no better arrangement 
could be made. Nothing short of the whole princi­
pality of Ulwar would have satisfied him.

Dealings The men supposed to be implicated in the attempt- 
eWd hcouBpirt ed assassination were duly brought to trial. The 
tors. evidence against them was not sufficient for convic­

tion, but their guilt was strongly suspected. The 
accused were allowed to return to Ulwar.' The Raja 
was told that it was not the custom of the British 
government to punish persons unless convicted; but 
as the accused had failed to establish their innocence, 
it would not be proper for him to employ them.

1 General letter, 18th March 1826.
3 General letter, 27th July 1826.



^  The Hao of Ulwar promoted the brother of one of the Difficulty 
offenders, and the son of the other. Subsequently Wlt1' the Eau' 
in 1826 he wanted to  pay a  complimentary visit 
to the Resident, but Sir Charles Metcalfe declined to 
receive him 1 2. About the same time the privilege of 
exchanging letters with the Governor-G eneral was 
brought to a close". In  1828 the Rao of Ulwar ex­
pressed his grief at a measure which Ic'd the neigh­
bouring States to conclude that he had incurred the 
displeasure of the British government. As the stop­
page had occurred for a considerable period, it was 
deemed fitting to allow the correspondence to be 
resumed.

In  1828s there was a disturbance at Ulwar. The Non-inter­
army, instigated by the Thakoors, broke out into ferenceJ n in' 
rebellion against the Ministers, and a new adminis­
tration was formed at Ulwar. The Government of 

i India ordered that there should be no interference 
I whatever. I t  was considered that an insurrection 

of the Thakoors and people was a legitimate means 
■ getting rid of a bad Minister. Two of the

refugee Ministers were the two fnen under stron» 
suspicion of being implicated in tbe attempted 
assassination of tlieNawab of Ferozpore. One of them 
fled to Delhi, and began to intrigue for his own 
return to Ulwar. The Resident placed him under 
confinement, hut the Government of India ordered 
his immediate release.

1 General letter, 28th July 1828. "
2 General letter, 10th April 1829.
8 General letter, 8th May 1829.



Murder. Subsequently1 the released man was murdered at 
Ulwar, # ith  three of his servants, whilst returning 
from the palace. The Itao felt or feigned the utmost 
alarm. He offered to cede all his territories to the 
management of the British government, provided 
he might retire in safety to Benares or Gaya.

Further In  1833 matters2 were still unsatisfactory at Ulwar. 
AirithTheEap. A son and heir was bom to the Itao Ilaja, and the 

usual complimentary letters were exchanged. Lord 
William "Bentinck had recently ordered the use of 
the English language in correspondence with native 

. princes. The Itao Raja objected ; he was told that 
the Government of India had no wish that he should 
use any medium of communication that was not 
perfectly agreeable and convenient to himself.

Boundary There were boundary disputes between Ulwar and 
Bhurtpore. An attempt was made by Ulwar to 
tamper with Mr. Luskington, the Political Agent 
at Bhurtpore. A bloody fray was committed by 
Ulwar on the Bhurtpore frontier. Mr. Blake was 
sent to arbitrate between Ulwar and Bhurtpore. He 
reported that a redoubt Bad been built on the 
disputed spot under the protection of a military 
force sent by the Ulwar authorities.

Punish- The Government of India resolved that it would 
Rao.1 ° ° not allow so gross a violation of the international

peace of India to be passed over without some 
decided mark of its displeasure. Accordingly the 
Rao Raja was fined eight thousand rupees as j i

1 General letter, 3rd October 1829. 
a General letter, 13th March 1834.
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punishment for the unjustifiable conduct of his
people. The fine was not to he given away in 
charity, lest the Rao Raja should arrogate to him­
self the merit of the act, and thus weaken the 
salutary impression which the fine was intended 
to produce. The money was to be paid over to 
the Government of India.

«* . . .  ------- ,
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SEROHI.

British re la- The relations between the British government
tions. and the Rajput State of Serohi began in 1823. At 

that time the Rao or Ruler of Serohi was in con­
finement. In  1818 be had been deposed by the 
Thakoors for tyranny and oppression, and his 
younger brother became Regent. Shortly after­
wards Serohi was invaded by the Maharaja of 
Jodhpore, and the Regent begged the protection 
of the British government. In  1823, the Govern­
ment of India decided that Serohi was not politi­
cally dependent on either Jodhpore or Pahlunpore, 
both of whom had put forward claims to suprema­
cy. Accordingly the British government conclu­
ded a treaty with Serohi, which bore a general 
resemblance to its treaties with other Rajput rulers ; 
but it provided for the right of the British govern­
ment to interfere actively .and decidedly for the 
restoration of order and regularity ; and it guaran­
teed the succession to the throne on the death of 
the Regent, to the heirs of the elder brother, the 
imprisoned Rao, provided that any such were living 

„ . at the time.Condition , , _ r , , . , ...
of the coun- The Regent and lus Minister expressed them-
+ry selves highly delighted with having secured the

protection of the British government.' The coun-
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try was in an extreme state of decay and depopula­
tion, owing to the weakness of the administration, the 
disobedience of many of the Chiefs, the encroach­
ments of neighbouring States, and the constant 
ravages and depredations of the Meenas and 
Bheels. The revenue was trifling. Serobi how­
ever was of military importance on account of its 
centrical position between Bengal and Bombay, 
arid the great strength of its passes and approaches.
In  consideration of the impoverished state of the 
public treasury and country generally, the pay­
ment of tribute was excused for three years.

As soon as it was known that Sirolii1 had been Military 
taken under British protection, many of the ryots agafnat' îid 
and merchants, who had fled to the neighbouring tnbe8, 
countries, returned to their homes. Their lives and 
property were still threatened by the increasing 
depredations of the Meenas, and the Regent had 
neither money nor troops for repressing them.
The Government of India guaranteed a loan to be 
raised by the Serolii State for the maintenance of 
three hundred Irregulars for police and revenue 
duties. A detachment of Regular troops was also 
sent to Serolii to settle the country generally, 
establish the Rao’s authority over his feudatories, 
and suppress the savage tribe of Meenas.

The military operations were very successful.2 Establish- 

Nearly all the rebellious and refractory Thakoors der. 
were brought to subjection and obedience; and

1 General letter, 18th September 1825.
2 General letter, 31st May 1826.



the Meenas received such severe chastisement that 
they immediately afterwards began to occupy lands 
and settle in villages which had been long deserted.

Flight of In  18251 the Regent Rao collected his family, 
St"™.1 re' armed followers, and some of his Thakoors, and 

suddenly fled from his capital to the hills and 
jungles, t H e declared that he would never return 
unless the article, which guaranteed the succession 
to the heirs of his elder brother, was expunged 
from the treaty. He had other complaints, which 
proved on investigation to be groundless or frivolous.

. fortunately for himself, he subsequently repented 
and returned to his capital, and implored for­
giveness. In  due course the Government of India 
pardoned his rash and ungrateful proceedings.

Two mios- There were two questions at this period which 
tions at Sero- caqe(j for arL early settlement. In  the first place

Serohi was still exposed to the raids of the Meenas. 
Secondly, Jodhpore laid claim to certain collections 
in Sirohi villages ; and it was on account of these 
claims tha t Jodhpore permitted the inroads of the 
Meenas.

inroads of In  1826 and 18272 the continued atrocities com- 
Meonaa. an mitted in Serohi territory by marauders from other 

States led the people to believe that they were 
without the pale of British protection. The preda­
tory excursions of Blieels and Meenas from the 
Jodhpore frontier inflicted the utmost misery.

1 General letter, 27th July 1826.
a General letter, 3rd July 1829.
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Captain Speirs stated tha t they were driven to this 
mode of life by the oppressions of their own Chiefs 

* and government. He proposed that the Jodhpore 
government should put him in direct communica­
tion with the Grassia Chiefs, Meenas and Bheels, 
to the north and westward of the Serohi frontier, 
to mediate such agreements under British guarantee, 
as would secure those savage tribes against future 
ill-treatment by their local officers. He was satisfied 
that by these means he could establish good order 
and industry among the wild tribes. All tha t ho 
wanted was a small body of Irregular troops under 
the command of a European officer, at the jo int 
expense of Marwar and Serohi.

The Resident at Delhi remarked that the British Question 

government, by protecting Serohi against mere ofpolioy• 
banditti, exceeded the spirit of its engagements.
Every State was bound to protect itself* against 
robbers. Ih e  British government had the right 
to call on the  Maharaja of Jodhpore to restrain his 
subjects from depredations in other States.

The Government of India observed that when Exception- 
existing arrangements were made with Serohi, i t  f { ,weal?ne8S 
was perfectly well known that she could neither ° Ser°hl* 
defend herself against neighbouring States, nor 
protect her subjects against marauders, without the 
help of the British government. Much had been 
done, but much remained to be done, before Serohi 
could protect herself out of her own resources 
Accordingly the Government of India sanctioned the 
arrangement proposed by Captain Speirs. The Jodh-
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pore Contingent, or an. equivalent force, was to be 
employed. Subsequently the Maharaja of Jodhpore 
adopted measures for establishing a bettor state of 
things on the Serohi frontier.

Arrange- In  1829 it was reported1 2 that sufficient funds were 
Grass^aChiefs, not available from the Grassia States and Serohi 

for the maintenance of a body of troops. Accord­
ingly the Grassia Chiefs were told that they were 
relieved from certain pecuniary engagements which 
had been made with them the previous year ; and 
a local force of horse and foot, which had been 
raised under the name of the Khairwarra Levy, was 
disbanded. The Grassia Chiefs were further told 
that they must take their own measures for the 
preservation of tranquillity in their respective 
States. The British government could not bear the 
expense of maintaining troops for tlxeir protection 
against internal disorders.

Bheel out- In  1833 eight sepoys belonging8 to the Bombay 
rages. army were murdered by the Bheels of Serohi on 

then' way down Mount Aboo. A demand was made 
for the apprehension and punishment of the offend­
ers. The Itao of Serohi sent an unsatisfactory 
reply, and displayed much weakness and imbecility 
of character. Colonel Lockett, the British Resident, 
stated his opinion that it might soon be necessary 
for the British government to assume the direct 
management of the Serohi State.

1 General letter, 9th October 1830.
2 General letter, 13th March 1834.
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The Government of India1 called for a report ■ Vl'ewst ofD 1 ' the local au-
from Major Speirs, who had long resided at Serohi. thorities. 
Major Spiers was also directed to explain why the 
former Rao had been kept so long in confinement.
The Government of India also ordered an investi­
gation into the nmrder case. Major Speirs stated his 
belief2 that if the former Rao was allowed more 
liberty, there would be more outrages and disturb­
ances than ever. The frontiers were in a disordered 
state owing to the aggressions of Jodhpore.

The murder of the Bombay sepoys by the Bheels Decisions
p c , , .  . . , . , -i of the Britishot Serohi was again taken into consideration3 by government. 

Lord William Bentinck’s government at Oota- 
eamund. Colonel Speirs, the Acting Political Agent 
at Neemuch, was told that His Lordship entirely 
agreed with the opinion of that officer, that the 
Serohi government should have the necessity 
pressed upon it of using increasing exertions for 

, the apprehension of all or any of the accused 
Bheels ; and also that a requisition should be made 
to that government for the adoption of immediate 
and decisive steps towards sifting the conduct of an 
obstructive Thakoor. The subject, it was observed, 
should never be dropped so long as there was a possi­
bility of bringing to justice any of the parties concern­
ed in this atrocious outrage; and Colonel Speirs wras 
directed to address such representations to the Rao of 
Serohi as he might deem best calculated to stimulate 
their efforts for the apprehension of the offenders.

1 General letter, 10th July 1834.
* General letter, 13th November 1834.
9 General letter, 6th April 1835.
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GWALIOR.

Intimate The treaties of 1817 and 1818 placed the political
relations with
the British relations between the British government and 
government. ]yja p a r a j a  Dowlut Rao Sindia on a more intimate

footing than had existed under the rule of the 
Peishwa. The Maharaja frequently requested the 
aid of British troops to suppress distractions in his 
dominions.1 The Government of India considered 
that extreme cases might arise which would war­
rant such an interference, hut that otherwise it was 
open to grave objections. In  1821 the Maharaja 
applied for a detachment of Mahratta Horse belong­
ing to the Subsidiary Force tojoverawe the mutinous 
soldiery in his cam p; and this application was read­
ily granted, as the employment of a detachment 
of Mahratta troops was considered to be a very differ­
ent tiling from, that of a detachment of a British 
force.

General Major Close, at that time Resident at Gwalior, 
vjr  of took a general view of the principles which should 

P y guide Political officers in his position; and as the 
policy he laid down was cordially approved by the 
Government of India, it may be briefly condensed.
The people of Malwa considered that the British
government had established its authority through-
--- -----------—--— --------------------------------------------------- *------------------------------------------ — ------------------------------------------------

i General letter, 13th June 1823,

•• 1 1 0  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS. <SL



out the country, and that they must look to the 
British government alone for redress or security 
against the maladministration of their rulers. On 
the other hand the texture of Sindia’s govern­
ment was so loose, and so rooted in its propensity 
to rule by expedients without any reference to 
remote consequences, that occasions were constantly 
arising for interference in its internal affairs, and 
it  was not easy to resist the emergency.

Major Close purposed to confine his chief atten- obligation* 
tion to the strict fulfilment of those obligations and duties’ 
which had been imposed on the British govern­
ment ; and to secure the protection of the people 
entitled to it only so far as those obligations were 
concerned. His chief object therefore would be to 
secure the rights of the Durbar and its subjects on 
all matters concerning ourselves, or our allies and 
dependents; and, when called upon, to secure the 
reciprocal observance of obligations by Sindia’s 
government. On some rare occasions he might bo 
required to instigate the Gwalior government by 
moderate expostulations to restrain its officers and 
servants from the commission of gross acts of out­
rage and violence; and especially to persuade the 
Court of Gwalior of the duty of ̂ establishing better 
order, and a new efficient system of government in 
those parts of its province which adjoined British 
territories, where a vicious courseof management would 
affect British interests as much as those of the 
Durbar.



Friendly un- Subsequently the Government of India considered1
deretandings. ^  Highness Dowlllt RaO Sindia evinced a

cordial disposition to cultivate a friendly under­
standing with the British government; whilst the 
temper of the Durbar was gradually accommoda­
ting itself to the change in its condition, which 
necessarily resulted from the establishment of the 
British supremacy in Hindustan. The Maharaja 
in like manner had reconciled himself to the 
natural consequences of that event, as affecting 
his own power and influence in the surrounding 

' States.
Disturban- In  1823, one of Sindia’s chieftains set him at 

HorChiSWin defiance2. This man threatened to retire to a village 
British terri- 0j | lig own ^ th in  British territory in the Bekhan.

He captured the son-in-law of Sindia, and carried 
him away as a hostage. Sindia applied for help 
to the British Resident at Gwalior, who declined 
to interfere. Subsequently the chieftain entered 
British territory with two thousand horse and 
a large rabble following, and threatened mischief. 
Accordingly the British force at Bhopal was advan­
ced against him and dispersed his forces. At the 
same time Sindia was informed that the British 
government would not allow any body of armed 
men, exceeding three hundred and fifty, to pass, 
from a Foreign State through territory under the 
protection of the British government, without 
the sanction of competent British authority.

1 General letter, 12th September 1823.
2 Geheral letter, I0th September 1824
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The same year there was a discussion respecting eX(̂ g t!sedof 
certain exchanges of territory. The ’British govern- territory, 

ment was anxious to adjust the frontiers in order 
to render both territories more compact. I t  was 
proposed to assert British sovereignty over all the 
jaghirs in the Dekhan possessed by Sindia or his 
subjects; and to withdraw all British protection 
from its villages w ithin Sindia’s dominions.

In  18241 there were renewed disturbances amongst ceaDi* ^ b®jJ‘e 
Sindia’s troops, especially on the Guzerat frontier. Guzerat fron- 

The Resident at Gwalior, on the urgent representa­
tions of the Baroda authorities, requested Sindia 
to take some effectual steps for preventing these 
evils. The Maharaja recalled Man Singh Rao Patun- 
kar, the principal officer of the Gwalior Durbar, 
in those distant possessions, and appointed another 
officer to take his place. M an Singh, however, 
refused to obey orders. The Durbar was in a 
dilemma. The Maharaja asked for the assistance of 
the British government. He was told th a t the 
British government could not aid him to enforce 
the obedience of his rebellious subjects, and th a t he 
should apply some remedy of his own to these 
disorders. The Government of India did not con­
sider th a t the individual case of Man Singh was 
one which called for British interference. A t the 
same time the Resident at Gwalior was directed to 
warn M an Singh of the folly of expecting the 
British government to countenance him in his

C GWALIOR. 1 1 3  ^ S L
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opposition to ttio orders of liis sovereign. Man 
Singh was also told that the British government 
might soon find itself unable to remain an uncon­
cerned spectator of commotions and hostilities on the 
common frontier of Malwa and Guzerat, excited 
by the rebellion of one of the Maharaja’s own 
officers.

R̂eluctance Meanwhile the Maharaja showed such reluctance1 
raja to tern* to exchanges of territory that the Government 
g ™! exchan' of India ordered him to be informed that there 

was no intention of requiring His Highness to 
make any sacrifice of territory, or to extort com­
pliance with the demands of the British govern­
ment. All that was wanted was such exchanges as 
would rectify the frontier and prove mutually bene­
ficial to both States. Subsequently His Highness 
agreed to certain concessions as regards Nimar. 

Question In  1825 the Maharaja was seriouly ill,3 and the 
sion.10 SUCt°S" Government of India was anxious that he should 

either adopt an heir, or name Iris successor. Sindia 
would do neither the one or the other. The British 
government disclaimed all pretensions of regulating 
or controlling the succession. Meanwhile his wife, 
Baiza Bai, exercised the power of Regent. The 
Government of India decided that if military aid 
should be required tinder the emergency, it  should 
be furnished; but the Gwalior Durbar would be 
expected to pay the expenses of the force, and to 
arrive at a favourable adjustment of all depend-

1 General letter, 31st May 1826.
* Generalletter, 18th March 1826.



ing questions as regards Sindia’s possessions in the 
Dekhan, and to co-operate heartily in certain arrange­
ments which were being proposed at that time as 
regards Malwa opium. •

In  May 1825 Sindia recovered his health and per- 
formed the customary ceremony of bathing.1 He ference feed 
showed his good-will to the British government by government, 
ordering a salute to be fired in honour of the peace 
with Burma. He tried to come to an amicable 
arrangement with Man Singh Rao Patunkar, by 
sending him two lakhs and a h a lf of rupees. Man 
Singh rejected the offer, and the Maharaja resolved 
on coercive measures. For a long time the Resident 
at Gwalior withdrew from all concern in the dispute, 
but allowed Sindia to employ a detachment of the 
contingent. Man Singh however was emboldened to 
commit more acts of violence and outrage. He 
opened a fire on the detachment in which eighty 
of Sindia’s men were killed or wounded. At last he 
was reduced by a force* from the Bombay side, 
but the matter is not very clearly stated in the re­
cords. There were many lengthy negotiations with 
Sindia a t this period respecting disturbances within 
his territories, the propriety of maintaining a police 
force, and other matters of a personal character, 
which are now obsolete.

Dowlut Rao Sindia died without,3 male issue in ^ Death 

March 1827. Before his death the propriety of sindia: adop.
_________________ ________ __________ —------------ -— ------ -------- -— • tion of Jan-

1 General letter, 27th July 1825. koji Kao.
2 General letters, 3rd October 1829, and 9th October 1830.

1 s Proceedings 26th June 1834, Nos. 2 and 3.



adopting a successor had been represented to him 
by the British Resident; and five boys of his own 
family had been sent up from the Dekhan to 
Gwalior to enable His Highness to make the selec­
tion. The Maharaja died without making any 
selection. After the event, the widow, Baiza Bai, 
wished to adopt a member of her own family to 
the exclusion of Sindia’s family, but no one could 
countenance her in an adoption which was univer­
sally odious to the Court and camp of Gwalior. 
Under these circumstances she adopted one of the 
five boys belonging to the family of Dowlut llao Sin- 
dia. She then married the boy, who was eleven years 
of age, to her youngest grand-daughter. The new 
Maharaja was installed on the throne of Gwalior 
by the British Resident under the name of Junkoji 
Rao Sindia, being the name of the ehief of the family 
who was slain at the battle of Paniput in 1761.

Question of curious question of international1 law arose 
law between about this period. A rich banker named Salaja Belal, 
KotahT ftnd who had long been in the service of Sindia, died 

without heirs at Kotah. "The Gwalior Durbar laid 
flm'm to the inheritance. The Government of India 
declined to press this claim on the Kotah govern­
ment. The Gwalior Durbar urged that the British 
government was bound to interfere under the 
trea ty ; especially as the terms of the treaty 
precluded the Gwalior State from entering into 
discussions with other princes without the 
consent of the British government. In  reply the
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Durbar was told that they might submit a state­
ment of their claim through the Political Agent.
The claim as regards the deceased1 banker was 
repeatedly pressed by the Gwalior Durbar with the 
utmost pertinacity. I t  was said that certain records 
belonging to the Gwalior State were amongst the 
banker’s effects. Accordingly the Political Agent 
at Kotah was called upon to use his good offices 
with the Kotah government as regards the papers. 
Meanwhile the Raj Rana of Kotah was appoint­
ing a manager to take charge of the banker’s pro­
perty. The Gwalior Durbar protested against the 
measure. They urged the claim of Sheo Lai, an 
illegitimate son of the banker who had been expelled 
from Kotah territory.

The Government of India decided that the Gwa- thf riq”  er°* 
lior Durbar might appoint a proper manager to the meat of in- 
districts within Gwalior territory, which had been 
previously rented by the banker; and that the Kotah 

j government should be prevented from all interfer- 
' ence. I t  was explained to the Durbar that the 

family of the banker were not subjects of Sindia.
They were natural bom subjects of Kotah, and had 
been settled and domiciled in Kotah during three 
generations, or the greater part of a century. They 
had served Kotah and received jagliirs from Kotah.
The banker had been only appointed a vakeel to 
Sindia ; and though the office was hereditary, it was 
merely nominal, and gave no claim to Sindia to con­
fiscate the property.

1 General letter, 3rd October 1829.



I Question as The question of the employment of the G walior 
me'.lto'f^tho Contingent1 at,the call of Sindia’s goyernment was 
tinged C°n" a£ain brought under the consideration of the Gov­

ernment of India. The Gwalior Durbar had request­
ed the services of the Contingent to reduce some 
refractory Thakoors. The Resident, Lieutenant-Colo­
nel Fielding, reported that these Thakoors had been 
unjustly deprived of their possessions by the G walior 
Durbar. Consequently the employment of a force 
against them commanded by British officers would 
render the British government an aider and sup­
porter of Sindia’s oppression. The Government of 
India refused to allow the force to be employed 
against the Thakoors in question.

Intrigues At this time the Baiza Bai was intriguing to 
of_the Raiza t h e  f t eg e ilC y  for life to the exclusion of the

young Maharaja who had been adopted after the 
death of Dowlut Rao Sindia. She kept the prince 
under restra in t; excluded his name from the State 
seal, and requested the British government to recog­
nise her as Regent for life.

Views of The Government of India observed that the Baiza 
the Govern- Bai had herself adopted the young Maharaja ; that 
£a.nt °f the validity of the adoption had been acknowledged

by the voice of all parties at Gwalior ; that the prince 
was entitled to assume the government on the ter­
mination of his minority. Under these circumstances 
the British government could not sanction a differ­
ent arrangement, involving the maintenance of the 
Baiza Bai, or any other person, in the exercise of 

1 General letter, 14th October, 1830.
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sovereign power for life without a manifest violation 
of the proper and recognised usage of Hindu States.
The Government of India was actuated by no other 
motive than the one prescribed by law and justice.
The character and conduct of the Baiza Bai during 
her .Regency had not been such as to render it desir­
able tha t she should exercise authority for life. The 
concession would possibly induce Her Highness to 
treat the young Maharaja with more kindness ; but 
the Government of India was not prepared to make 
such a sacrifice of principle.

The Resident was authorised to tell the Baiza Bai Claims of 

that the Government of India would not recognise Maharaja.u”S 
as valid any public instrument of the Gwalior State 
that was not authenticated by the Maharaja’s 
seal; and that a tree and unreserved intercourse 
must be established between the Resident and the 
young Maharaja as a check on any ill-usage. The 
education of the Maharaja was an important ques­
tion, but the British government could only interfere 
in the way of advice. The prejudices and ignorance 
of the Mahrattas, and their attachment to their an­
cient usages, were such as to preclude any consider­
able innovations ; and the British government was 
obliged to rest content with a very moderate im­
provement in the system of instruction adopted for 
His Highness. Should the Baiza Bai threaten” to 
retire altogether from the Regency, the Resident 
was not to attempt to dissuade her from her purpose ; 
he was merely to observe and report all that passed! 
accompanied with an expression of his own views 
as to the administration of the country.
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Lord Wii. In . December 1832,1 tbe Governor-General Lord
’Si* William Bentinck being on a tour in the Upper 

to Gwalior. Provinces> paid a visit to the Court of Gwalior. For
a long time he had expected to be finally called 
upon to decide between the claims of Maharaja 
Jankoji Eao Sindia and those of the Baiza Bai. 
Meanwhile the Gwalior Durbar was agitated by 
doubts and conjectures; the Baiza Bai was afraid of 
being deprived of her authority; the young Maha­
raja was in dread of being excluded from all powrer.

Complaints During the conferences tho Maharaja gave vent 
of.the Maha. ^  vehement complaints against the Baiza Bai. She

not only ill-treated him, but he suspected her of 
designing to adopt a kinsman of her own as successor 
to the throne of Sindia. He urged that his age and 
capacity fitted him for assuming the reins of 
government, and begged the Governor-General to

. instal him on the throne.
Views of As far as the rights of the Maharaja were con- 

S S X  cemed, Lord William Bentinck was of opinion that 
ligations of j ankoji Bao Sindia possessed the same right to the 
government, throne as if he had been the lawfully begotten son 

of Dowlut Bao Sindia. As regards the obligations 
of the British government, the succession of Baiza 
Bai had been equally in accordance with the will of 
Dowlut Bao Sindia, and had followed his death 
without any interference on the part of the British 
government. As regards tho subsequent adoption, 
the British government had so far interfered as to 
urge the propriety of the measure; to approve and 
sanction it wdien made by the Baiza B a i; and to

1 20  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS. <SL
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require the use of the seal of the adopted M aharaja
in all public transactions. This interference had been 
exercised exclusively for the good of the country, and 
according to the supposed wishes of the people, in 
order to prevent the evils of a disputed succession.
Lastly, the Government of India had expressly declin- . 
ed to guarantee the claims of theBaizaBaitobe form­
ally acknowledged as Regent for life, which determi­
nation had since been appro ved by the Court of Directors.

These circumstances seemed to HisLordship to point 
to the propriety of abstaining from all interference in forencTfobe- 
the presont question. I t  was not clear whether such ^ fhaf ja_th9 
interposition was in unison with the wishes of tho 
people, or in furtherance of their benefit; and tho 
British government was not bound to exercise judi­
cial cognisance in the case. This was not modified 
by personal experiences. Tho country seemed to bo 
prosperous and flourishing. The rule of the Baiza 
Bai appeared to be firm and able, and as just as 

1 could be expected from a native administration.
As far as could be ascertained, thero was no party  
opposed to her interests. There was thus no motive 
for interference, and nothing to justify it. Jankoji 
Rao Sindia was intelligent, bu t very young, and 
wTas said to have an ungovernable temper. Lord 
William Bentinck was therefore of opinion that 
justice and policy alike forbade any interposition.
But there was nothing to debar tho British govern­
ment from interfering as tho paramount power, 
should such interference become necessary to secure 

i tranquillity and promote the public welfare.
i
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No one elso His Lordship accordingly informed the Maharaja
to lie adopted. that the Government of India -would not interfere

to place him in full power; it would, however, 
prevent the Baiza Bai from adopting any one else, 
so long as he conducted himself obediently to her 
wishes, and abstained from all attempts to shake 
her authority, before the time arrived for his own 
elevation to the government. The Baiza Bai was 
recommended by His Lordship to treat the Maharaja 
with kindness, and not to regard him with harsh 
and resentful feelings.

Disinter? These assurances allayed all apprehensions, and 
appeared to satisfy, not only the parties concerned, 

government. ])Ut the whole court. All were alike assured that 
the Government of India was entirely disinterested, 
and had been actuated by no other motive than to 
secure the welfare and prosperity of Sindia’s domi­
nions, Sir Charles Metcalfe and Mr. Boss concurred 
in these views, that it was not incumbent on the 
British government to interfere in the affairs of 
Gwalior for the purpose of establishing or exclud­
ing the authority of the'M aharaja, if interference 
could be avoided.

Views of Sir Charles Metcalfe however was of opinion 
Mete&lfc!r!cb that it would be extremely difficult for the British 

government, as the paramount power, to avoid 
interference. Ho considered that the appearance 
of support which had been given to the Baiza Bai 
was a virtual interference in her favour, not to be 
avoided without a declaration in favour of the 
Maharaja. The right lay with the Maharaja as the
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heir and successor of Dowlut Rao Sindia. Tho
Bai was only entitled to rule during Ms minority, 
after wliicli she must he considered as a usurper.
She was however in possession, and as long as she 
was supported by the public opinion of the State, 
that is of all the military cMefs of power and 
influence, it did not behove the British govern­
ment to enforce the rights of the Maharaja.
Should however a division be found to exist, and a 
civil war broke out affecting British interests, or 
the general tranquillity of India, interference would 
certainly be in favour of the Maharaja. Under 
such circumstances it would be best for the Govern­
ment of India to avow, whenever occasion might 
arise, that it was convinced of the right of the 
Maharaja; but that so long as the Thakoors 
remained satisfied with the rule of the Regent Baiza 
Bai, it would abstain from all interference.

S in  the following July 18331, a revolution broke ^Revolution 

out in Gwalior, in which all the troops and Thakoors, the Maharaja, 
except the Baiza Bai’s own kinsmen, declared for 
I ’ the Maharaja, The result "was that Jankoji Rao 

Sindia assumed the administration of affairs, and 
the Baiza Bai, having taken refuge in the British 
Residency, finally retired from Gwalior. In  August 
18332 a royal salute was fired from the ramparts of 
Fort William in recognition of the accession of 
Jankoji Rao Sindia.

1 Separate letter, Slst August 1833.
I  » Separate letter, 19th December 1833-
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m ture and The same year the question1 was revived as to the
duties of too „ _ , „ i n  i* x
Gwalior Con- nature and duties of the Gwalior Contingent# 
tiogent. Lord William Bentinek observed that Sindia’s 

government seemed perfectly willing to continue 
the maintenance of the force on the existing footing, 
because it gave them strength and importance in 
the eyes of their neighbours and subjects. More­
over such a force was of use to the British govern­
ment in preventing the turbulent and disaffected 
tribes of Central India from availing themselves 
of the separate and independent jurisdictions to 
re-establish the Pindari system. At the same time 
the services of tho Contingent were to bo strictly 
confined to its legitimate objects. I f  employed 
in matters of internal administration, the residue 
of British officers should he withdrawn. Other­
wise those officers might be employed in ousting or 
puttingdown jaghirdarsor native Rajas, of whom the 
British government knew nothing, and who were 
likely to he injured people; or they might be taking 
part in disputes for political power at the capital.

_ _  The prevalence of daco'ities in the neighbourhood .
Dacoitics ■* t i •

nnd boundary of Gwalior, and the defective state of the police, 
diapute8, Were brought by the British Resident to the notice 

of the Government of India. Complaints were also 
received respecting the movements of Sindia’s 
troops on the frontier during the adjustment of 
boundary disputes between the authorities of 
Sindia and those of Ameer Khan. The Govern­
ment of India ruled that there were no objections
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to independent States coming to an amicable
settlement amongst themselves a? regards such 
disputes, but a military demonstration on the fron­
tier was a very different affair.

The same year1 there had been a collision Collision 
between Sindia’s officials and some d&k-runners nor officials 
in the service of the British government respecting aak-runnm.h 
the payment of duties. The Government of India 
referred the matter to the Resident at Gwalior, 
expressing the hope that the Durbar would perceive 
the impropriety of detaining dak-runners. In  
case of misbehaviour it would he better for the 
Aumil to represent the matter to the nearest British 
functionary, which would ensure immediate redress.

In  1834, Mr. Cavendish, the Resident at Gwa- Question a* 
lior, raised a question2 as regards the Grassia Chiefs the
who received tunkahs. Lord William Bentinek Chiefs, 

observed that the conditions under which the 
Grassias received their tunkahs were generally 
specified at the time the settlements were made ; 
but His Lordship was not aware that depen­
dence, real or nominal, upon the authority who paid 
the tunkah, formed any parts of those conditions.
W ith all the Grassias it was probably a condi­
tion, expressed or implied, that they should keep 
the peace within their limits, as well as refrain 
from committing depredations. Their neglect to 
fulfil such conditions formed a fit subject for sub-

1 General letter, 10th July 1834.
* General letter, 6th April 1835.
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sequent investigation ; b u t the bare charge of 
their having so misbehaved could not justify the 
suspension of their stipends. To withhold pay­
m ent .would be the most likely means of instiga­
ting  the Grassias to re tu rn  to the irregular course 
of life, from  which it  was the object of the guar­
antee to reclaim  them. The Resident was accord­
ingly instructed to secure the punctual discharge of 
the  Grassias claims by Sindia’s government. Any 
misconduct could be investigated by the officers 
w ithin whose jurisdiction they m ight be located.

-
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INDORE.

Nothing of importance respecting Indore or Non-inter. 
Holkar is entered in the General letters to Europe British "gov! 
between. 1818 and 1825. In  1826 the Government ernment 
of India reported1 that there was continued and 
unbroken tranquillity throughout Malwa. No 
occurrences had happened of any importance. Mul- 
har Kao Holkar dismissed his Minister for undue 
familiarity with his mother, and a new Minister was 
appointed. The British government was adverse to 
this arrangement, hut refrained from all interfer­
ence.

In 1828 Mr. Wellesley, the Resident in Malwa, Removal of 
was ordered2 to withdraw the police posts from the p^tsf1 poUce 
high road from Malwa to Guzerat. lie  objected 
that the cost was only nine hundred rupees per 
mensem, and that the petty States traversed by the 
road refused to pay the money. The Government 
of India refused to maintain police posts in coun­
tries not under its jurisdiction, and ordered the 
charge of the roads to he made over to the native 
governments.

In 1829, under the head of Indore, there are Operations 
lengthy reports of the proceedings3 of Captain ^ instThn&'

1 General letter, 28th July 1828.
2 General letter, 3rd October 1829.
* General letter, 14th October 1830.
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Borthwick against the Thugs. Forty prisoners were 
condemned and executed as leaders of gangs of 
stranglers; twenty-one were transported and kept to 
hard labour for life; twelve were condemned to 
labour for shorter periods; arid one, a boy of eight 
or nine years of age, was sent to his native country, 
and set at liberty.

& refraotory0t ® lc case of Jugga Rawul, a Bheel Chief, who 
Bheei. had been imprisoned at Asirghur, was taken into 

consideration under instructions from the Court of 
Directors. Conciliatory measures had been tried 
with this man, but proved a failure. He broke the 
engagements he had made, and was the terror of the 
neighbourhood, until military operations compelled 
him to surrender. The Rawul of Banswarra recent­
ly  applied for his release, and promised to be secu­
rity  for his good conduct; he had even urged tha t 
the release of Jugga Rawul would help him in the 
management of the Blieels. The Raja of Pertabghur, 
who had equally suffered from the man’s depreda­
tions, strongly objected to his release. Major Stewart, 
the Resident at Indore, believed that the Rawul 
of Banswarra had been influenced by mercenary 
motives in requesting the release of this Bheel* 

Diaturban. In  1S33 there were disturbances amongst the 
tb*BbSS8t Bheel tribes1 in the Vindhya mountains on the 

north of the Nerbudda river. Mr. Martin, the 
Resident a t Indore, submitted a letter from Captain 
Outran*, who was employed against the Bheels in

1 General letter, 13th March 1834.



tlie Satpura range to the south of the rivqv. Cap­
tain Outram drew attention to the system instituted
by Sir John Malcolm for conciliating the Bheel 
tribes. He noticed the bad effects arising from the 
abolition of the Bliopawar Agency, and proposed 
the appointment of Captain Pettingall to carry on 
the political duties of that station. The Government 
of India appointed Captain Pettingall as a local 
Agent at Bhopawur, to bring about a pacification 
of the Bheels in that quarter.

Maharaja Mulliar Rao Holkar died on the 15th M̂ eatb 
October 18831. The son of Bapoo Holkar was Hoitav:qaes- 
adopted as successor to the throne of Indore. The tion. °f ad°P 
Government of India saw no objection to 
the adoption. The usual letter of condolence was 
sent to the widowed Rani. Lord William Bentinek 
observed that the Government of India was not 
bound to support this arrangement if i t  should be 
found to be illegal, or subversive of the rights of any 
other party, or contrary to the wishes of the majority 
of the Chiefs and followers of the Holkar State.

Mr. Martin, the Resident at Indore, had strongly Policy of 
urged the necessity for the active interference of the 
British government, through its representative, in by Lord wii- 
the future administration of Holkar’s government. tinTk.
Lord William Bentinek saw nothing in his arguments 
that would not equally apply to the administration 
of any other State during a minority. I f  tho appre­
hension of mismanagement justified the assurnp-

1 Separate letter, 31st July 183-1.
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tion of the internal administration of Indore, other 
States in India would view the proceedings of the 
British government with jealousy and d istru st; they 
would regard their own independence as resting on 
a very insecure basis. As regards the interests of 
the British government, it would incur all the odium 
attaching to measures of necessary economy, w ith­
out deriving any benefit from assuming the govern­
ment of the country. The Government of India 
accordingly determined to abide by the salutary 
system of non-interference. This resolution was not 
to prevent the Resident from offering his advice 
whenever it might be sought, or from making such 
suggestions as were calculated to promote the pros­
perity of the State.

Rival claim- Meanwhile the existence of two other claimants 
succession.̂ 6 was noticed

Is/,—ITuri Holkar, the son of the eldest ille­
gitimate brother of the late Jasw ant Rao TIolkar. 
This m an had been in  prison for rebellion ever since 
1819. Mr. M artin observed that H uri Holkar 
could have no legitimate claim to the inheri­
tance of his late cousin, which according to H indu 
law belonged of right to the adopted son. I f  no 
adoption had been made, and expediency had been 
the only guide, the mature age of Huri Holkar 
would have justified the propriety of recognising
him as the successor to the Raj.

2nd.—An infant son, recently bom  of a woman 
of the late Maharaja Mulhar Rao Holkar, of whom 
His Highness was the acknowledged father.



The Government of India informed the Eesident J ^ 8tb 
at Indore that it had no intention of departing from fuses to inter- 
its policy of non-interference. British influence 
however would not he exerted to maintain the present 
order of things, if opposed to the general wish of 
the country. The Government of India would not 
pronounce upon the relative superiority of the three 
claimants to the throne of Indore, namely, the adop­
ted son, the collateral relative, and the posthumous 
son. The decision must he left to the general voice 
of the country. The duty of the British govern­
ment was to maintain whatever arrangement might 
appear to he unequivocally consonant with the general 
will. On one point the British government would 
not remain passive. I f  Huri Holkar obtained the 
throne, British influence would be used to prevent 
vindictive measures towards his old opponents.

Reports were subsequently received from the Agitation 
I Resident of the unsettled state of affairs at Indore. b.ebalf, ofliuri Holkar.

Efforts were being made for the release of Huri 
Holkar, whose claim to the throne was acknowledged 
by the general voice.

Replies to the Governor-General’s letters of con- investiture 

dolence were received from the widowed Rani and Hdkar* 
others. A day was fixed for the investiture of the 
adopted son. The ceremony was carried out on the 
17th January 183d. The new Maharaja ascended 
the throne under the name of Martand Rao Holkar.

(In  the following April Huri Rao nolkar was in ^ u rt!o0nf 
released from confinement bv a body of armed men Hurf71 rJ

r " — “  “
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Durbar importuned for the interference of the 
British government. The .Resident was told to 
continue his intercourse with the existing autho­
rities, so long as they maintained their present 
position. If  Huri Rao Holkar subverted their 
authority and established his own, the Resident 
was to regard him as the sovereign of the State. 

J fc p -W  The protracted struggle led to a deplorable state 
BrÛ e' of affairs. Lord William Bentinck trusted that it 

would not be of long continuance. The commotions 
were very serious at Indore, because H un  Rao Holkar 
refused to receive a deputation from the Durbar. 
The Rani mother appealed to the Resident for 
advice; be persuaded her to relinquish the struggle 
and permit Huri Rao Holkar to assume the sover­
eignty. The authority of Huri Rao Holkar w as 
universally acknowledged throughout the country. 
Nothing was wanting to stem the tide of anarchy 
but the presence of Huri Rao Holkar at Indore.

Huri Rao At last Lord Willia m Bentinck complied with a 
?dto” c request of Huri Rao n o t e  for a party of British 
troopsBritish troops to escort him to the capital. This measure, 

His Lordship remarked, was consonant alike to policy 
and humanity, while it involved no departure 
from the policy of non-interference.

Invested by Huri Rao Holkar arrived at Indore, and assumed 
government the sovereignty amidst the acclamations of all 

classes. The Government of India conferred on him 
a khillut of investiture.

Growing In May every hope that Huri Rao Holkar would
anarchy.
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rule with a firm and energetic hand wa§ utterly 
disappointed. The affairs of Indore fell into a 
melancholy state. Lord Vi illiam Bentinck saw that 
some steps must be taken to prevent the spread of 
desolation and misery. His Lordship sent an 
impressive admonition to Iluri Rao Holkar.

In  1834 there were fresh complaints against the com-
oppressions of Huri Rao Holkar towards the son of 
the former Minister. As Lord William Bentinck Holkar' 
had already addressed serious remonstrances to H uri 
Rao Holkar, he did not deem it necessary to make a 
separate communication to liim on this individual 
complaint. But the Resident was authorised to tell 
Huri Rao that His Lordship had heard with deep 
concern the apparent want of consideration shown 
to the just claims of one, from whose family the 
Holkar State had received such able and faithful 
service.

1 General letter, Cth July 1835.



BHOPAL.

Regency of Shortly after the conclusion of the treaty of 1818, 
BegumKll'km the Nawab of Bhopal was killed by the accidental 

discharge of a pistol in the hands of a child. He had 
no son, hut he left one daughter, known as the 
Secunder Begum. He was succeeded by a nephew, 
a mere child, who was ultimately to marry the Secun­
der Begum. Meanwhile the Regency was entrusted 
to the mother of the Secunder Begum, who was 
known as the Kudsia Begum.

Conspiracy jn  1821 Major Henley, the Political Agent at 
Begum. 110 Bhopal, had been obliged more than once to inter­

fere in the administration.1 The Nawab was still 
young; the Bewail, or chief Minister, was devoid of 
energy; and some of the principal Chiefs were usurp­
ing his authority. There was a failure of credit and 
resources. A plot was formed for the destruction 
of the Regent Begum. Major Henley called on the 
Officer Commanding at Hoshungabad to hold the 
troops in readiness to advance. The measure proved 
successful. The plot was suppressed, and the leaders 
were banished or deprived of their posts. A native 
official of character and capacity was associated with 
theBewanas Joint Minister.

1 General letter, 13th June 1823#



In  1824 several members of the Patan aristocracy Compromise, 
of Bhopal were dissatisfied1 with the Begum and 
Ministers ; they fancied they had been treated with 
neglect. A compromise was effected by admitting 
two of the party into the administration.

In  1828 serious disputes broke out between the 
Regent Begum and the young Nawab2. The Begum igto* Jk* 
utterly refused to give her daughter in marriage to youngNawab. 
the young Nawab. I t  is needless to enter into 
details of this quarrel3. The Government of India 
had acknowledged the young Nawab as the lawful 
successor to the throne of Bhopal. Subsequently tlio 
young Nawab disclaimed all intention of assuming 
the administration unless it was conferred on him by 
the Regent Begum. I t  was alleged that he was 
physically disqualified for marriage. In  the end the 
Nawab withdrew his claim to be married to the 
Secunder Begum, and with it abandoned all preten­
sions to the throne. I t  was agreed that his younger 
brother should become Nawab, and be married in due 
course to the Secunder Begum.

In  1833 the Minister died,4 and the Begum Regent 
appointed her own brother to the office of Minister, ister.
The Government of India informed the Resident at 
Indore, that so long as the Begum continued to be 
Regent of the State, she must be unfettered in the 
choice of a M inister; and that there was no ground

1 General letter, 31st May 1826..
8 Separate letter, 10th April 1829.
8 Separate letter, 8th May 1829.

| * General letter, 10th July 1834.
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for the interference of the British government in

HieAct & dsif Tlie ^ e9ideIlt als0 reported that the Begum was 
Begum. trying to extort the consent of the Nawab to the 

maintenance of her own plans of administration 
beyond the time when the Regency should cease. 
The Government of India observed that no promise 
of a prejudicial nature obtained from the Nawab 
during his minority would be deemed binding upon 
him after he had attained to years of discretion. 
This view was to be distinctly explained to the 
Begum Regent.

Conditions Subsequently tlio Resident reported that the young
youngNawab. Nawab had been induced to sign a paper giving 

bis consent to the following conditions proposed by

B the Begum:—
1st.—That he would never marry any other wife 

than the Secunder Begum.
2nd.—That he would ho obedient in all things

to the Secunder Begum. • , I
Srd.—That he would -never call his parents to 

him except in cases of emergency.
The Nawab, however, had refused to reeognisethe 

Begum Regent’s brother in the capacity of Minister. 
Conspiracy In  1831 an alleged conspiracy was reported by 

at Bhopal. gong 0£ £PC Minister who died in 1833 in concert
with the parents of the Nawab. The object was to 
subvert the oxisting state of affairs in Bhopal; in 
other -words to overthrow the authority of the Begum 
Regent and her brother the Minister. _____ _

i General letter, 7th September 1835.
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The Political Agent, Mr. Wilkinson, reported . Question of

°  A interference.
tne measures he had taken to frustrate the designs 
of the conspirators. The Government of India 
approved of his proceedings, hut demurred at one of 
his expressions of opinion. Mr. "Wilkinson seemed 
to think that the British government was hound to 
interfere in the internal affairs of Bhopal for the 
purpose of maintaining the existing order of things 
against the designs of the conspirators.

The Government of India observed that the Views of the 
British government was certainly hound to protect 0f India. 
Bhopal against foreign aggression. B ut au 
attempt to effect a change in the administration could 
not he considered as an act of foreign aggression, 
which required the British government to step in 
for the protection of the Bhopal State. Mr.
Wilkinson however had acted rightly and properly 
in cautioning the neighbouring Chiefs against 
affording any countenance or encouragement to the 
conspirators.

Mr. Wilkinson was told to take every favourable Remon- 

opportunity afforded by these occurrences of im- "h'f'^Kudliu 
pressing on the Begum Regent the necessity for a Begum' 
strict performance of the engagements into winch 
she had entered with regard to the British alliance 
and the future prospects of the young Nawab.

BHOPAL. 1 37



r
 ! 3 8  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS. < S L

NURSINGPORE.

Murder Of The Raja of Nursinghur, a person of mean 
by° tS n‘i t  intellect and imbecile character, had abdicated the 

throne.1 His son Cheyn Singh became Regent. 
About the end of 1823 the Minister of Nursinglmr 
was murdered under circumstances of great atrocity. 
At the first the cx-Raja was suspected of being 
iniplicated in the murder. Ultimately it  was 
proved that his son, the Regent, was the murderer. 
Cheyn Singh then openly avowed the crime, and 
pleaded that the Minister had been justly put to

H death for his haughty and overbearing conduct.
British in. The Government of India felt that in its capacity 

terference. ag tlie param0unt power it was bound to punish
the crime. Cheyn Singh was told to retire into 
Hindustan with a small body of followers; and in­
formed that a suitable provision would be made for 
him until his contrition should induce the British 
government to restore him.

Punish- Cheyn Singh promised compliance, but evidently 
went Of the are(i for resistance. Persuasion was wasted on 

him. A detachment of British troops was ordered 
up, but still ho did not move, and his armed 
followers began hostile operations. At last his posi­
tion was attacked, and after a desperate resistance,

i General letter, 31st May 1826.
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he was defeated and slain with forty-five of his 
followers. ®

The Government of India lamented the loss of Danger 
life, but considered that Clieyn Singh deserved his avertod- 
fate. Had he escaped to the jungles at the head of 
his desperate band of outlaws, he might have 
become the terror and scourge of the whole country.



DHAE.

Adoption Tiie Eaja of Dhar died in 1834. The Eesident 
by the widow. ^  Gwalior reportedi that Jaswant Eao Powar had

been adopted by the widow of the deceased Eaja, 
and placed upon the throne with the acquiescence 
of all the parties concerned.

Necessity The Government of India would not refuse its 
tioV V X  consent ,to a measure which had been ratified by 
British t gov- thp phar authorities; but remarked that the 

arrangement ought to have been first submitted for 
the sanction of the British government. The 
despatch of a khillut of investiture was delayed 
so long as there was any prospect of a competition 
for the throne of Dhar.

Unsettled Mr. Bax, the Eesident at Indore, subsequently 
prospects. sported2 the removal of the Dhar Minister, Bappoo 

Euglionath, by the young B ani; he feared that the 
step taken would prove very injurious to the Dhar 
State. The Government of India remarked that if 
these anticipations were realised, it was much to be 
deplored, but there seemed to be no legitimate means 
by which the injurious effect could be averted. 1

1 General letter, 6th April 1836.
8 General letter, 7th September 1835.
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JABOOAH.

In  1833, the Baja of Jahooah died1, and was Disputes
* regarding the

succeeded by an adopted son. A younger son, Regency, 
named Moti Singh, was anxious to assume the 
administration during the minority. The elder 
Rani and the principal Thakoors were opposed to 
this arrangement.

The Resident thought that the British govern- Non-inter­
ment should interfere. The Government of India ferenc0' 
however ruled that there was no ground for depart­
ing from its policy of non-interference. Any 
attempt at coercing the younger son would be 
attended with odium. The Jabooah State was in a 
position to arrange the difficulty without British aid.

There was an objection to confer the khillut of Khillut of 
investiture, as Holkar’s government had a proba- 5nvcstiture- 
ble claim to exercise the privilege.1 2 The Govern­
ment of India, however, had invested a former 
Raja of Jabooah, and no objection had been raised 
by the Indore Durbar. Moreover no claim had been 
put forward by the Holkar State in the present 
instance. Accordingly the khillut of investiture was 
conferred according to the established precedent.

1 General letter, 13th March 1831.
2 General letter, 10th July 1834*
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Continued In  18341 there were long pending dissensions in 
dissensions, origiliating in a struggle for the supremacy

between the guardian of the minor Raja and 
Moti Singh, the brother of the deceased Raja. 
The Resident at Indore reported2 a renewal of 
aggressions in Jabooah by Moti Singh. He was 
directed to refrain from all intervention, beyond 
making it known that the British government 
would not interfere with the people of <7abooah in 
their election of a ruler.

1 General letter, 6tli April 1835,
* General letter, 7th September 1835.
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BUNDELKUND.

In  1821 , Mr. Maddock, the Acting Agent to the General
’ ,  _ •., , , condition of

Governor-G eneral, reported1 the generally peaceable Bundeikund. 
state of Bundeikund. Hostilities between the Chiefs 
and their Jaghirdars had been comparatively unfre­
quent during the previous year, but some disputes still 
remained to be settled in order to ensure tranquillity.

The highway between Saugor and Bundeikund state of the 
was exposed to constant robberies and murders. h,ghwai*- 
The road traversed the territories of Punnah, Bija- 
war and Churkaree; and reparation and punishment 
were impossible, owing to the defective condition 
of the police in those States and the neighbouring 
jagliirs. I t  was recommended that these States . 

i should be required to clear the j ungle on either side
j of the road for the space of a hundred yards; and

that each, should maintain guards at intervals with- 
! in his territory for the protection of travellers. I f  a 

robbery or murder was committed, and the offenders 
were not apprehended, the village in which the 
crime had been perpetrated was to be liable to for­
feiture with sufficient lands in the vicinity to main­
tain a police establishment.

Subsequently it appeared “ that cases of murder Discovery 
by a certain class called Thugs” were very ofThugew‘

1 General letter, 13th Jane 1823.



frequent in the Bundelkund States. Accordingly 
a further report was called for.1

Obligations Jn 1822 the question2 was raised of whether the 
government ̂  British government had renounced the right acquired 
to interfere. ^  ^  treaty of Poona to protect jagliirdars from 

the usurpations of the local Bundelkund rulers. 
The Government of India decided that it had 
never relinquished the right of interference for 
the correction of acts of gross and flagrant violence 
or oppression, committed by any of the dependent 
Bundelkund chieftains, even against their own 
subjects. Such a right naturally and necessarily 
flowed from the actual relations subsisting between 
the parties. I t  could not bo relinquished without 
depriving the British government of one of its 
most powerful means of rendering its paramount 
authority conducive to the welfare and tranquillity 
of the country. This interference however was 

' to be limited to cases clearly demanding it. There 
was no necessity for the British government 
going out of its way to interfere in jaghirs granted 
by the independent chieftains or their ancestors. 
But when the good faith of the British government 
■was involved in the maintenance of such grants, 
or when a general and indiscriminate resumption 
of jaghirs was carried out by a ruling chieftain, as 
might lead to disorder, the Government of India 
was bound to interfere. The holders of grants 
from the Peishwra stood on a different footing.

1 General letter, 12th September 1823. 
s General letter, 10th September 1824.
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In  their ease the Government of India plight bo 
bound to interfere. But the Peishwa seemed to 
have limited his interference to Mahratta Brahmans, 
a class which was the least likely to suffer positive 
injustice from their Hindu Chiefs, and were the best 
able to defend themselves. I t  was not therefore 
likely that any cause of this kind could arise, which 
w'ould call for British interference.

In  1825, a serious disturbance1 was created by a (/ t'j ^ 'pdion 
petty jaghirdar, known as Nuance Pundit. He Pundit, 
raised a force to resist some order of his local 
superior, the Chief of Jaloun. Mr. Ainslie, the 
Agent to the Governor-General, ordered him to 
disband bis force. The Nunnee Pundit then 
attacked the fortress of Culpee, but was repulsed by 
a detachment of Native Infantry, and his force was 
dispersed. lie  fled into Sindia’s territory, but was 
given up by the Maharaja. He was henceforth 
imprisoned in the Fort of Chunar. The Chief of 
Jaloun confiscated his jaghir.

Duringthe first Burmese war the Chiefs of Bundel- Contrilm-
kund offered sums of money towards the expendi- uT^umeso 
ture. The amounts were accepted as subscriptions war- 
to the public loan ; and the Chiefs were encouraged 
to vest a portion of their hoarded wealth in these 
securities.

In  1831 the Agent of the Governor-General for Massacre 
Bundelkund reported2 the death of the Raja of at 0yrclia- 
Oorcha, and the succession of a younger brother.

1 General letter, 27th July 1826.
2 General letter, 7th September 1885.
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He addoi that the demise of the Baja had been 
followed by a massacre, bu t that the cause and 
particulars were unknown; and that he did not 
consider himself authorised to institute any minute 
enquiry into the matter without previous sanction.

Duty of the The Government of India replied that on the
wnmeiit g°to occurrence of such an extraordinary atrocity as that 
interfere. wllicll t ]ie Agent alluded, it was both the right

and the duty of the paramount power to learn all 
the circumstances connected with the catastrophe, 
in order to punish the actors, or a t any rate save 
itself from the indignity of countenancing its 
perpetrators. A full report was called for, both 
as regards the massacre, and the extent to which 
the right of the younger brother had been recog­
nized by the people of Oorcha.

Complaints In  1834 the Governor-General received letters 
$  thejhSsi from the Baja of Jhansi complaining of thedevasta- 
ofj'subjcc? tion of his country by his rebellious subjects, and of 

the assistance awarded them by neighbouring States.
The Agent for Bundelkund was told that the 

Baja’s allegations were of a serious nature, and this 
was not the first time they had been advanced. 
The Agent was further told to state how far they 
were well founded; also to report upon the present 
condition of Jhansi territory.

. 1 4 6  - SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS. <SL
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Sumpthur is one of the three States in Bundel- of
kund that have concluded formal treaties with the 

0  British government. In 1827 the Raja of Sumpthur 
died.1 The elder Rani had no children. The 
younger Rani had an infant son who succeeded to 
the throne. The first question to he decided was 
the appointment of a Manager to conduct the affairs 
of Sumpthur under the control of the Rani mother, 
and to act as guardian to the infant Raja.

At this period there were two parties in Sumpthur. Two parties 
One was headed by Bahadur Singh, the uncle of tLmwie'aocl 
the infant Raja, and was more or less supported tho Alu,,ster- 
by the elder Rani who was childless. The other 
party was headed by Omrut Singh, the chief 
Minister who had long enjoyed the confidence of 
the deceased Raja, I t  was also supposed that 
Omrut Singh was supported by the Rani mother.

Mr. Ainslie, the Agent of the Governor-General . 9^ectio,tls 
for the States of Bundelkund, was opposed to the appointment 
appointment of Bahadur Singh as Manager. Baha- Manager! * 
dur Singh was an ambitions man, and liis nearness 
of kin rendered it dangerous to entrust him with 
the guardianship of the minor Raja. Accordingly 
Mr. Ainslie reported to the Government of India

f p  • (Si
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1 Special letter, 10th April 1829.



that he had requested Omrut Singh to continue to 
conduct the affairs of Sumpthur as Manager; and 
that ho expected shortly to be informed of tho 
views of the Rani mother as regards the future 
administration of Sumpthur.

Dissensions. Dissensions had broken out between the two parties 
in Sumpthur, very shortly after the death of the 
Raja in 1827. The Killadar or Commander of the 
fort of Sumpthur was murdered. Omrut Singh * 
suppressed the disorders and placed some restraint 
upon Bahadur Singh; but was induced shortly 
afterwards to remove the sentries.

Arrest, of Subsequently Omrut Singh was one day about to
tire Minister. .

leave the tort, when he found himself a prisoner. 
Bahadur Singh had closed the gates, and assumed the 
chief authority. Mr. Ainslie sent an order to the 
usurper to restore Omrut Singh to his authority as 
Manager. Bahadur Singh was also called upon to 
attend the Agent’s camp. Mr. Ainslie assured 
Bahadur Singh of personal security, and promised 
to enquire into his alleged ■grievances. Bahadur 
Singh agreed to come, but^ffterwards excused him­
self on the score of rheumatism.

Opposition Mr. Ainslie deputed a native official to learn theof tho Ram # L
mother to tho wishes of the Rani mother. At the interview
Mmistv! which followed, the Rani mother distinctly stated 

that she was averse to Omrut Singh retaining his 
power. Mr. Ainslie proposed an interview with 
the Rani mother at a place about twenty miles 
from Sumpthur. Meanwhile he applied to the 
Government of India for orders as to the protection

• \  £ |>  •" M B SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS. <SL



of the young Raja, and the interests of the State ;
he remarked that both objects would be promoted 
by a display of military force.

The Government of India issued orders to the Oidm of 
following effect; Military preparations were prema- montGof Ta­
ta r  e. I t  was not to be assumed that the usurping dia- 
party in the Raj would resist the final decision 
of the British government. Before that deci- 

* sion could be arrived at, the real merits must be 
fully investigated and reported. The season allow­
ed ample time for enquiry, explanation, remon­
strance, and negotiation, wrhilst maintaining a tone 
and attitude becomin g the dignity of the British 
government in a matter in which its authority had 
been somewhat set a t defiance.

The Government of India observed that there was Question «* 
a doubt as to who -was to bo considered the legitimate .̂pointing °a 
head of the State of Sumpthur during the m inority; Manager, 

and consequently as to who possessed the right of 
appointing a Manager. I t  was a question whether 
the elder Rani or the Rani mother possessed that 
authority. I t  was however abundantly manifest 
that Omrut Singh, whatever might be his abilities 
and fitness for the trust, was extremely unpopular 
with all parties at Sumpthur. I t  was even doubtful 
whether ho possessed the good-will of the Rani 
mother, wdio had been supposed to favour him.

Mr. Aiuslie was ordered to proceed at once to inres%a.« 
Sum pthur; to order the release of Omrut Singh ; to tlonordelod\ 
ascertain who was the legitimate Regent of Sump­
thur ; to enquire what were the established usages

P f i  (St
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of the Raj as regards the government of the country 
during minorities ; to find out the general feeling of 
the chiefs and people as regards the appointment of 
a Manager. The Government of India was prepared 
to recognise any man as Manager—Bahadur Singh, 
Omrut Singh, or any other official—provided only 
that the appointment was in accordance with the 
popular voice, and approved by the legitimate 
Regent.

Diiukop Mr. Ainslie went to Sumptliur. He restored con- 
Bd“slMftD*gor fiance by placing the minor Raja on the throne. He 
hljgent? 3Rani rePorfe(i that the Rani mother was R egent; that 

she desired the appointment of Dbuleep Singh as 
Manager. This man was the eldest son of the Killa- 
dar of Sumpthur fort, who had been murdered. Next 
to Omrut Singh he was considered by all parties to 
be fitted for the post.

Acquies- The Government of India ordered Mr. Ainslie to 
British0* gov” inform the Rani Regent and Dhuleep Singh that it 
eminent. concurred in the nomination of a Manager selected 

by the Rani Regent and the assembled Chiefs.
Satisfhc- In May following it was reported1 that the sefc- 

ment. seW!e' Moment of Sumpthur was satisfactory. The new 
Manager Dhuleep Singh was approved by the Rani 
Regent and all the ladies of the zenana. The whole 
Goorgur tribe, who constituted the ruling and pre­
dominant class in Sumpthur, were equally well dis- 

gr posed towards him. Bahadur Singh had disappeared
from Sumpthur.

I  " 150 SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS.

1 General letter, 8th May 1829,
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In  1829 fresh disturbances broke out in Sumpthur Disturb-
, . . ., , , ances and

and sanguinary outrages were committed.1 The anarchy.

Rani Regent, however, vindicated the authority 
which her party seemed to possess. Mr. Ainslie re­
ported tha t the Rani Regent was completely under 
the control of an officer named Khas Qualum ; 

j  that Khas Qualum had become the virtual Manager 
of the R a j; that unless he was deprived of power there 
was no hope of any improvement in the affairs of 
Sumpthur. The Agent further reported tha t the 
country was torn by faction and drifting into 
anarchy; and he feared tha t Sumpthur woidd be 
utterly ruined before the Raja attained his majority.
He recommended that a native agent should be 
deputed to Sumpthur to act as a check upon Khas 
Qualum, and upon the party opposed to his eleva­
tion.

The Government of India regretted the state of British gov- 
affairs a t Sumpthur, but did not consider th a t fuJegTointer- 
it  was bound to interfere for the purpose of setting **'-"• 
up a new ministry, and regulating the internal 
affairs. The British government was not respon­
sible for the anarchy in Sumpthur, and could not 
apply a remedy without revolutionising the institu­
tions of the country. The very existence of such 
a state of things presented in itself a strong addi­
tional motive for sedulously avoiding authoritative 
interference, of which the success was very doubtful.

x General letter, 9th October 1829,



TRani Re- Mr. A insMe was directed to abstain from mam- 
S t f 'S d  testing any extraordinary interest in behalf of the 
of tbe State. ex.Manager Omrat Singh, or any other minister

who was out of power. Any leaning on his part 
would only encourage intrigues against the Eani 
Regent, or an open opposition to her authority. 
She was the legitimate head of the government 
during the minority of the Raja. No sanction 
could be given to the proposal to depute a native 
agent to act as a check upon Khas Qualum and 
her party.

Destruction In  January 1830 there wore fresh scenes of 
M i n i .  ex‘ bloodshed and outrage.’ The Rani Regent sent a 

large force against the fort of Bassoobee, where 
Omrat Singh had taken up his residence. Before 
the fort was stormed, Omrut Singh built up a large 
funeral pile, and placed his family and property 
upon it. A quantity of gunpowder was placed 
underneath the pile. The powder was fired and the 
whole was blown into the air. The fort was imme­
diately attacked, and Omrut Singh, and all who 
adhered to his fortunes, perished in the storming of
the place.

Resets The Government of India expressed its extreme 
and dlsappro- regret and disapprobation. Omrut Singh had court- 
S t is h  gov! Cd his fate; the tragic circumstances were his 
enmumt. ^  The Rani Regent might have good

reasons for wishing to dispossess him from the fort, 
although those she assigned had little validity. 
Omrut Singh had opposed her orders, and so far had 
* —  -  raj., October 1830,
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placed himself in opposition to her government.
Nevertheless it was too probable that the Rani and 
her party had deliberately resolved on his destruc­
tion, in order to gratify their revenge, and effect the 
removal of a hated political opponent. The dis­
credit of the sanguinary and deplorable catastrophe, 
which followed their unjust attack upon Omrut 
Singh, as well as the responsibility of it, must 
necessarily fall upon the administration of the Rani 
Regent.

Mr, Ainslie was directed to communicate to the Remon- 
Rani Regent the strong feelings of concern and *ianctB' 
dissatisfaction excited in  the mind of the Govern­
ment of Ind ia ; to express in unreserved language 
its disapprobation of outrages and oppression in 
protected States. The moral influence of the British 
government would thus be directed to restrain 
mismanagement and violence; although it might 
not be consistent with its policy, nor indeed always 
at the option of the British government, to prevent 
such occurrences by decided and authoritative 
interference.

The Agent was directed to transmit copies of his of
coiTespondence with the Rani Regent to enable the liey of* non- 
Government of India to judge how far so positive ,nterfcrfnce- 
and unreserved a declaration of the policy of non­
interference v$as called for from the British govern­
ment. Its immediate effect had been to let loose 
every bad and revengeful passion upon the head of 
the unfortunate victim. I t  would be satisfactory 
to find that if the declaration could be avoided, it

|
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was a t , least accompanied by tbe strongest re­
monstrance against violence and cruelty. 

forB̂ tishm- -^r- -A-inslie forwarded the correspondence called 
toi'fwence. for, and stated his opinion that unless a system of 

interference was introduced into the independent 
States of Sumpthur, Duttiah, Jhansi and Oreha, 
beyond what was authorised by the treaties, it would 
be impossible to prevent similar occurrence's, as 
mere expressions of disapprobation appeared to be 
wholly inelfectual.

(vt'ffiyV ' " * - 1
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PUNNAH.

In  1829 a Brahmin returned to Pnnnah after Execution 
performing a pilgrimage to Brindabun. The Raja fbrttahcreft! 
of Punnah was attacked with leprosy about the 
same time. Accordingly he suspected the Brahmin 
of haring bewitched him, and put the man to death 
on the ground that his leprosy was tlio conse­
quence.

Mr. Ainslie, the Agent of the Governor-General for Deposition 
Bundelkund, remonstrated with the Raja. He pro- r « £ e d  
posed to the Government of India that the Raja 
should he removed from the head of affairs at Pun- 
nah, and he required to reside at Benares or Jaga- 
nath Puri. Meantime the widow of the Brahmin 
had heard of the murder of her husband and per­
formed a Suttee.

The government of Lord William Bentinck deci- Deposition 
ded1 that the Raja of Punnah was no longer fitted ordeied' 
to govern his country. The management was to be 
committed to the same servants who had carried 
on the administration during the Raja’s absence on 
a previous occasion. The eldest son of the Raja 
was in his seventeenth year, but his character was 
so had that it was thought best to cany on the gov-

1 General letter, 14th October 1831.
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eminent in the name of the Baja, so as to exclude 
all claim on the part of the son.

Pimnah63 at In  1834 the Raja died ; 1 five human beings perish­
ed in the. Suttee at Punnah. The Agent of the Gover­
nor-General was directed to communicate to the rul­
ing authorities at Punnah a sense of the deep abhor­
rence with which the shocking practice was regarded 
by the British government. He was not to use terms 
which would inspire a dread of authoritative inter­
ference, but only such as w'ould impress upon all par­
ties the detestation in which the practice was held 
by the Government of India.

1 General letter, 6th July 1836.
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SOHAWUL.

Sohawul is one of the protected States of Bhagel- g status of 
kund. I t  is not held under a treaty, but under a 
sunnud.

In  1826,1 Lai Amin Singh was Jagliirdar of Soha- Disruta,° ° between tbo
wul. His son Lai Bughonath Singh was Manager. Manager ana 
Lai Rughonath applied to Mr. Maddock, the amerthant*’
Agent to the Governor-General for Malwa, for assist­
ance in recovering four villages which had been 
mortgaged to a mahajun, or merchant. The Man­
ager stated that the mahajun had already received 
seven thousand rupees in excess of the sum due.
Mr. Maddock called on the mahajun for the ac­
counts. The mahajun represented that the terms of 
the mortgage exempted him from producing any 
accounts as regards three of the villages; but he was 
ready to present the accounts of the fourth village.

About the end of 1827, Mr. Maddock heard from Threatened 
several quarters that the Manager of Sohawul, and '
the mahajun in question, were each raising troops 
and preparing for open hostilities. Both, however, 
were willing to submit their claim to the arbitra­
tion of Mr. Maddock. Accordingly Mr. Maddock 
agreed to mediate, and appointed eight arbiters 
selected by either party.

• . J t  ■ • SOHAWUL. 1 57  <SL
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Settled by j n March 1828 the award was given ; five of the 
arbitration, were | n favour of the maliajun, and the

remaining three for the Manager of Sohawul. Mr. 
Maddock accepted the decision of the majority. In 
July 1828, the Manager was called upon to pay up 
the claim due to the mahajun on the three villages, 
and was authorized to demand the account of col­
lections in the fourth village.

Bnd faitb In  December 1828, the Manager signed a bond 
t>£ the Maim- agreeing to abide by Mr. M ad (lock s decice, and 
gW' promised to find security for the payment of the

instalments. In  February 1829 he seized one of 
the villages, and plundered the maliajun of all his 
property. The Manager was summoned to Jubbul- 
pore to answer for the faithless violation of a solemn 
engagement made in the presence of a British officer. 
The charge was investigated by Mr. Maddock, and 
reported to the supreme authority.

Orders of The Government of India offered some remarks 
ment of'india on the propriety of interference in this particular 
«8 regards in- cage> rp]ie action of the Manager of Sohawul was 

pronounced to be most unlawful and contumacious; 
it constituted a contempt of authority and violation 
of the public peace. As Lai Rughonath Singh was 
onlv Manager of Sohawul, and the Jaghirdar Lai 
Amin Singh was still living, the propriety of de­
claring Sohawul a forfeiture would have to be taken 
into consideration. Meanwhile Lai Rughonath 
Singh was to make full compensation to the maliajun 
to the amount of seventeen thousand rupees, which 
was the estimated value of the plundered property ;

1 5 8  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS.



and lie was to be kept at Jubbulpore until the 
amount was paid. In  case of difficulty, a portion of 
the Sohawul Jaghir was to be attached, as the 
Jaghirdar was to some extent responsible for the 
acts of the Manager.

Further enquiries showed1 that the Jaghirdar Sohawul 
had retired from the management in 1825 and f S g J j j S  
become a religious recluse. The Agent reported that vUion- 
he was almost an idiot and incapable of managing 
his estate. The eldest son had already shown by his 
crimes that he was unfit for the duty; and the 
father admitted that his other son was equally 
criminal. The Agent recommended that the estate 
should be placed under British management, as the 
only way of obtaining compensation for the wrongs 
of the suffering villagers inflicted by the late Mana­
ger. The Government of India ordered that Sohawul 
should be placed under the management of an 
Ameen, subject to the control of the Agent, until 
the compensation should have been paid. The case 
was then to be again taken into consideration.

1 General letter, 14th October 1830.
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REWAH.

Aggros- i n 1829 Mr. Maddock, the Agent of the
sions o f tlio '—*

ltaja towards Governor-General for the States of Bundelkund, 
ina obit'i'h. cQjpmented1 on the systematic aggressions and 

resumptions practised by the Raja of Rewah 
towards his feudatories and jaghirdars. Under the j 
treaty of 1814 the Raja was pledged not to molest 
the Jaghirdar of Simeriah. In  1823 the Jaghirdar 
appealed to the British government for protection, 
and an adjustment was effected. In  1828 he 
requested that the article introduced in the treaty 
in his favour might be withdrawn. The Govern­
ment accordingly cancelled the article. Immedi­
ately afterwards he was deprived of his estate by 
the Raja.

1 General-letter, 3rd October 1829.
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COOCH BEHAR.

Tlie affairs of Ooocli Behar1 are very little Obscure 
noticed in the General letters. The Raja was S S uS ta? 
supposed to pay yearly tribute, and occasionally 
some arrears were paid up. At intervals a British 
Commissioner was appointed to manage the State.

In  1834, the Raja of Cooch Behar announced Non-inter, 
his intention of going on a pilgrimage to Benares, ft® * British 
accompanied by his eldest son. He left his second g0V6mni<mt- 
son in charge of the government of the State during 
his absence. The Government of India informed tho 
Agent of the Governor-General on the North-East 
1 rentier, that whilst it would have been desirable for 
the Raja to have made a different arrangement, yet 
so long as he lived there was to be no interference 
in his management of affairs.

1 General letter, 6th April 1833. — — -
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SIKHIM.

Beginning The political relations of the British government 
relations!'110*11 with the little State of Silchim began at the out­

break of the Nipal war of 1814 and 1815, and are 
generally noticed under the head of Nipal. At the 
conclusion of the war, the tract of country between 
the Mechi and the Testa rivers, which the British 
had wrested from Nipal, was made over to the 
Baja of Silchim by treaty.

Status of The territory of Sikhim formed a political block 
8ikhira' between Nipal on the west and Bhootan to the 

eastward. The object of the treaty with Sikhim 
had been to prevent the extension of Nipal con­
quest to the eastward. But two other advantages 
might have been expected from the geographical 
position of Sikhim. I t  lay between the British 
dominion on the south, and Thibet territory on the 
north. I t  might thus be proved a means for open­
ing up a communication with Thibet and the Chinese 
authorities at Lhassa. I t  might also exercise some 
observation over the neighbouring State of Bhootan.

Atrocities After the peace with Nipal, the affairs of Sikhim 
»u Sikhim. excite(j_ ]3Ut little attention or interest. About 1825" 

the Baja committed some frightful atrocities in 
the family of an uncle, who was one of the Kaijecs 
or Chiefs of Sikhim. Several persons were mnr- 

5 General letter, 8th May 1829.
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dered, and a large number fled into Nipal territory;
A letter was sent to tbe Baja of Sikhim, express­
ing very strongly the feelings of the British govern­
ment as regards these barbarities. But the Govern­
ment of India was not in a position to take any action 
in the internal affairs of Sikhim, or to exercise any 
interference between the Itaja and his Chiefs.

In  1829, the Baja of Sikhim1 complained that f Demands 
certain of his ryots had taken refuge in Nipalese, agwostN^u 
and called on the British government to interfere 
for their surrender. These were the men who had 
fled from the scene of murder. The Baja threatened 
to recover the refugees by force at the risk of an 
open rupture with the Nipalese government. Mr.
Scott, the Agent to . the Governor-General on the 
North-East Frontier, attempted to explain to him 
that British interference was out of the question.
He proposed to withdraw a small detachment of 
British troops that were posted at the fortress of 
Nagree in Sikhim territory, in order to convince 
the Baja of his folly. The Government of India 
approved the action of Mr. Scott, and sent a letter 
of remonstrance to the Baja.

Subsequently disputes arose respecting the boun- f Discovery 

daries between Sikhim and Nipal. British officers as '̂ianata* 
were deputed to investigate the cause of quarrel num' 
and to settle the frontier. This led to the discovery 
of Darjeeling in Sikhim territory, and its favourable 
position as a sanatarium. The proposal to establish

1 General letter, 9th October 1830,



a sanatorium at Darjeeling had been first discussed 
in 1830. I t  was opposed by Sir Charles Metcalfe and 
Mr. Bayley on the ground that it would excite the 
jealousy of the Nipalese authorities. Subsequently 
Lord William Bentinck visited Mussoori, and was 
much impressed with the comfort and advantage of 
a residence in the hills, at an altitude where 
it was dry as well as cold. Cherapoonjee had 
been originally suggested as a sanatorium, but was 
so excessively damp from the heavy rainfall as to 
be unfit for the purpose.

1 Geueral letter, lOtb July 1834.
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ASSAM.

In  18181 there were no treaty relations between Revolution 
the British government and Assam. In  1819 there “  Assam' 
was a revolution in the affairs of Assam. Poorunder 
Singh was nominally Baja of Assam. His principal 
minister was known as the Booda or Bura Gohayn.
Both were driven from Gowhatti by a disaffected 
party headed by Chunder Kaunt. This last man 
was a competitor to the 31aj. He was supported by 
the Burmese; and also by an army composed of the 
subjects of the Man Baja, with other rude tribes 
bordering on Assam.

The exiles, Poorunder Singh and the Gohayn, EsiIeg iu 
applied to the British government for help. They n,itifih tern- 
were told that the British government did not inter- toms' 
fere in disputes within Foreign States; but that 
the exiles would find an asylum within British 
territory so long as they conducted themselves 
peacefully.

Chunder Kaunt in his turn applied for the sur­
render of the refugees, but was told that the British of thTTe^ 
government never refused an asylum to political eeos rcfusfcd- 
exiles. The Government of India however was wil­
ling to live on terms of friendship with the existing 
ruler of Assam, and to comply with his wishes when-

1 General letter, 12th September 1873,
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ever they’were not at variance with established usage. 
The Burmese government also called upon the 
Government of India for the surrender of the 
refugees, and was answered in the same terms.

Burmese Meanwhile Chunder Knunt had come into con- 
Assam!' ” °f diet with the Burmese, l ie  connived at the murder 

of the Assamese Minister, who was in the interest 
of the Burmese. Subsequently Chunder Kaunt 
was expelled by the Burmese, and a Burmese Raja 
set up in his room.

General The Burmese in Assam were strongly reinforced 
aimm from a vu. Alarm was felt in British India at the ap­

pearance of a formidable power on the frontier in the 
place of a weak government like that of Assam. The 
Burmese threatened that unless the Assamese re­
fugees were delivered up, they would follow them 
into British territory and carry them off as prisoners.

 ̂Dispute  ̂ Subsequently the dispute arose between the Bur­
bank. mese and the British authorities about a sand island 

near Goalparah, on which a flag had been erected 
to distinguish it from' the Assam dominion. The 
Burmese threatened to take forcible possession of the 
island. The Burmese forces in Assam were greatly 
reduced1 in numbers, but, still much inconvenience 
was felt from their proximity to the British frontier. 
These soldiers carried nothing but their arm s; sub- 
sisted upon what they found in the countries they in­
vaded ; and might easily have floated down the Brah­
maputra river into British territory on boats or rafts.

1 6 6  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS.
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rmese Governor of Assam requested per- Passage of
1 _ Assamese

mission to pass through British territory at Ohitta- slaves refused 
gong, on his way to Arakan, with three hundred ^veramett.' 
armed followers, and a number of Assamese slaves.
Permission was granted for the Governor to travel 
through British territory; hut he was told that he 
could not bring more than thirty armed followers 
with him. He was also told that he could not bring 
any of the Assamese captives who had become 
slaves, as it was contrary to the laws and usages of 
the British nation to allow the passage of slaves 
through any of its territories.

In  1823 the British government was compelled British oc-
. . .  . . . . .  . cupation ofby the exigencies of the coming war with Burmah to Assam. 

k send a military force into Assam for the protection 
of its own frontier. When the war was over, the 
Agent of the Governor-General on the North-East 
Frontier began to make arrangements for the settle­
ment of Assam.

The country was in a wretched state. In  1825 . Wretched 
there was a famine. I t  was an ancient custom in country, 
time of famine for all persons who owed service 
to the State to sell themselves as slaves to the gov­
ernment. In  Assam the whole male population 
owed service to the State.

In  1828 the Agent of the Governor-General had Assam sia- 
issued a proclamation permitting the people to sell [ £ .  *b°! 
themselves as slaves.1 The Government of India 
however had already abolished slavery in their terri-

1 General letter, 8th May 1829.



tones, and consequently relinquished all claims upon 
the people of Assam.

singphoo jn  1830 Assam was invaded hy the Singphoos, a
mv as km.

wild hill tribe, of whom nothing appears to have 
been known.

Division of j n 1833 the Government of India made over
Assar*’ be- # #
tweenPoorun- Upper Assam to Baja Poorunder Singh, the man 
the British"'1 who had been expelled by Chunder Kaunt and the 

Burmese. Lower Assam was brought under the 
management of the Agent to the Governor-General.

Chunder Kaunt protested against the accession
Claims of of Poorunder Singh to the throne of Upper Assam, 

Kaunt reject- and urged his own claim to that dignity. The Gov- 
tbA govern- eminent of India ordered that an answer should be 
ment. given to Chunder Kaunt to the following effect.

When the British government sent a force into 
Assam they found the country occupied hy the 
Burmese foreigners. The rule of the native 
princes was altogether subverted; the whole pro­
vince was in acknowledged subjection to the Ava 
government with whom the British government 
was a t war. The British army carried on a series of 
successful operations against Ava; the former princes 
of Assam rendered no assistance ; on the contrary, 
they appeared to he in communication with the 
enemy. At last the British government drove the 
Burmese out of Assam. The inhabitants of Assam 
tendered their allegiance to the power which rescued 
them from a state of hopeless suffering. Assam

' 1 6 8  SUMMARY OF AFFAIRS.
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I passed under the sway of the British government.
Since then Clrander Kaunt had been living on a 
pension under British protection. In  assigning a 
certain tract of country to Raja Poorunder Singh, 
the Government of India had exercised its right as 
the pafdmount authority in Assam.

The village settlement was introduced into the Corrupt
• K T . , , , ,  native admin-new province of Lower Assam ; but native collec- istration. 

tors were appointed to the district, under a native 
system which was utterly corrupt. Before they 
could obtain charge of a district, they had been 
compelled to fee the native officials a t Gow- 
hati. Every collector furnished security on which 
he paid a commission of ten per cent., a sum equal to 
the whole of his legitimate salary. lie  was required to 
pay half a year’s revenue into the treasury before he 
had realised any of the collections of his d istrict; 
and on this advance he had to pay interest from fifty 
to a hundred and twenty per cent. Further it 
appeared that in some instances, whatever land 
remained unassessed from being unoccupied was 
thrown on the hands of the collector at an arbitrary 
valuation, and he was expected to make good 
the revenue, though the necessity for such an 
arrangement originated in the want of ryots.

Under such circumstances there had been com- Orders of 
plaints of undue exactions on the ryots. The ment^Tu,' 
Government of India remarked that « it was quite dia‘ 
evident from these facts that the revenue system 
was erroneous, and that its tendency must have 
been to convert even a well-disposed native office 
into an extortioner.”

' n  ■
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CACIIAH.

Distracted The tract known as Oachar lies on the north-east
0 of Ca-char. frontier to the south of Assam. I t  used to be bound­

ed by Bengal on the west and Munipore on the 
east. Little is known of the country before the 
first Burmese war. I t  was distracted by internal 
struggles for the ascendancy, and exposed to constant 
aggressions from the side of Munipor0- Ultimately 
the hill tract was seized by a rebel Chief ; the Baja 
failed to expel liim, and this division was finally 
recognised.

British an* In  1830 the Baja was assassinated, leaving no des- 
the plains. ° Cendant real or adopted. The sovereignty of the whole 

had thus lapsed to the British government; but the 
hill tract was ]eft in the hands of the rebel Chief, 
and the remaining country annexed to the British 
dominion.

Satisfaction This arrangement1 was in accordance with the 
tarn®. wishes of the inhabitants. The heads of villages 

and districts, and the people at large, were evidently 
anxious that the British government should assume 
the administration. In  1833 Cachar was thought 
to he of no value, excepting that it interposed between 
Sylhet on the south and Assam on the north, and
_____________ ;____ _ _ _________________________
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between the Cossiah hills on the west and Munipore
on the east.

Lord William Bentinck was anxious for the Proposed 
introduction of European skill and capital into T lS p Z n  
Cachar. For this purpose he desired the removal of ^  and ca* 
existing restrictions from Cachar, as regards the 
possession of land. In  those parts of India which 
wrere fully populated, there were objections to the 
settlement of Europeans ; chiefly on account of 
the character of those among whom they must settle, 
and the probablo collisions which would take place 
between the European proprietors and the inhabi­
tants. But in Cachar all these conditions wer° 
different.

Accordingly application was made to the Court Application 
of Directors that Europeans might be allowed to lltfC d?*  
occupy waste lands in Cachar on the same terms that 
they were permitted to obtain grants in the Sunder- 
bunds. Lord W illiam Bontinck’s government observ­
ed that a road through Cachar into Munipore was of 
the fust importance. I t  was necessary to render 
Munipore accessible to British troops. I t  was 
essential for the improvement of the resources of 
Cachar, as well as for tb efficiency of the police 
required for the proteetioe of travellers. The con­
struction was further recommended by the consider­
ation that the road mightbe easily kept in order by 
the Baja of Munipore through the instrumentality 
of the Naga tribes.

The Government of India also considered a pro- Proposed 
posal to grant lands in Cachar to veteran sepoys in £ranfc ?f lands 
lieu of pensions. Cacharafforded abundance of fer- poyat*’™1

7 f W %  Q r
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tile soil, on easy terms. Retired sepoys could 
invite their friends or kinsmen to join them as 
colonists; whereas, in other parts of British India, 
where waste lands had been given in lieu of pen­
sions, there was no inducement of the kind.
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JY NTEA H.

In  1821 the State of Jynteah was taken under British pro- 

British protection in consequence of the outbreak BunnLowarf 
of war with Burma. The B aja of Jynteah furnished 
no assistance during the war, hut acknowledged his 
allegiance to the British government.

The affairs of Jynteah attracted hu t little atten- Question
, , ~  ox tribute.

tion until the year 1833,1 when Lord W illiam 
Bentinck was Governor-General. A new B aja had 
succeeded to the throne, and hesitated to enter into 
any engagement for the payment of tribute to the 
British government. He was told by the Agent of 
the Governor-General on the North-East Frontier 
tha t he would not be recognised by the British 
government as B aja of Jynteah, until he bound 
himself to contribute something towards the general 
defence of the frontier. The Government of India 
approved the action of the Agent.

The same year it was reported2 that tho Jynteah . 
authorities had kidnapped four British subjects for j>ed for sacri- 

sacrifice. The B aja was supposed to be implicated, 
and was told tha t unless he helped to bring the 
perpetrators to justice, he would incur the serious 
displeasure of the British government.

1 General letter, 31st March 1834,
* General letter, 10th July 1834



British in- In  1334 the Agent on the North-East Frontier
terference. sen  ̂a British officer to Jynteah to effect a reconci­

liation between the Raja and his disaffected Chiefs. 
The Government of India approved1 2 of the measure 
on the supposition that the continuance of disturb­
ances in Jynteah would affect the tranquillity of 
tho Cossiah districts in British territory; otherwise 
it  would have been considered inconvenient for the 
British government to have interfered between a 
sovereign prince and his subjects in a quarrel in 
which it had no concern.

jynteah All this while constant demands were made on 
Stud miph ^ 10 Jy ^ e a h  Raja to punish the perpetrators of the 

human sacrifice, which i t  was discovered had taken 
place at Gobah. Tho chieftain of Gobah was 
also concerned in tho atrocity; but as the Jynteah 
R aja pretended to be sovereign of Gobah, he was 
held responsible. Accordingly the Raja was told that 
if he could not apprehend and punish the offenders 
within two months, the British government would 
take the matter in h an d ; and that if Gobah was to 
blame, the district would be subdued and annexed 
to British territory. Subsequently it  was proved1! 
tha t the Jynteah Raja had not only failed to com­
ply with the demand of the Government of India, 
hu t had participated in the offence.

1 General letter, 6tb April 1835.
2 Separate letter, 27i t  April 1835.
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COSSIAH HILLS.

I n  1831 tlie Government of Ind ia  reported1 th a t p?or stat<?
A of the COUU*

an agreement had been concluded w ith the Chiefs try, 
of Bamrye, binding them  to pay a tax  of one 
rupee for each house. L ieutenant Inglis was 
appointed to conduct the assessment. The Govern­
m ent of India, under Lord W illiam  Bentinck, 
decided against levying a money tax  from  the Mil 
tribes. They were poor and entirely dependent upon 
the produce of their hills, which they bartered in 
the plains. Fairs had for some tim e been established 
along the Cossiah and Garao hills, bu t as yet none 
on the  Cachar borders. I f  tribu te  was required, i t  
was deemed best to exact personal service in open- 
ing some essential line of communication.

1 General letter, 16th January 1834.
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M U NIPO EE.

Beginning Munipore was first brought into political relations1 < 
relations!11 ul with the British government by the first Burmese j 

war. Under the treaty of 1826, concluded with 
Ava, Gumbheer Singh was recognised as Baja of , 
Munipore.

Designs of Soon after the Singhphoo invasion of Assam j 
the Raja. Gumbheer Singh proposed to subjugate

the hill tribes between Munipore and the Singhphoo 
tribes. To satisfy the anxiety of Poorunder Singh, 
B aja  of Assam, peremptory orders were sent to 
Gumbheer Singh not to permit his troops to pass 
the water line without the permission of the 
British government. Subsequently it was deemed 
sufficient to prohibit Munipore from entering the 
plains of Assam.

status of Prior to the Burma war, the British government 
JSSSSdA had no knowledge either of the passes connecting 
n i to !™ 0 its territory with that of Munipore, or of the 

resources of Munipore. The panic occasioned by 
the simultaneous appearance of two divisions of the 
Burma army, one from Munipore, and the other 
from Assam, led to a very general flight of the 
inhabitants of Caehar into Sylhet. Under these 
circumstances the establishment of the Munipore 
dynasty was regarded as a means of defence on the j

1 General letter, ICtli January 1834,
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frontier, especially as the Muniporees were known 
to he deadly enemies of the Burmese. But 
notwithstanding the uninterrupted tranquillity 
winch followed the war, it was found that Muni- 
pore was totally incompetent to defend itself 
against a  Burmese invasion. Its entire population 
was estimated at between thirty and forty thousand.
Its available revenues were not more than four or 
five thousand rupees a year. I t  was so surrounded 
that it was excluded from any great participation 
in the advantages of traffic; and it was evident 
from the several reports that had reached the 
Government of India, that Munipore had no means 
for extending its agriculture.

I Gumbheer Singh died in January 1834.1 His ( Regency on
' infant son was recognised as B aja of Munipore. the Raj.,’

A Regency was established with the Rani at the 
head to govern the country during the minority.
The Government of India sanctioned2 the ar­
rangement, and ordered that a suitable education 
should be imparted to the young Raja.

The Government of India reported3 to the Court Frontier* arrange-
of Directors that the Kubboo valley had been made tmnu. 
over to the Burmese government at A va; and 
that Raja Gumbheer Singh had agreed to receive 
an allowance of five hundred rupees a month by 
way of compensation.

1 General letter, 13tli November 1834.
4 ' - 2 General letter, 6th April 1835.

i  3 Separate letter, 15th June 1835.
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SUMBTJLPORE.

Beginning In  1818 the sovereignty of the little State of 
relations!* *” Sumbulpore was transferred from the Rajas of 

Nagpore to the British government.
Diamond In  1824, Major Gilbert, the Agent on the South- 

mines. “West Frontier, furnished1 some curious information 
respecting the diamonds of Sumbulpore. They 
were not found in mines, but in the mud and sand 
of the Mahanudi river, by a class of people called 
Jharas. In  return for this service of searching after 
diamonds, the Jharas enjoyed sixteen villages rent- 
free. When a diamond was discovered the finder 
received a reward proportionate to its value. W hen 
Sumbulpore was possessed by the Mahrattas of 
Nagpore, all diamonds found in the neighbourhood 
were appropriated by the Mahratta commander. 
The Government T>f India had long ordered that 
the produce of the so-called diamond mines should 
be left open to future consideration. In  1830, the 
Agent, Major Mackenzie, forwarded2 a diamond 
to the Government of India which had been pre­
sented by the Rani. The right of searching for 
diamonds was farmed to the Rani of Sumbulpore 
for the yearly sum of three thousand rupees. At

1 Geneva! letter, 18th September 1825.
2 General letter, 9th October 1830.

j
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tliis period the country of Sumbulpore was torn by 
internal dissensions.

In  1827 the Raja of Sumbulpore had been Settlement 

greatly addicted to opium. In  1829 he visited pore.Suu>bnl* 
the Agent’s camp, and showed himself to be utterly 
unfitted for the management of the country. He 
proposed that the conduct of affairs should bo 
entrusted to his half-brother, and this arrangement 
was carried out. Major Mackenzie took steps to 
tranquillize the district, which was occupied by a 
savage and turbulent race known as the Khonds.
For some time a system of warfare and plunder 
had been carried on between these Khonds and 
the Zemindars of Bustar and Goad.

The police system in force in Sumbulpore was p0iice gys. 
taken into the consideration of the Government of tem- 
India. I t  would have been more in accordance with 
the new policy of non-intervention to have with­
drawn the police force altogether, and left the 
native chiefs to form and pay their own police 
establishments ; but the existing system had worked 
well for years, and was therefore allowed to conti­
nue. The Agent was ordered to prevent all undue 

i interference on the part of the local officers.
In  1830 Captain Wilkinson succeeded to the k01s. 

post of Political Agent on the South-West Frontier.
He reported1 the rebellious and refractory conduct 
of the Kols; he believed that they had been driven 
into insurrection by the oppression of the .Raja of 
Singhboom or his Minister.

1 General letter, 14th October 1830.
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Rebellion In  1833 there was an insurrection1 in Sumbulpore 

.bo^Sumbui. accompanied with much bloodshed and many atro­
cities. I t  was suppressed by a British force, and 
the ringleaders were tided and executed. This 
state of affairs was brought about by the incapacity 
of the Rani who had been made Regent,

Rival claims There were many chiefs who urged claims to 
% e S5 S  the Raj. Narain Singh was supposed to be the 
by the British m o s {. p0pU]ar. Accordingly he was placed upon 
govcrn.aen . ^  throne on the three following conditions ■

1st.—He was to maintain the tranquillity of the 
country to the utmost of his power, and administer 
affairs with equity and justice.

2nd._He was to secure the safe conduct of the
d&k through his country.

3 rd —lie  was to pay annually a yearly sum of 
eight thousand rupees for the support of the R am .

1 General letter, 10th July 1834.
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SINGHBOOM.

In  1821 the Iiaja of Singhboom acknowledged1 tiô gep̂ d®Ji6 
his submission to the British government, but KoU. 
solicited aid against the Lurka Kols. This savage 
race had become very formidable. They were dis­
tinct from Hindus in manners, language, religion, 
and appearance; inferior in civilisation to other 
hill people; but superior in courage and industry, 
inasmuch as they possessed large and flourishing 
villages, with, extensive tracts of well cultivated 
land. But for years their depredations had 
rendered them the terror of the surrounding country.

Major Roughsedge, Agent for the South-Western 
Frontier, promised to aid the Raja, but hoped to measures, 
reclaim the Kols by conciliatory measures rather 
than by force of arms. Some steps were necessary, 
not only for the protection of the neighbouring 
inhabitants, but for the safety of the new road to 
Nagpore which lay through the Kol territories.

In  a subsequent journey to Sumbulpore, Major Hostility. 
Itoughsedge marched through those divisions of 
Singhboom which were inhabited by Kols. On the 
first day’s march the Kols came out and readily 
acknowledged the R aja’s authority. The second 
day the Kols exhibited a determined hostility.
They murdered one of the camp followers in sight

1 General letter, 13th November 1834.
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of Majoi* Roughsedge’s encampment. Another body 
of Kols surrounded a d&k despatch and grain escoit, 
with the evident intention of slaughtering the 
hearers. Major Roughsedge was forced to attack 
them ; hut they showed a most resolute opposition. 
One village was destroyed and many Kols were slam, 
hut their spirit wras hy no means broken.

Reduction Subsequently1 the Kols attacked and defeated a 
British party of native police in the service of the Raja ; 

force- they slaughtered the commander of the force and
fourteen of his men. The Raja fled to the north- 
west quarter of Singhboom. The matter was referred 
to the Military Department. A force was sent 
against the Kols and soon reduced them to submis­
sion. Their future relations with the British 
government and tho Singhboom Raja were then 
settled by Major Roughsedge.

„ , During 1823 and 1824 the Kols were generally2
of an idol to ti*anquil. At this period they were jealous ot the 

growing power of thgir own chief. They attributed 
it to his possessing the Poora Dabee, a tutelary 
deity belonging to the Raja of Singhboom, which 
had been stolen from the Raja’s grandfather. 
Tho dignity of the Singboom Raja had been so 
much lowered by the loss of this favourite idol, 
that lie was in a state of abject despair. Major 
Gilbert, the new Agent, reported that the recovery 
of the idol by the Raja would have a good effect 
on his wild and superstitious subjects. The Gov-

* General letter, 13th June 1823.
2 General letter, 18th September 1825.
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ernment of India remarked on the melancholy super­
stition, but considered that the restoration of the 
stolen idol might he demanded in order to remove 
the despondency of the Raja. The idol was subse­
quently restored1 to the Singhboom Raja. Later 
reports2 refer to the apparent improvement of the 
Kols, their internal tranquillity, and increased confi­
dence in  the British government.
- —     ; 1  n —— " . _____ ..* ~

1 General letter, 31st May 1825.
1 General letter, 10th April 1829.
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CIS-SUTLEJ STATES.

General In  1820 a question arose about the succession to 
succession. ° Sikh chiefships in cases where there was no heir 

to the husband, male or female. I t  was stated that 
under Sikh and Hindu law, no widow could adopt 
a successor without the written authority of her 
deceased husband, and no relatives on the widow’s 
side were acknowledged to be lawful heirs. The 
Government of India formally declared its right to 
all Sirdarces in the territory of the protected Sikh 
States, as might escheat from the want of legal 
he irs; and it was more disposed to exercise such 
right, as it received no compensation in the way of 
tribute for the protection afforded and its attendant 
expenses. Accordingly the Resident wras directed 
to attach all domains~so circumstanced on the decease 
of the present occupant. The mode of disposing 
of such estates to be considered hereafter as occa­
sions arose.

^  re Belaspore was brought under the consideration
affairs.' 0f the British government in consequence of the 

death of the Chief without heirs. I t  was not con­
sidered desirable to take possession of so detached a 
spot. Accordingly the ehiefsliip -was offered to the 
Sirdar of Kulsia on condition of paying tribute.

1 General letter, 2nd May 1823.
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In  1821 tho Sirdar of Kulsia refused1 to accept Belas- 
pore on tlie terms proposed; and it was resolved to 
retain it with the view of giving it in exchange for 
some debatable territory in the Bhuttee country.

In 1823 it was3 found necessary to issue procla- Maioten- 

mations strictly forbidding all Sikh chiefs from X®, ®)y fhl® 
interfering in the affairs of then’ neighbours. Such 
interference had often led to frays attended by great out internal

. , ,  . . , interference.
loss of life. At the same time the principle was 
reiterated on which the British government with 
few exceptions had always acted; namely, to avoid 
minute interference in family disputes, or breaches

» between lord and vassal, chief and subject, except­
ing when there was flagrant injustice, or serious 
interruption to the general peace; at the same time 
to investigate and adjust all important causes of 
difference, and repress all attempts on the part 
of the chiefs to obtain redress by force of arms.

} In  1823 there was an enquiry into tho right of Disputed
■ w succession in
] succession to tho Sikh chiefship of Thaneswar, Thanes wav. 

which was disputed between tlie full brother and 
the elder widow of the deceased chief. Tho Govern­
ment of India was satisfied that widows frequently 
succeeded to Sikh estates on the death of the hus­
band without issue. But tho law of the Shastra, 
which regulated inheritance to real property, had 
no application to the case of a raj or chiefship in 
any part of India.' I t  was therefore decided that 
the full brother must succeed.

1 General letter, 28tli September 1823. 
a General letter, 10th September 1824.

[ %
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PUTIALA.

Disputes In  1819 Baja Kurrum  Singh was permitted1 to 
UajTavid liis assume the administration of the affairs of Putiala. 
mother. In  1823 the Baja confidentially communicated3 

to the Deputy Superintendent of Sikh Affairs certain 
complaints against his mother. This lady had con­
ducted the government of Putiala during the minor­
ity in association with the Minister. Being endow­
ed with a bold and masculine spirit, she had been 
unwilling to relinquish her authority as Begent. 
She claimed a right to interfere, which obstructed 
the Baja’s administration.

Complaints The specific complaints against the Bani were 
iimiat thB that she injured the honor of the family, by not 

observing the customary seclusion; usurped jaghirs 
by means of fabricated sunnuds; detained the State 
treasure and wardrobe; allowed her officers to 
appropriate the B aja’s valuable effects ; held a 
separate court by distinct expenditure ; and issued 
orders counteracting the Baja’s measures.

British in. These charges were supported by the local autho- 
tericrence. and th(J interfcrenee of tho British govern­

ment was deemed necessary. The Government of 
India agreed that the Baja must be assisted in tho 
assertion of his just rights. After some show of 
opposition, the Bani submitted, and the dispute 
was satisfactorily settled. ________ ___________

^General letter, 15th January 1820.
* General letter, 18th September 1825.
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D E L H I.

About 1818 Mr. Charles Metcalfe, Resident at ti| ^ * ^  
Delhi, earned ou t1 an extensive investigation of rent- fieoJoghir*. 

free Jaghirs. During the half century of anarchy 
which preceded the introduction of British authority, 
these lands had been alienated in the most irregular 
fashion. Royal firmans had been procured for a 
small douceur a t a time when the so-called Emperor 
of the Moghuls was languishing in extreme poverty 
and wretchedness, and had no territory to bestow. •
In  like manner grants were procured under the 
Vizier’s seal, long after the Vizier had ceased to 
officiate, and Ms seal had been discontinued. For­
geries were innumerable, and all sorts of grants had 

1 been sold in the streets of D elh i; so that little  faith  
could be placed on documents, and long possession 
in general constituted the only trustworthy evidence 
of a title.

I t  was stated that from the beginning of Baber’s irregular 

reign in 1526 to the end of th a t of Alamghir the grant*. ̂  the 
| Second in 1759,—a space of two hundred and seventy-

three years,—only sixty-six villages had been granted 
away in perpetuity. In  the lifetime of Shah Alam, 
a period of only forty-eight years, no less than one 
hundred and twenty-two villages were alienated 
for ever. Of these eighty-eight were assigned in

1 General letter, 2nd May 1823.
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perpetuity w ithout any reference to the so-called  
Em peror, by the Viziers, Pcishw as, Sindias, and . 
other Sirdars; and a ll exercised the p rivilege of 
alienating the royal revenues sim ultaneously  and 
eo-cxistcntly'. The Emperor moreover converted  
forty-one v illages into  perm anent grants, w inch  
had been previously g iven  in  Jaghir by  th e above- |  

m entioned chieftains.
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